

LEIBNIZ UNIVERSITÄT HANNOVER

Visualization methods for analysis of 3D multi-scale medical data

von der Fakultät für Elektrotechnik und Informatik der Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz Universität Hannover zur Erlangung des Grades Doktor der Naturwissenschaften Dr. rer. nat. genehmigte Dissertation

von ING. RICARDO MANUEL MILLÁN VAQUERO geboren am 23. Oktober 1986, in Vigo

2016

REFERENTEN: Erstprüfer: Prof. Dr. Franz-Erich Wolter, Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz Universität Hannover

Zweitprüferin: Prof. Dr. Nadia Magnenat-Thalmann, Université de Genève, Nanyang Technological University

Drittprüfer: Priv.-Doz. Dr.-Ing. Christof Hurschler, Medizinische Hochschule Hannover

Vorsitz: Prof. Dr.-Ing. Jürgen Brehm, Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz Universität Hannover

TAG DER PROMOTION: 14. Dezember 2015

ABSTRACT

This thesis was developed within the framework of the EU MultiScale-Human Project [15], whose central aim lies on improving the current understanding of physiological human articulation with the application of supporting the diagnosis and treatment of musculoskeletal diseases. Towards this goal, this work contributes several novel methods in order to improve the visualization and processing of biomedical data. It especially addresses scientists whose workflow involves potentially massive amount of biomedical information.

A complete study of the characteristics of the human body involves multiple spatial scales and correspondingly data sets from different acquisition modalities. The analysis of a specific feature is typically performed within one scale, with a particular data set being subjected to the expertise of a narrowly focused specialist. An interplay across spatial scales is beneficial for a complete analysis of biological phenomena as it connects the aforementioned information distributed over the multiple scales. However, this interplay is difficult since different spatial dimensions, levels of abstraction and other data properties require different visualizations. Thus, biomedical data sets are still commonly analyzed using isolated visualization systems that are established to address only a specific scale and domain of expertise. Current multimodal frameworks, which attempt to explore the complete range of acquisition modalities, are typically insufficient to aid scientists, as for instance small scale features are not distinguishable in large scale views, and semantic means are not provided to visually understand internal relations between data sets. Consequently, the presentation and exploration of this plethora of information is currently not feasible.

In order to overcome the aforementioned limitations in the current state of the art, this work contributes concepts for multi-scale visualization, particularly providing:

- A 3D multilayered environment and a combination of scientific and information visualization (SciVis and InfoVis), in which global and detailed information from multi-scale biomedical data can be presented and explored, overcoming the limitation of using one group of visualization methods to represent multi-scale biomedical information [150, 192].
- An incorporation of semantics into the visualization applied in a multi-scale scenario, which allows the obtaining of visual parameters and other semantic information from the biomedical data for the creation and enrichment of the multi-scale visualization [35].
- Enhanced intra-scale visualizations, improving the presentation and analysis of data within the considered scale in order to support the clinical workflow. In this context, this thesis presents concepts for

the analysis of kinematical data of human joint articulation at the behavioral scale [151, 153].

The above concepts have been incorporated in a multi-scale visualization environment which allows for the presentation of a complete set of multi-scale data with different visualization properties in a single view. It particularly provides an integrated detailed and overall view of the relevant data sets as well as tools for visually navigating through them.

The proposed multi-scale visualization environment has the potential to amplify the understanding of biomedical processes in the human body. This has been exemplarily confirmed in an application scenario focusing on the investigation of knee joint kinematics based on experimental data collected in collaboration with LBB-MHH, the latter being a project partner within the MultiScaleHuman Project [151, 153]. It was demonstrated, that the developed processing methods relying on Lie group theory and the corresponding visualization techniques allow for an intuitive interpretation of helical axes and their geometrical relation with respect to the knee joint anatomy, an efficient differentiation among several cases and states of knee joint, and a flexible exploration of the discussed data sets and of related data, thereby supporting the clinical workflow during the analysis of the knee joint articulation.

While several key aspects of above contributions have been firstly published by the author in the indicated works and have shown promising results in applications to biomedical data sets provided by the MultiScale-Human consortium, this thesis expands upon those results and presents an in-depth discussion and a unified framework for the exploration of multi-scale biomedical data, satisfying the requests for efforts found in recent literature. Diese Arbeit wurde im Rahmen des EU-MultiScaleHuman Projekts entwickelt [15], dessen zentrales Ziel die Verbesserung des aktuellen Verständnisses der physiologischen menschlichen Gelenke ist, um bei der Diagnose und Behandlung von Muskel-Skelett-Krankheiten zu unterstützen. Zu diesem Thema werden mehrere neuartige Methoden aufgezeigt, um die Visualisierung und Verarbeitung von biomedizinischen Daten zu verbessern. Diese Arbeit richtet sich vor allem Wissenschaftler, deren Workflow potenziell enorme Menge von biomedizinischen Informationen umfasst.

Eine vollständige Untersuchung der Eigenschaften des menschlichen Körpers beinhaltet multiple räumliche Skalen und entsprechende Datensätze aus verschiedenen Akquisitionsmodalitäten. Die Analyse einer bestimmten Funktion wird in der Regel innerhalb einer Skala durchgeführt, wobei ein bestimmter Datensatz der Expertise eines Fachmanns ausgesetzt ist. Das Zusammenspiel verschiedener Bereiche der Wissenschaft auf räumlichen Skalen wäre von Vorteil für eine vollständige Analyse biologischer Phänomene. Dies ist jedoch schwierig, da die Datensätze unterschiedliche räumliche Dimensionen, Abstraktionsebenen und andere Dateneigenschaften aufweisen und somit unterschiedliche Visualisierungen erfordern. Folglich werden biomedizinische Datensätze häufig in isolierten Visualisierungen durch unterschiedliche Fachgebiete analysiert, denen nur ein bestimmtes Maß an Expertise zur Verfügung steht. Gegenwärtige multimodale Visualisierungsrahmen sind demzufolge unzureichend, um Wissenschaftler zu unterstützen, da beispielweise Merkmale aus kleinen Skalen in Übersichten mit großem Maßstab nicht zur Verfügung stehen und außerdem keine semantischen Zeichen angeboten werden, um die internen Beziehungen zwischen Datensätzen visuell zu verstehen. Somit ist die Präsentation und Erforschung dieser Fülle an Informationen in einer einzigen Ansicht derzeit nicht realisierbar.

Um die oben genannten Einschränkungen, die aus dem aktuellen Forschungsstand hervorgehen, zu überwinden, präsentiert diese Arbeit verschiedene Konzepte für multiskale Visualisierungen:

- Eine 3D-Mehrschichtumgebung und die Kombination von wissenschaftlicher Visualisierung (Scientific Visualization, SciVis) und Informationsvisualisierung (Information Visualization, InfoVis), mit denen detaillierte und globale Informationen von den biomedizinischen Daten dargestellt und untersucht werden können. So wird die Beschränkung auf eine dieser Visualisierungsmethoden überwunden, um biomedizinische Informationen in unterschiedlichen Abstraktionsebenen darzustellen [150, 192].
- Eine in einem multiskalen Szenario angewandte semantisch unterstützte Visualisierung, die den Erhalt der visuellen Parameter und

anderer semantischer Informationen der biomedizinischen Daten ermöglicht, um eine bereicherte Multiskalen-Navigation zu kreieren [35].

• Erweiterte intra-skala Visualisierungen, die die Darstellung und Analyse von biomedizinischen Daten auf einzelnen Skalen verbessern, um den Arbeitsablauf von Fachgebietsspezialisten zu unterstützen. In diesem Zusammenhang präsentiert die vorliegende Arbeit Konzepte für die Verhaltensskala, die sich auf die Analyse von kinematischen Daten der menschlichen Gelenke konzentrieren [151, 153].

Die oben genannten Konzepte wurden in eine multiskale Visualisierungsumgebung eingebaut, die die Präsentation eines kompletten Satzes von Multiskalendaten mit unterschiedlichen Visualisierungseigenschaften in einer einzigen Ansicht ermöglicht. Insbesondere bietet die Visualisierungsumgebung den Fachgebietsspezialisten sowohl eine detaillierte als auch eine Gesamtübersicht über alle relevanten Datensätze zu bekommen und zudem die Mittel, um visuell durch sie zu navigieren.

Die vorgeschlagene multiskale Visualisierungsumgebung hat das Potenzial, das Verständnis für biomedizinische Vorgänge im menschlichen Körper zu vertiefen. Dies wurde in einem Anwendungsszenario exemplarisch bestätigt, das sich auf die Untersuchung der Kniegelenkkinematik konzentriert. Das Szenario basiert auf der Grundlage experimentell gesammelter Daten, die in Zusammenarbeit mit der LBB-MHH, einem Projektpartner innerhalb des MultiScaleHuman Projekts, erfasst wurden [151, 153]. Es wurde gezeigt, dass die entwickelten Verarbeitungsverfahren, die auf die Lie Gruppentheorie und die entsprechenden Visualisierungstechniken aufbauen, eine intuitive Interpretation von Drehachsen und ihren geometrischen Beziehungen in Bezug auf die Anatomie des Kniegelenks, eine effiziente Differenzierung zwischen verschiedenen Zuständen des Kniegelenks und eine flexible Erforschung der diskutierten Datensätze und der zugehörigen Daten ermöglichen, wodurch die klinischen Arbeitsabläufe bei der Analyse des Kniegelenks unterstützt werden können.

Während mehrere Schwerpunkte der oben genannten Beiträge bereits vom Autor in den angegebenen Werken publiziert wurden und vielversprechende Ergebnisse in Anwendungen mit biomedizinischen Daten, die von dem MultiScaleHuman Konsortium zur Verfügung gestellt wurden, gezeigt haben, erweitert die vorliegende Dissertation diese Ergebnisse und präsentiert eine eingehende Diskussion und einen Rahmen für die Erforschung von multiskalen biomedizinischen Daten, um die in der aktuellen Literatur genannten Aufforderungen zufriedenzustellen. This work was supported from the EU Marie Curie ITN MultiScaleHuman Project [15] (FP7-PEOPLE-2011-ITN, Grant agreement no.: 289897).

The aim of the MultiScaleHuman Project is the creation of a multi-scale biological data visualization and knowledge management system for improved understanding, diagnosis and treatment of musculoskeletal diseases in the physiological human articulation.

The MultiScaleHuman Project is based upon a strong network of expertise in which each partner brings its knowledge, know-how and data from different research environments. This network comprises the following institutions:

- MIRALab, University of Geneva (Switzerland).
- University Hospital of Geneva (Switzerland).
- University of Minho (Portugal).
- Hannover Medical School (Germany).
- IMATI, National Council of Research (Italy).
- Softeco Sismat Srl (Italy).
- Welfenlab, Leibniz University of Hannover (Germany).

I would like to thank Welfenlab for giving me the opportunity to participate in the MultiScaleHuman Project, especially my Ph.D. supervisor Prof. Dr. Franz-Erich Wolter for the scientific mentoring of the presented work, as well as Dr. Karl-Ingo Friese for his support. I would also like to thank all the partners of the MultiScaleHuman Project, for providing the biomedical data sets used in this work, as well as the project coordinator Prof. Nadia Magnenat-Thalmann (MIRALab, University of Geneva) and all the other researchers of the consortium for the interesting discussions and exchanges which took place during the project meetings, seminars and secondments. I would like to express my gratitude to Priv.-Doz. Dr.-Ing. Christof Hurschler (Laboratory for Biomechanics and Biomaterials, Hannover Medical School) for the helpful comments and interesting suggestions during his review of the manuscript. Many thanks also to Dr. Michela Spagnuolo (IMATI), Ing. Lorenzo Cesario (Softeco), Prof. Osman Ratib (University Hospital of Geneva), and Dr. Miguel Oliveira (University of Minho).

I would like to thank all the persons we have worked intensively together during this period. Special mention should receive my colleagues of the road Jan Rzepecki, Sean Dean Lynch and Dr. Alexander Vais for the efforts made together and the valuable help they have provided to me. I would also like to express my gratitude to Asan Agibetov and Márta Ondresik for the common efforts toward our collaborations. Many thanks to Karelia Elena Tecante Gutierrez, Dr. Marios Pitikakis, Sara Trombella, David García Juan, Dr. Hon Fai Choi, Matthias Becker, Andra Chincisan and Dr. Chiara Eva Catalano for their support and collaboration, as well as all the other members of the MultiScaleHuman Project. During the experiments performed at the Hannover Medical School, the help of Benjamin Fleischer and Dr. med. Tilman Calließ was also very appreciated. Many thanks to all my colleagues at Welfenlab for the time and efforts we have shared.

And last but not least, I would like to thank my family and friends for their love and support, especially my parents Gloria and Manuel for encouraging me always with their best wishes, and Meike for her patience and love during this time.

"Caminante, son tus huellas el camino y nada más. Caminante no hay camino, se hace camino al andar. Al andar, se hace camino, y al volver la vista atrás se ve la senda que nunca se ha de volver a pisar. Caminante no hay camino, sino estelas en la mar."

"Wanderer, der Weg sind die Spuren deiner Füße und sonst nichts. Wanderer, es gibt keinen Weg, der Weg entsteht beim Gehen. Beim Gehen entsteht der Weg und wendest du den Blick zurück, so siehst du den Pfad, den man nie wieder betreten wird. Wanderer, es gibt keinen Weg, nur Kielwasser im Meer."

Proverbios y cantares, Antonio Machado, Spanish poet.

KEYWORDS

KEYWORDS:

- Multi-scale biomedical visualization
- Scientific and information visualization
- Knee joint and bones

SCHLAGWORTE:

- Biomedizinische multiskale Visualisierung
- Wissenschaftliche Visualisierung und Informationsvisualisierung
- Kniegelenk und Knochen

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INT	RODUCTION	23
2	BASIC PRINCIPLES AND RELATED WORK		27
	2.1	Visualization	28
		2.1.1 Definition	28
		2.1.2 Visualization process	29
		2.1.3 Classification of visualization methods	31
	2.2	Multi-scale visualization	38
		2.2.1 Multi-scale techniques	38
		2.2.2 Applications	40
	2.3	Visualization of biomedical data	44
		2.3.1 Complexity of visualization of biomedical data	44
		2.3.2 Multimodal and multi-scale requirements	45
		2.3.3 Biomedical multi-scale visualization	48
	2.4	Design of visualization for scientists	50
		2.4.1 Scientist-centered visualization	51
		2.4.2 User-centered visualization	52
	2.5	User interaction	55
		2.5.1 Basic principles	55
		2.5.2 Related work in user interaction	56
	2.6	Knowledge formalization	59
		2.6.1 Ontology as formalization of knowledge	59
		2.6.2 Ontology visualization	62
		2.6.3 Ontologies in the biomedical domain	63
	2.7	Shortcomings	63
3 METHODOLOGY		THODOLOGY	69
	3.1	Introduction	69
	3.2	Approach for multi-scale visualization of biomedical data	71
	3.3 Combination of scientific visualization and information visu		
		alization techniques	76
	3.4	Support of visualization based on knowledge formalization .	78
	3.5	Enhanced intra-scale visualizations	81
	3.6	Aspects regarding the design of scientist-centered visualiza-	0
		tion tools	84
4	MUI	LTI-SCALE VISUALIZATION ENVIRONMENT	89
	4.1	Introduction	89
	4.2	Classification of data	92
	4.3	Visualization environment	95
	4.4	Support of visualization based on knowledge formalization .	98
	4.5	Architecture	108
	4.6	Example of use: analysis of musculoskeletal diseases	114
	4.7	Evaluation	121
	4.8	Discussion	126
	4.9	Interaction	127

12 TABLE OF CONTENTS

5	APPLICATION SCENARIO: HELICAL AXIS DATA VISUALIZATION			
	AND ANALYSIS OF THE KNEE JOINT ARTICULATION			133
	5.1	Introc	luction	. 133
	5.2	Basic	principles and related work	. 134
		5.2.1	Description of motion based on helical axes	. 135
		5.2.2	Visualization and comparison of helical axis data	. 137
		5.2.3	Helical axis data in the context of analysis of knee	
			joint functional articulation	. 138
	5.3	Metho	odology	. 139
	5.4	Instar	ntaneous helical axes in terms of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{se}(3)$.	. 140
		5.4.1	Mathematical notions	. 141
		5.4.2	Kinematical background	. 142
		5.4.3	Finite helical axis	. 143
		5.4.4	Instantaneous helical axis	. 144
		5.4.5	Kinematic data collection	. 144
		5.4.6	Helical axes for the knee joint	. 146
	5.5	Intra-	scale visualizations for the analysis of helical axis data	. 148
		5.5.1	Anatomical visualization of helical axis data	. 148
		5.5.2	Overall similarity visualization for comparison of he-	
			lical axis data	. 151
	5.6	Multi	-scale exploration of the knee joint data	. 152
	5.7	Resul	ts	. 154
	5.8	Discu	ssion	. 159
6	CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK 163		163	
Α	TABLE OF DATA SETS189		189	
в	CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE AUTHOR OF THE THESIS WITHIN JOINT		INT	
	PUB	LICAT	IONS	191
С	CUR	RICUL	UM VITAE	195

TABLE OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	Coupling between a visualization tool and an individual.	29
Figure 2.2	insight they provide	20
Figure 2.2	Visualization process	30 21
Figure 2.4	Examples of SciVis techniques: (a) scalar visualization of the sagittal view of CT of knee joint, (b) vector field representation of fiber arrangements (source [67]) and (c) volume ray casting of head MRI (source [81]).	32
Figure 2.5	Segment visualization in the open software for visu- alization, segmentation and analysis of volume data YaDiV [82], showing intracranial air after brain surgery	<u> </u>
Figure 2.6	(source [152])	34
Figure 2.7	social networks employing the tool Gephi [46] Proposal of combination of SciVis and InfoVis for the visualization of the human anatomy (source [149]), as one subfield provides only limited information. The user introduces queries as text, and SciVis and InfoVis	36
Figure 2.8	views are both obtained from the system	37
Figure 2.9	technique, b) lensing technique (source [152]) Cartographic multi-scale 3D navigation based on cube- maps (source [143]). The automatic sensing of scale	39
	allows the user to make a seamless transition from a 2D cartographic view to 3D street level	41
Figure 2.10	Visualization of the known universe with the call-out technique, allowing the observation from the solar	
Figure 2.11	system to the most distant super-clusters (source [21]). Multi-scale modeling of cortical bone tissue (source [160]).	41
	material behavior.	42

Figure 2.12	3D model of a synapse (source [237]). After processing the data acquired via stimulated emission depletion (STED) microscopy, this model represents through super-resolution images a nanomap of presynaptic nerve terminals describing the localization of around	
Figure 2.13	200 synaptic proteins	42
	tumor (olive) versus unaffected (yellow), and male (yellow) versus female (black) – gray, data unavailable.	43
Figure 2.14	Multimodal and multi-scale requirements visualizing biomedical data (source [152]).	15
Figure 2.15	Example of propagation of pathologies across diferent spatial scales (source [152]). Different grades of osteoarthritis disease obtained using a) microscopic	47
Figure 2.16	imaging [122], b) MRI imaging [136] Example of knee joint multi-scale data set (source [152]): a) cross-section of knee CT scan, b) micro-CT slice of cartilage tissue a) aD reconstruction of micro CT scan	46
	of cartilage tissue, d) histological image of meniscus, e) schematic of extracellular components of cartilage tissue, f) visualization of glycine particle.	46
Figure 2.17	Example of several scales, domains, devices and data sets involved in the study of musculoskeletal dis- eases. Musculoskeletal diseases are a clear example that need to satisfy both the multimodal and multi-	1-
Figure 2.18	scale requirements	47
_	(a) CT data and micro-CT token without transparency;(b) CT data and micro-CT token with transparency;(c) micro-CT data and nano-CT token with transparency.	48
Figure 2.19	Multimodal visualization of clinical gait analysis in the assessment of total knee replacement (source [130]). This screenshot depicts original video sequence col- lected in the motion analysis laboratory, (top-right) frontal, (bottom-left) sagittal and (bottom-right) trans- verse plane views of the bony segment poses after 3D	
Figure 2 20	reconstruction by spatial registration.	49
Elemente -	sired (source [165]).	50
г1gure 2.21	femoral cartilage thickness.	54

Figure 2.22	Example of effective color coding for visualizing femoral cartilage thickness, which has been applied in a visu-
Figure 2.23	(a) Example of haptic interaction: Virtual reality room with a Haption INCA 6D device [7] at Welfenlab. (b) Example of augmented reality interaction: The user is wearing a VR helmet and is interacting with VR content together with a reference image of reality
Figure 2.24	(source [152])
Figure 2.25	Examples of InfoVis techniques for ontology visual- ization: (a) treemaps (source [41]), (b) node-link dia- grams (source [74]) and (c) Key-Concept Visualization
Figure 3.1	(source [156])
Figure 3.2	Visualization scenario based on a) flat desktop (source [223]), b) 2D workspace (proposed)
Figure 3.3	Superposition of data sets: a) overlapped data sets (source [223]), b) overlayed data sets in the multilay-
Figure 3.4	ered workspace (proposed)
Figure 3.5	sets in the context of a multi-scale scenario
Figure 3.6	case the data source of the InfoVis visualizations
Figure 3.7	Combination of SciVis and InfoVis techniques pro- posed. Nodes encompass SciVis as well as InfoVis
Figure 2 9	suitable data (source [150])
11guie 3.0	evidences in a pathology

Figure 3.10 a) Traditional representation of helical axes during a knee joint flexion-extension motion (source [218]). b) Developed anatomical visualization of helical axis data. 82 Figure 3.11 a) Traditional type of visualization of motion sequences by using FHA (source [218]), which makes difficult the analysis of overall differences. b) Developed overall similarity visualization of helical axis data based on IHA in terms of Lie algebra. Figure 3.12 Proposed visualization for the organization and exploration of micro-scale data together with the scheme of cartilage degradation during osteoarthritis. 83 Figure 3.13 Coupled interaction: a) Hand gestures interact with nodes in the multi-scale environment. b) Haptic interaction [82] and exploration of CT data of knee joint. 87 Figure 4.1 Big picture of the overall exploratory system. 90 Figure 4.3 Diverse examples of representation of data sets involved in the study of musculoskeletal diseases. 92 Figure 4.3 Diverse examples of representation of adata sets by means of nodes, according to the most suitable visualization suitability parameter. 96 Figure 4.4 Focus, context and background layers. 96 Figure 4.4 Focus, context and background layers. 97 Figure 4.4 Focus, context and background layers. 97 Figure 4.4 Focus, context and background layers. 97 Figure 4.7 <	Figure 3.9	Simplified schema of interconnection of the multi- scale ontology [13] with the exploratory system.	80
Developed anatomical visualization of helical axis data. 82 Figure 3.11 a) Traditional type of visualization of motion sequences by using FHA (source [218]), which makes difficult the analysis of overall differences. b) Developed over- all similarity visualization of helical axis data based on IHA in terms of Lie algebra 83 Figure 3.12 Proposed visualization for the organization and ex- ploration of micro-scale data together with the scheme of cartilage degradation during osteoarthritis 84 Figure 3.13 Coupled interaction: a) Hand gestures interact with nodes in the multi-scale environment. b) Haptic inter- action [82] and exploration of CT data of knee joint	Figure 3.10	a) Traditional representation of helical axes during a knee joint flexion-extension motion (source [218]). b)	
on IHA in terms of Lie algebra. 83 Figure 3.12 Proposed visualization for the organization and exploration of micro-scale data together with the scheme of cartilage degradation during osteoarthritis. 84 Figure 3.13 Coupled interaction: a) Hand gestures interact with nodes in the multi-scale environment. b) Haptic interaction [82] and exploration of CT data of knee joint. 87 Figure 4.1 Big picture of the overall exploratory system. 90 Figure 4.2 Example of scales, domains, devices and data sets involved in the study of musculoskeletal diseases. 92 Figure 4.3 Diverse examples of representation of data sets by means of nodes, according to the most suitable visualization technique encoded in the visualization suitability parameter. 95 Figure 4.5 Examples of <i>TemporalNode, Arrow</i> and <i>ImageNode</i> in the Unity IDE and in the final scene. 97 Figure 4.6 Different physical appearances of nodes: hollow cube and half-sphere. 97 Figure 4.7 Graph representation of the multi-scale ontology (source [35]). 100 Figure 4.9 JSON representation of answer to the query (source [150]).103 Figure 4.10 Some factors involved in the degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis. Each DPF is placed on a corresponding spatiotemporal scale, and is evidenced by several SOEs, which are measured by certain technique (source [35]). 104 Figure 4.11	Figure 3.11	Developed anatomical visualization of helical axis data. a) Traditional type of visualization of motion sequences by using FHA (source [218]), which makes difficult the analysis of overall differences. b) Developed over- all similarity visualization of helical axis data based	82
Figure 3.12 Froporet vibration of micro-scale data together with the scheme of cartilage degradation during osteoarthritis. 84 Figure 3.13 Coupled interaction: a) Hand gestures interact with nodes in the multi-scale environment. b) Haptic interaction [82] and exploration of CT data of knee joint. 87 Figure 4.1 Big picture of the overall exploratory system. 90 Figure 4.2 Example of scales, domains, devices and data sets involved in the study of musculoskeletal diseases. 92 Figure 4.3 Diverse examples of representation of data sets by means of nodes, according to the most suitable visualization suitability parameter. 95 Figure 4.4 Focus, context and background layers. 96 Figure 4.5 Examples of <i>TemporalNode, Arrow</i> and <i>ImageNode</i> in the Unity IDE and in the final scene. 97 Figure 4.6 Different physical appearances of nodes: hollow cube and half-sphere. 97 Figure 4.7 Graph representation of the multi-scale ontology (source [35]).100 Figure 4.9 JSON representation of answer to the query (source [35]).103 Figure 4.10 Some factors involved in the degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis. Each DPF is placed on a corresponding spatiotemporal scale, and is evidenced by several SOEs, which are measured by certain technique (source [35]). 104 Figure 4.11 SPARQL evaluation of the query "Which are all	Figure 2 12	on IHA in terms of Lie algebra	83
 Figure 3.13 Figure 3.13 Coupled interaction: a) Hand gestures interact with nodes in the multi-scale environment. b) Haptic interaction [82] and exploration of CT data of knee joint. 87 Figure 4.1 Big picture of the overall exploratory system 90 Figure 4.2 Example of scales, domains, devices and data sets involved in the study of musculoskeletal diseases 92 Figure 4.3 Diverse examples of representation of data sets by means of nodes, according to the most suitable visualization technique encoded in the visualization suitability parameter	11guie 9.12	ploration of micro-scale data together with the scheme	0.
action [82] and exploration of CT data of knee joint.87Figure 4.1Big picture of the overall exploratory system.90Figure 4.2Example of scales, domains, devices and data sets involved in the study of musculoskeletal diseases.92Figure 4.3Diverse examples of representation of data sets by means of nodes, according to the most suitable vi- sualization technique encoded in the visualization suitability parameter.92Figure 4.4Focus, context and background layers.95Figure 4.5Examples of TemporalNode, Arrow and ImageNode in the Unity IDE and in the final scene.97Figure 4.6Different physical appearances of nodes: hollow cube and half-sphere.97Figure 4.7Graph representation of answer to the query (source [35]). 101Figure 4.9JSON representation of answer to the query (source [150]).103Figure 4.10Some factors involved in the degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis. Each DPF is placed on a corresponding spatiotemporal scale, and is evi- denced by several SOEs, which are measured by cer- tain technique (source [35]).104Figure 4.11SPARQL evaluation of the query "Which are all the Data that concerns Patient 231086?" (source A. Agi- betov in the context of [35]).104Figure 4.12I Which are all the data that concerns Patient 231086?" (source [ac])104	Figure 3.13	Coupled interaction: a) Hand gestures interact with nodes in the multi-scale environment. b) Haptic inter-	04
Figure 4.1Big picture of the overall exploratory system		action [82] and exploration of CT data of knee joint.	87
Figure 4.2Example of scales, domains, devices and data sets involved in the study of musculoskeletal diseases	Figure 4.1	Big picture of the overall exploratory system.	90
Figure 4.3Diverse examples of representation of data sets by means of nodes, according to the most suitable vi- sualization technique encoded in the visualization suitability parameter.Figure 4.4Focus, context and background layers.95Figure 4.5Examples of <i>TemporalNode, Arrow</i> and <i>ImageNode</i> in the Unity IDE and in the final scene.97Figure 4.6Different physical appearances of nodes: hollow cube and half-sphere.97Figure 4.7Graph representation of the multi-scale ontology (source [35]). 100Figure 4.8Instances of degradation process feature (source [150]).103Figure 4.9JSON representation of answer to the query (source [150]).103Figure 4.10Some factors involved in the degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis. Each DPF is placed on a corresponding spatiotemporal scale, and is evi- denced by several SOEs, which are measured by cer- tain technique (source [35]).104Figure 4.11SPARQL evaluation of the query "Which are all the Data that concerns Patient 231086?" (source A. Agi- betov in the context of [35]).104Figure 4.121 Which are all the data that concerns Patient 231086?107	Figure 4.2	Example of scales, domains, devices and data sets involved in the study of musculoskeletal diseases	92
means of nodes, according to the most suitable visualization technique encoded in the visualization suitability parameter.Figure 4.4Focus, context and background layers.Figure 4.5Examples of <i>TemporalNode, Arrow</i> and <i>ImageNode</i> in the Unity IDE and in the final scene.Figure 4.6Different physical appearances of nodes: hollow cube and half-sphere.and half-sphere.97Figure 4.7Graph representation of the multi-scale ontology (source [35]).100Figure 4.8Instances of degradation process feature (source [35]).101Figure 4.9JSON representation of answer to the query (source [150]).103Figure 4.10Some factors involved in the degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis. Each DPF is placed on a corresponding spatiotemporal scale, and is evidenced by several SOEs, which are measured by certain technique (source [35]).Figure 4.11SPARQL evaluation of the query "Which are all the Data that concerns Patient 231086?" (source A. Agibetov in the context of [35]).Figure 4.121 Which are all the data that concerns Patient 231086?	Figure 4.3	Diverse examples of representation of data sets by	-
 sualization technique encoded in the visualization suitability parameter		means of nodes, according to the most suitable vi-	
suitability parameter.95Figure 4.4Focus, context and background layers.96Figure 4.5Examples of <i>TemporalNode, Arrow</i> and <i>ImageNode</i> in the Unity IDE and in the final scene.97Figure 4.6Different physical appearances of nodes: hollow cube and half-sphere.97Figure 4.7Graph representation of the multi-scale ontology (source [35]).100Figure 4.8Instances of degradation process feature (source [35]). 101Figure 4.9JSON representation of answer to the query (source [150]).103Figure 4.10Some factors involved in the degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis. Each DPF is placed 		sualization technique encoded in the visualization	
 Figure 4.4 Focus, context and background layers		suitability parameter	95
 Figure 4.5 Examples of <i>TemporalNode, Arrow</i> and <i>ImageNode</i> in the Unity IDE and in the final scene	Figure 4.4	Focus, context and background layers	96
 the Unity IDE and in the final scene	Figure 4.5	Examples of TemporalNode, Arrow and ImageNode in	
 Figure 4.6 Different physical appearances of nodes: hollow cube and half-sphere		the Unity IDE and in the final scene	97
and half-sphere.97Figure 4.7Graph representation of the multi-scale ontology (source [35]).100Figure 4.8Instances of degradation process feature (source [35]). 101Figure 4.9JSON representation of answer to the query (source [150]).103Figure 4.10Some factors involved in the degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis. Each DPF is placed on a corresponding spatiotemporal scale, and is evi- denced by several SOEs, which are measured by cer- tain technique (source [35]).Figure 4.11SPARQL evaluation of the query "Which are all the Data that concerns Patient 231086?" (source A. Agi- betov in the context of [35]).Figure 4.121 Which are all the data that concerns Patient 231086?(cource [35])107	Figure 4.6	Different physical appearances of nodes: hollow cube	
 Figure 4.7 Graph representation of the multi-scale ontology (source [35]).100 Figure 4.8 Instances of degradation process feature (source [35]). 101 Figure 4.9 JSON representation of answer to the query (source [150]).103 Figure 4.10 Some factors involved in the degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis. Each DPF is placed on a corresponding spatiotemporal scale, and is evidenced by several SOEs, which are measured by certain technique (source [35]) 104 Figure 4.11 SPARQL evaluation of the query "Which are all the Data that concerns Patient 231086?" (source A. Agibetov in the context of [35])		and half-sphere	97
 Figure 4.8 Instances of degradation process feature (source [35]). 101 Figure 4.9 JSON representation of answer to the query (source [150]).103 Figure 4.10 Some factors involved in the degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis. Each DPF is placed on a corresponding spatiotemporal scale, and is evidenced by several SOEs, which are measured by certain technique (source [35]) 104 Figure 4.11 SPARQL evaluation of the query "Which are all the Data that concerns Patient 231086?" (source A. Agibetov in the context of [35])	Figure 4.7	Graph representation of the multi-scale ontology (source [35]).100
 Figure 4.9 JSON representation of answer to the query (source [150]).103 Figure 4.10 Some factors involved in the degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis. Each DPF is placed on a corresponding spatiotemporal scale, and is evidenced by several SOEs, which are measured by certain technique (source [35]) 104 Figure 4.11 SPARQL evaluation of the query "Which are all the Data that concerns Patient 231086?" (source A. Agibetov in the context of [35])	Figure 4.8	Instances of degradation process feature (source [35]).	101
 Figure 4.10 Some factors involved in the degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis. Each DPF is placed on a corresponding spatiotemporal scale, and is evidenced by several SOEs, which are measured by certain technique (source [35])	Figure 4.9	JSON representation of answer to the query (source [150]).	.103
 cartilage during osteoarthritis. Each DPF is placed on a corresponding spatiotemporal scale, and is evi- denced by several SOEs, which are measured by cer- tain technique (source [35])	Figure 4.10	Some factors involved in the degradation of articular	
 on a corresponding spatiotemporal scale, and is evidenced by several SOEs, which are measured by certain technique (source [35])		cartilage during osteoarthritis. Each DPF is placed	
denced by several SOEs, which are measured by cer- tain technique (source [35]).104Figure 4.11SPARQL evaluation of the query "Which are all the Data that concerns Patient 231086?" (source A. Agi- betov in the context of [35]).104Figure 4.121 Which are all the data that concerns Patient 231086?105		on a corresponding spatiotemporal scale, and is evi-	
Figure 4.11SPARQL evaluation of the query "Which are all the Data that concerns Patient 231086?" (source A. Agi- betov in the context of [35]).Figure 4.121 Which are all the data that concerns Patient 231086? (source [35])		denced by several SOEs, which are measured by cer-	
Figure 4.11SPARQL evaluation of the query "Which are all the Data that concerns Patient 231086?" (source A. Agi- betov in the context of [35]).Figure 4.121 Which are all the data that concerns Patient 231086? (source [35])		tain technique (source [35]).	104
Data that concerns Patient 231086?" (source A. Agibetov in the context of [35])	Figure 4.11	SPARQL evaluation of the query "Which are all the	
Figure 4.12Locbetov in the context of [35]).1.1 - Which are all the data that concerns Patient 231086?(source [35])105		Data that concerns Patient 231086?" (source A. Agi-	
Figure 4.12 1 Which are all the data that concerns Patient 231086?		betov in the context of $[35]$)	104
	Figure 4.12	1 Which are all the data that concerns Patient 231086?	
(Source [35])		(source [35])	105
Figure 4.132 For the previously obtained data, what are the vi-	Figure 4.13	2 For the previously obtained data, what are the vi-	
sualization techniques which visualize them? (source [35])105		sualization techniques which visualize them? (source [35]))105
	Figure 4.14	3 By which technique were the data in question ob- tained? (technique accordingly to Fig. 4.10) (source [35])1	106
Figure 4.14 3 By which technique were the data in question ob-	0	tained? (technique accordingly to Fig. 4.10) (source [35])	106

Figure 4.15	4 For the previously evaluated techniques, which SOEs did they measure? And for those SOEs, which
Figure 4.16	DPFs did they evidence? (source [35])
	poral scales they are placed? (source [35]) 106
Figure 4.17	6 Filter only those DPFs that are of interest for a
	"Tissue Engineer" (source [35])
Figure 4.18	7 Extract the relationships "causes" between SOEs
	(c.f. Fig. 4.7) (source [35])
Figure 4.19	8 Extract the relationships "causes" between DPFs
	(c.f. Fig. 4.7) (source [35])
Figure 4.20	Overall architecture
Figure 4.21	Architecture of the exploratory system
Figure 4.22	Examples of renders performed by several rendering
	workers: STL worker representing a part of the car-
	tilage of meniscus, VTK worker representing a knee
	joint, InfoVis worker representing the pore size distri-
	bution of cartilage. Note that the background is going
	to be transparent when inserting those renders in nodes.110
Figure 4.23	Rendering workers and visualization composition in
	the architecture of the exploratory system
Figure 4.24	Process for the visualization composition (source [150]).112
Figure 4.25	Extended view of the resulting visualization (source [150]).113
Figure 4.26	Degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis
	(source [150])
Figure 4.27	Examples of traditional methodology of exploration.
	At the top, acquisition of micro-CT of meniscus (scan-
	ner SkyScan [19]), obtaining of structural properties
	(with the software CTAn [3]) and visualization of 3D
	mesh model (Meshlab [11]). On the bottom, prepara-
	tion of cartilage slices, and acquisition and visualiza-
	tion of histological images. Those both pipelines of
	different sources do not converge
Figure 4.28	Example of multi-scale visualization environment for
	exploration of multi-scale data of knee joint
Figure 4.29	Multi-scale visualization environment for exploration
	of knee joint related data, including only the focus
	layer
Figure 4.30	Focus and context layers
Figure 4.31	Focus, context and background layers
Figure 4.32	Arrows indicating SOEs, DPFs and origin of sources 120
Figure 4.33	Exploration of the cartilage thickness.
Figure 4.34	Setup presented to the user
Figure 4.35	Example of scenario presented to the user
Figure 4.36	Distribution of user preference between the feature
	in the proposed approach (B) and in the traditional
	approach (A). Conditions are listed in Table 4.4 125

Figure 4.37	Exploration of dynamic images for functional evalu-
	multi-scale visualization environment
Figure 4 28	Stereographic visualization Different alternatives: Miracube
1 igure 4.50	Full HD [12] and Hyundai W240SL [6]
Eigura (ao	Interaction with the multi scale environment (source [102])
Figure 4.39	including storegerenhie monitor (Miraguha Full HD
	Including stereographic monitor (Miracube Full HD
	[12]) and multimodal interaction: hand gesture device
	(Leap Motion [9]), haptic interaction device (SensAble
	Phantom Premium [18]), and keyboard and mouse 129
Figure 4.40	Example of grasping and moving a node by using
	hand gestures [191]. The user is moving the node
	corresponding to the 3D model of the knee joint 130
Figure 4.41	Example of haptic interaction with volumetric recon-
	struction of micro-CT scans of cartilage [82] 130
Figure 5.1	Example of helical axes of tibia with respect to the fe-
	mur (reference bone) $HA^{TF}[t]$, composed of instanta-
	neous centers of rotation and direction vectors $HA^{TF}[t] =$
	$(p^{TF}[t], \vec{v}^{TF}[t])$, defined in three-dimensional space
	[151]. The angle $\alpha^{TF}[t]$ is defined between the axes
	attached to the femur and to the tibia, both of them
	being contained in the sagittal plane. $HA^{TF}[t]$ and
	$\alpha^{TF}[t]$ characterize the flexion-extension motion of the
	tibia with respect to the femur along the time t 136
Figure 5.2	Representation of the description of a rigid body
0 5	transformation based on helical axis (source [127]) 136
Figure 5.3	Representation of helical axes by means of a 2D illus-
19010).)	tration (source [218])
Figure 5 4	Type of plot required for the description of the orien-
11guie 9.4	tation and position of the EHA during of the stance
	phase of rupping (source [218])
Figuro F F	Degradation of articular cartilage during estocarthritis
Figure 5.5	(a f Fig. (a f)) and the relevance of the behavioral scale too
	(c.i. Fig. 4.20) and the relevance of the behavioral scale. 139
Figure 5.6	schema of the proposed description of motion se-
	quences based on IFIA in terms of the Lie algebra
	se(3): Motion sequences are represented as curves in
	the Lie group of rigid body motions. The associated
	Lie algebra is used to parametrize the rigid body mo-
	tions, to perform the polynomial fitting of motion
	sequences and finally to compute instantaneous heli-
	cal axes
Figure 5.7	Description of a rigid body transformation in terms
	of a screw
Figure 5.8	Kinematic experimental set-up, coordinated by LBB-
	MHH. The simulator applies loads to perform an
	extension motion of the knee joint, which have fixed
	passive reflective markers tools

20 Table of Figures

Note: The reference or references indicated at the end of each caption or subcaption (except for the cases in which a reference indicates a method) indicates the source of the respective figure.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	Conventional approaches regarding multi-scale bio-
Table 2.2	Summary of shortcomings for exploration of multi-
Table 3.1	scale biomedical data
	data
Table 3.2	Summary of efforts towards the development of intra- scale visualizations, indicating the involved domain
Table 2.2	and scale
Tuble 3.5	biomedical domain involved
Table 4.1	Multi-scale visualization environment: Conventional
Table 4.2	approach vs. proposed approach
10010 4.2	visualization suitability and user profiles
Table 4.3	Exploration features under analysis
Table 4.4	Description of scenarios and evaluated visualization
	features (X indicates the pair of features under evalu-
	ation)
Table 4.5	Questions on written questionnaire (selection of pref-
TT 11	erence and justification of answer)
lable 5.1	State of art of helical axis data visualization and anal-
T-1-1	ysis vs. the proposed approach
Table 5.2	balical axis data visualization and analysis
Table - a	Summary of proposed methods for balical axis data
10010 5.3	visualization and analysis (see the state of art in Ta-
	ble = 2)
Table 5 4	Summary of properties of the proposed approach for
10010 3.4	helical axis data visualization and analysis
Table A.1	Multi-scale data sets

INTRODUCTION

"Rendering beautiful images is nice but usually not the firsthand task."[155]

"Visualization research will have to become more interested in neighboring, related fields of research, [...] for focus+context visualization and the visualization of multi-dimensional data [...], and for user-centered visualization."[101]

Musculoskeletal diseases are common disorders that affect the human body's motion. The study of them becomes very important, as they are frequent causes of physical disability and different pathologies that currently affect around 100 million people in Europe, and yet are undiagnosed in over 40% of the population [30].

Generally, the study of biological processes in the human body involves interactions of information relating diverse spatial scales. Musculoskeletal pathologies, such as osteoarthritis [88], are an example where changes at the molecular scale lead to variations in larger scales (e.g. cellular, organ), which finally cause alterations to biomechanical function at behavioral scale. Therefore, a complete study for such kind of phenomena requires the merging of data from measurements throughout several domains of science. However, these domains, such as tissue engineering, radiology and biomechanics, investigate independently very different spatial scales, at cellular, organic and behavioral scales, respectively.

Current visualizations lack on facilitating scientists tasks for the integration of the aforementioned plethora of biomedical information, its presentation and exploration. Current scientists' workflows make use of isolated visualization systems, which allow only the exploration of features involving a concrete data type, but not the integration of biological data from all the scales in a single picture. Visualization methods that generate images from the measurements should constitute a means to help scientists to understand the relations across evidences existing in the biomedical data: "how can visualization help in extracting information from several scales that otherwise is not easily reachable nor understood?" [152]. The main problem is based on the fact that these data have not only different spatial dimensions, but also different levels of abstraction, and consequently, diverse visualization properties, requiring innovative strategies for supporting the extraction of valuable knowledge.

This work presents processing methods and visualization techniques for the improvement of the visualization of multi-scale biomedical data, making use of knee joint articulation data as application scenario. This approach proposes a scientist-centered integrated visualization for the analysis of multidisciplinary biomedical data, based on the following contributions:

- Novel multi-scale visualization: Musculoskeletal diseases are constituted by hierarchical processes which occur simultaneously at different spatial scales of the body. Events measured on cellular scales propagate upwards to the tissue and organic scales creating interdependency between evidences at different scales. Multi-scale visualization aims at the coupling data coming from different spatial scales for a simultaneous presentation [145]. However, current multi-scale biomedical visualizations are insufficient for a complete understanding of phenomena, as small scale data do not have visibility in large scale views and visual means to indicate interdependencies between data are not provided. In this work, a novel multi-scale visualization by means of a 3D multilayered environment is proposed, in which detailed and global data of different scales as well as their relationships can be presented and explored.
- Combination of scientific visualization and information visualization techniques: The presentation of relevant biomedical data sets for the exploration of musculoskeletal diseases remains limited if choosing methods belonging to only one of the two main subfields of visualization research: either scientific (SciVis [56]) or information (InfoVis [59]) visualization. In this work, this traditional division in the field is overcome in the visualization environment in order to facilitate a complete analysis of all the biomedical data. The multiscale medical data is presented by making use of both subfields for a complete analysis: InfoVis methods as cognitive amplification (e.g. representations of graphs for gait patterns, properties of meniscus), and SciVis methods for realistic representations coming from physical data (e.g. computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging).
- Incorporation of semantics into the visualization applied in a multiscale scenario: The presentation of multi-scale biomedical data in one single view would overwhelm the specialist without if exploring without visual semantic means to understand the context and the relations of the data. Knowledge formalization can organize biomedical data sets into semantically connected pieces of information. In this work, semantic visualization is applied in a multi-scale scenario to support a meaningful presentation and navigation across the data sets of multi-scale nature. This approach provides semantic means to identify relevant items for its presentation to the specialist user of the visualization environment. This includes the use of profiles to adapt the visualization with semantic relations among the data sets.
- Enhanced intra-scale visualizations: New processing methods and visualization techniques are required in order to accurately characterize and interpret data on concrete spatial scales. Those methods allow to improve the workflow of the specialists who are experts in those data, as well as to contribute to the overall study of processes of multi-scale nature. In this work, efforts have been made at the

behavioral scale for the visualization and analysis of the knee joint functional articulation based on helical axis method. Previous tools based on this method [218] were insufficient for clinical practice since they were lacking in terms of robust analysis capabilities and intuitive visualizations. This work describes how the use of sophisticated and advanced mathematical concepts of Lie group, Lie algebra and the respective exponential map in the context of rigid body motions leads to intra-scale visualizations which improve the clinical workflow in biomedical engineering for the analysis of kinematical data of the knee joint articulation. In this context, the overall multi-scale visualization environment constitutes a framework in which intra-scale developments improve the understanding of the encompassed data, facilitating the study of processes of multi-scale nature.

The growth of new medical appliances and diagnostic techniques requires new ways of working within an interdisciplinary team which encompasses clinical knowledge and technical know-how [29]. In this context, visualization that renders images from all those measurements must aim to help scientists understanding complex relations between data at diverse spatial scales. A multi-scale framework, resulting from a multidisciplinary conception among scientists from the involved disciplines and visualization researchers tends to gain a deeper understanding of multi-scale diseases [32].

This work has been performed under the framework of the EU Marie Curie ITN MultiScaleHuman Project [15]. The aim of the project has been the creation of a multi-scale biological data visualization and knowledge management system for improved understanding, diagnosis and treatment of musculoskeletal diseases in the physiological human articulation.

STRUCTURE

First, Chapter 2 describes the **basic principles and the related work** regarding the exploration of multi-scale medical data, as well and their shortcomings. Subsequently, Chapter 3 presents the **proposed methodol**ogy and its contribution with respect to the described state of art. Chapter 4 specifies the design and the development of the **multi-scale visualization** environment for multi-scale biomedical data. Chapter 5 describes an application scenario, focusing on the development of enhanced intra-scale visualizations and the use of the multi-scale visualization environment for the analysis of the knee joint functional articulation. Along these chapters, the approaches of this work listed above are described in detail including diagrams and examples. Finally, Chapter 6 summarizes the conclusions and directions for future work.

Vision is the human sense that provides the quickest and widest channel for interpreting information. In the biomedical fields visualization is indeed the primary channel through which biomedical data is communicated. Visualization enables biomedical researchers to observe computations from physical measurements of their experiments and simulations. As the ultimate goal, visualization can facilitate researchers the exploration of biological processes, supporting the foundation of new theories or fundamental truths.

Nowadays, the need for handling huge amounts of information from several sources of data is becoming increasingly important for biomedical scientists. Traditionally, imaging techniques had various modalities which measured different physical effects from the same object and shared dimensions and resolution. A complete analysis required the combination of such sources of data coming from different modalities, e.g. computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Currently, there exist an increasing number of complex use cases in biomedical science and clinical diagnostics that require not only the combination of sources from different modalities, but also data from various domains of expertise that are related with a different spatiotemporal scale. In this context, multi-scale visualization can help physicians and scientists to explore and understand all this plethora of data.

Section 2.1 summarizes the foundation of visualization, describing its purpose and the classification of the extensive number of methods. Multiscale visualization is presented in Sec. 2.2, illustrated with techniques to perform such kind of visualization and applications. Section 2.3 discusses the visualization of biomedical data, its complexity, the need for a multiscale environment and describes several works in this direction. Section 2.4 reviews current lines of work proposed in the literature for the design of visualization for scientists. User interaction plays an important role in the visualization tools, as visualization combined with and controlled by user interaction constitute the two inherent components in any tool for biomedical data exploration. Therefore, in Sec. 2.5 a short summary of the foundation of the Human Computer Interaction (HCI) and an overview of related work on user interaction are given. Another important aspect is the organization of all the multi-scale biological information, which requires methods for managing all this knowledge. Notions of knowledge formalization and ontology are given in Sec. 2.6. Finally, the shortcomings of the state of art to take into consideration for this work are described in Sec. 2.7.

2.1 VISUALIZATION

Visualization is the visual representation of a domain using graphics in order to obtain understanding from a process. What initially started only in the human mind, nowadays takes advantage of computers for supporting this cognitive process. Visualization allows not only to get answers from concrete questions, but most important: to explore the unknown. Visualization tools allow their users (in the present work: scientists) to get "insight" from these processes.

In this section, primary concepts about visualization are described. First, **definitions of visualization** highlight the process of understanding as the essential aim of the user employing a visualization tool. Second, the **visualization pipeline** describes the process required to move from a real measurement or simulation to reach the human cognition in order to get that understanding. Finally, the field visualization consists of a huge family of methods and algorithms, which are categorized in two major subfields: **information and scientific visualization**.

2.1.1 Definition

Visualization can generally be defined as a graphical representation of data or concepts, whose aim is to provide insight into aspects related to a phenomenon we are interested in [210]. As a very primary definition, visualization constitutes a cognitive process performed by humans in forming a mental image of a domain space. In the last decades, due to the birth of information science and the growth in computational technologies being combined, this meaning was widened. The definition was extended from only an internal construct of the mind to also an external artifact which supports this cognitive process happening in the human mind [238]. Nowadays, it is widely accepted that visualization is "the use of a computer for comprehending data or to extract knowledge from the results of simulations, computations or measurements" [142].

The process of understanding a phenomenon does not happen entirely in the brain of individuals, requiring also the interaction with other entities, such as cognitive tools [235]. In this context, visualization constitutes a very important cognitive tool which facilitates the attainment of insight from a phenomenon, as it translates a phenomenon into the language of human vision and cognition [180]. Vision is indeed the human sense which provides the quickest and widest channel to interpret information, as the eye and the visual cortex of the brain provide the highest bandwith channel into human cognitive centers [235]. An individual working with a visual tool is depicted in Fig. 2.1. The interface between them is provided by visualization as the primary channel to acquire information. Visualization and understanding are closely related: this coupling depends on the quality of this interface. And the result of this coupling constitutes a new and more powerful cognitive system.



Figure 2.1: Coupling between a visualization tool and an individual.

Note that interaction constitutes a fundamental auxiliary channel for visualization, as it is the way to control its flow. The exploration of a phenomenon is indeed facilitated by using interfaces in which the perceiver can not only observe some graphical representation of the phenomenon but also interact with it. Interaction is effective when the feedback channel decides in real-time the contents that are going to be presented, and therefore supporting the perceiver to satisfy his concrete enquiries during the exploration. Therefore, the decisional input of the perceiver-user supported by interactive visualization is crucial.

Visualization helps to provide answers to quantitative or qualitative questions regarding phenomena [210]. In case of quantitative questions (e.g. "given a gait analysis of a patient, what are the values of knee joint angles during stance phase?") visual representations help to understand the data, facilitating the exploration of small-scale features of data. Fine-tuned visualizations pursues to answer those questions, in which the process to get understanding follows a bottom-up pattern, i.e. after satisfying precise questions it is possible to generalize and understand or establish theories.

In other situations, the questions are qualitative (e.g. "given a CT scan of a patient knee, are there any diseases?") or simply there exist no prior questions to the observation. In those cases, visual representations have the important role to support a user interested in examining a process in order to explore novel facts and establish relationships. Open-ended visualizations or exploratory visualizations contribute to this aim, which the process to get insight follows a top-down pattern.

This last role of visualization matches the perspective of a scientist interested in examining a process in order to obtain new scientific insight and support new scientific discoveries, such as the exploration of relations of biological processes by a medical practicioner. Visualization helps scientists to go beyond precise questions, allowing them to comprehend huge amounts of data, understand features at large-scale, and even perceive emergent patterns and properties not previously anticipated, which facilitates hyphotesis formulation (Fig. 2.2).

2.1.2 Visualization process

The visualization process (or visualization pipeline) consists of a group of operations which manipulate the acquired data from a phenomenon,



Figure 2.2: Classification of visualization tools according to the insight they provide.

obtained by measurements of a real process or by computational simulations. The human mind (of the user of the visualization tool) is the receiver in this chain, which gets insight into the original phenomenon [210, 235]. The operations involved are (Fig. 2.3):

- *Data acquisition* encompasses the collection of the input data from the measuring device or simulations, the conversion of the raw data to a chosen specific data set format, and its storage, e.g. in a CT scan of the body, physical measurements of CT scan devices are processed and finally stored in the file format DICOM [28].
- *Data filtering* involves the methods applied to the acquired data in order to extract relevant information to target research questions, e.g. a subset of interest for radiologists from a CT scan, such as the knee joint bones. This operation is crucial for the visualization, as it is necessary to preserve only information of interest.
- *Mapping* specifies the visual attributes which encode the filtered data, converting the (until now invisible) data into a (visible) data set in a visual domain. This visual domain has dimensions which are visual features, such as color or position. For instance, the mapping of a CT scan to a visual representation is usually made by a volumetric visualization (see Sec. 2.1.3.1). Mapping constitutes the core operation in the visualization process and its effectiveness determines the quality of the visualization.
- *Rendering* creates the final image from the mapped data with visual attributes and several viewing parameters tuned by the user. In the pipeline, its aim is to specify remaining visual attributes that users can tune to examine the scene. Rendering simulates the physical process of lighting a visible 3D scene according to the viewpoint as well as settings of the user, ultimately being visible in the generated image [173].
- *Human perceptual and cognitive processing* are exploited by the user of the visualization tool, who uses the rendered image and the advantages of the human visual and cognitive systems to get understanding



visualization pipeline

Figure 2.3: Visualization process.

of the phenomenon. Note that the introduction of the user in the visualization process makes possible that both viewer and visualization tool can be considered a single information-processing system [180].

Regarding the last operation, some authors [215, 235] have highlighted the importance of considering perception factors in visualization research. In order to maximize the overall coupling among the phenomenon and its understanding (Fig. 2.1), the study of the human visual system reveals that there exists a best way to transform the data into something that people understand for optimal decision making. A wide number of guidelines for the design of visualization regarding perception factors have been proposed [235].

2.1.3 Classification of visualization methods

There is an extensive number of visualization methods and algorithms used in visualization applications. Many algorithms, techniques, and interactions have been explored and improved since the growth in visualization of scientific data in the late 1980's. Visualization methods have since been traditionally categorized into two major areas which became the main subfields of visualization: scientific and information visualization.

2.1.3.1 Scientific visualization

Scientific visualization [56] (SciVis) aims to present data that are inherently spatial in a visual form. It typically aims to represent data based on physical measurements. For instance, CT-imaging evaluates the respective physical measurements of electromagnetic waves (using sophisticated mathematical computations) in order to finally present an appropriate visualization of the respective spatial data, e.g. volumetric visualization of knee joint segments.

The main fields of application of scientific visualization are biomedicine, engineering, mathematics and Earth sciences.

One widely extended classification of the visualization algorithms is based on the type of attribute of the data they operate on [98]:

- *Scalar visualization* operates on scalar data, taking basically as an input one or two-dimensional scalar data sets. For instance, *color mapping* designates a color as a function of the scalar value, e.g. medical visualization with luminance (Fig. 2.4a). *Contouring* presents all points that have a given scalar value, e.g. a isobar map. Two concrete types of scalar data have an own group of methods:
 - *Image visualization* operates on image data, i.e. scalars sampled on uniform 2-dimensional grids. Image processing constitutes a huge field (per se an own field) and is present in scientific visualization systems [199], contributing in several operations of the visualization pipeline for complex representations.
 - Volume visualization targets three-dimensional scalar fields sampled on uniform grids. In biomedicine, huge amount of data can be acquired by modalities that generate volumetric data sets, e.g. CT, MRI, PET (Positron Emission Tomography). The main idea of volume rendering is the creation of an image in which the value of each pixel depends on a transfer function. This transfer function indicates (according to some criteria) the scalar value corresponding to a 3D data set along a ray parallel to the viewing direction [210]. Different transfer functions categorize different techniques [81], such as volume ray casting (Fig. 2.4c) or texture-based volume rendering.



Figure 2.4: Examples of SciVis techniques: (a) scalar visualization of the sagittal view of CT of knee joint, (b) vector field representation of fiber arrangements (source [67]) and (c) volume ray casting of head MRI (source [81]).

• *Vector visualization* operates on vector data. A first group encompasses the visualization of the short-term motion of the points in the vector field. *Vector glyph mapping* relates the properties of a vector icon (such

as direction and size) with each sample vector of the data set. Note that the visual properties used for encoding the motion have different impact in its perception [51]. *Vector color coding* maps different colors to different directions of each sample vector of the data set. *Displacement plot* allows to visualize a vector field by deforming a surface along its normal. A second group is constituted by *stream objects* (streamlines, streamtubes), which describe the trajectory of some input object in a vector field over a larger interval (Fig. 2.4b). Finally, *texture-based vector visualization* employs a texture signal that encodes the direction and magnitude of the vector field.

• *Tensor visualization* operates on tensor data. This data are usually visualized with one of the aforementioned techniques, after the reduction of such information to one scalar or vector field by employing Principal Component Analysis (PCA) procedures [68]. This visualization is an active area in medical visualization, as Diffussion Tensor Imaging (DTI) techniques are employed to quantify the diffussion of water in living tissues [177].

A major part of SciVis is actually involved with visualizing data obtained from computational simulations of physical processes. This applies with different degrees of abstraction in many fields of engineering including computational fluid dynamics, gas dynamics and electrical engineering where scientists visualize dynamical systems modeling relevant aspects of the respective physical processes. The latter computational simulations are applied as well for modeling important aspects of biomedical processes such as heartbeat and nerve impulse [94, 239]. It is expected that in the future those computational simulations will strongly go in their importance. This holds because physical experiments are often cumbersome and difficult. Therefore with the aim to reduce the latter effort needed for studies in engineering or for analyzing biomedical processes scientists are trying to replace physical experiments by simulating computations and their resulting visualizations (e.g. Fig. 2.10). It should be noted that in the overall context of the aforementioned topic morphology and biomedical processes are intimately related because biomedical structures depend on physical shapes and their changes. This issue has been studied in the area of science called mathematical morphology [195], which analyzes mathematical laws that control changes of shapes and have biological impacts.

Realistic representations provided by the subfield of SciVis improve the visual experience [152]. Enhancing the quality of rendering is an ongoing research subject in SciVis [233, 244]. Medical images are visualized together with the representation of different structures by using simultaneously several techniques. For instance, texture based volume rendering can be used to give the user an overall impression of the measured data, while surface rendering can be a method of providing extra-information for structures of interest (Fig. 2.5).

SciVis also presents challenges in representing biological data gathered on a nanoscale level. The data often have a large size and do not have a



Figure 2.5: Segment visualization in the open software for visualization, segmentation and analysis of volume data YaDiV [82], showing intracranial air after brain surgery (source [152]).

naturally understandable representation as in the previous case. Therefore, visualization of these nanostructures has to create interpretations of the measurements. A set of different techniques, such as volume rendering, isocontouring and dynamic mesh reduction are used for visualizing and navigating these data-intensive structures [42].

2.1.3.2 Information visualization

Information visualization [133] (InfoVis) constitutes the subfield of visualization applied to abstract quantities and relations in order to get insight in the data [65]. Examples of Infovis data are found everywhere in the information society, such as computer file systems, databases or stock exchange courses. Such data are frequently called abstract data, as this information has not an innate visual form [210]. InfoVis helps users to create a mental image about data which have not a given spatial representation, e.g. by means of trees or graphs.

InfoVis purposely provides a spatial representation to data that are not inherently of spatial origin, reinforcing the human cognition. Only after a transformation into a spatial presentation is it possible to gain benefit from this data as cognitive amplification i.e. facilitating the comparison, the pattern recognition or the change detection.

The selection of the spatial representation of the data is performed during the operation of mapping in the visualization process (c.f. Fig. 2.3). Note that this selection is not necessary in SciVis, as the spatial representation is a priori given, and this actually resembles the mental image the user already has (e.g. Fig. 2.5). In addition, InfoVis has to target generally a large audience with generally limited mathematical knowledge, therefore the design has to follow the conventions accepted by the field of application. There are numerous applications of InfoVis in a large range of sectors, such as information technology, telecommunications, banking and logistics.

The most important visualization methods of InfoVis are [120, 210]:

• *Data visualization* represents quantitative data with or without axes in a schematic forms. Some of the diagrams used are basic, e.g. table, pie

chart, bar chart, and scatter plot. Chord diagram (Fig. 2.6a) is a radial technique for visually exploring pairwise relations in categorical data [161]. The design of such kind of visualizations depends on the data properties and the performed processing based on the purpose of the visualization, i.e. by determining its editorial focus and persuasive power [121, 170].

- *Multivariate data visualization* focuses on data which present three or more variables or attributes, in which methods indicated in the previous heading are not enough. There is an extensive number of techniques for multivariate data visualization techniques [134, 62], parallel coordinates being the most representative [115](Fig. 2.6b). In this technique, each data point is represented as a set of connected points along different vertical axes, each representing a variable. Latest works on the topic aim to improve the discernibility of patterns in the representation of large data sets, e.g. [178].
- *Tree visualization* encompasses specific relational data, i.e. data whose information is located not in the data value, but in the association of such data values. Specifically, tree visualization focuses on relational data which have a unique relation among two items. Formally, a tree is defined as a set of nodes and edges. Several main visualization methods exist for its representation:
 - Node-link visualization maps the tree nodes to glyphs, and the edges to lines that connect the related nodes. The position of the glyphs and their appearance are parameters to be defined depending on the application. Radial, bubble and cone-tree are some examples.
 - *Treemap* constitutes a method in order to display the tree structures in the form of nested rectangles [196]. Every rectangle represents a subtree, which is partitioned into smaller rectangles which represents its children (see Fig. 2.25a). Color and size of the rectangles are attributes to define.

The aforementioned visualization methods can be combined in order to amplify cognition regarding relational data. For instance, both node-link and treemap views are used for the description of sequential patterns of human motion [113]. While the node-link view facilitates the temporal representation of pose sequences, the treemap allows a more intuitive encoding of motion pattern frequencies by employing the size of nested rectangles.

• *Graph visualization* focuses on relational data which may have more than one relation among two items. In contrast to trees, loops are allowed in the graphs. *Hierarchical graph visualization* is similar to the node-link visualization, drawing the nodes and edges with the same kind of constraints as the trees. *Non-hierarchical graph visualization* can employ force-directed algohrithms in order to create a lay-out

according to several aesthethic criteria, e.g. uniform edge length, uniform vertex distribution (Fig. 2.6c). There are other visualizations methods in concrete applications:

- Semantic network is a graphical representation of semantic relations between concepts. It also uses a graph consisting of nodes and edges, representing concepts and semantic relations, respectively, being often used as a representation of knowledge (see Sec. 2.6.2).
- Flow chart is a symbolic representation of steps involved in a process, e.g. clinical processes. Basic 2D shapes and arrows represent concepts such as process, alternative process, decision or connector.



Figure 2.6: Examples of InfoVis techniques: a) chord diagram for the control of hospital outbreaks, representing close encounters among the different groups in a pediatric ward (source [31]), b) parallel coordinates visualization analyzing aspects of several counties in a country (source [120]), c) hierarchical graph visualization of social networks employing the tool Gephi [46].
Data flow diagram (DFD) describes the transformation of information by a system, e.g. the exchange of data in a medical store management system. Basic 2D shapes and arrows represent concepts as process, input, output, file or database.

Graph visualization can highlight several aspects from the relational data, such as the grouping of nodes, their attributes, the graph spatialization or its temporal evolution. A classification of graph visualizations based on these categories can be found in [95].

• *Text visualization* encompasses visualization methods for analysis of text documents, including: abstraction and representation of statistics of a high number of documents, parallel analysis between two documents, and retrieval and categorization in single documents. These methods allow the meaningful interpretation of narrative texts in digital humanities [114] and the analysis of source code in software engineering [72].

Without making the traditional distinction between SciVis and InfoVis described above, visualization can be defined as any technique for creating images in order to represent phenomena. In fact, several authors have begun to recognize that conventional definitions of SciVis and InfoVis are mistaken as delimiting the utilization of techniques from the other subfield [182, 183, 149] (Fig. 2.7). This criticism can be proven due to the proposal of new classifications. An example is a new classification scheme of visualization algorithms called A-space [96], in which there is no reference to the mentioned distinction: new visualizations are considered a blend of algorithms and are placed in this space. Another example is a new taxonomy proposed based on characteristics of data models rather than on data features [214]. In addition, some visualization techniques developed in parallel in the SciVis and InfoVis field start to converge. An example is



Figure 2.7: Proposal of combination of SciVis and InfoVis for the visualization of the human anatomy (source [149]), as one subfield provides only limited information. The user introduces queries as text, and SciVis and InfoVis views are both obtained from the system.

38 BASIC PRINCIPLES AND RELATED WORK

the F+C technique, which was generalized for both subfields [102]. Another example of this combination is the visualization of the human anatomical hierarchy integrated with volume visualization of skeletal substructures [43].

2.2 MULTI-SCALE VISUALIZATION

Multi-scale visualization aims to couple data coming from different spatiotemporal scales in a simultaneous presentation. Currently, multi-scale visualization appears in many fields: cartography, engineering, physics and medicine. Independent of the field of application all visualizations share the common need to merge data, which belongs to a range of scales that exceeds the resolution of the display or the human eye for appropriate presentation and exploration. In this section, the most relevant **multi-scale techniques** required to perform such a visualization are described, as well as examples of **applications** in different fields.

2.2.1 Multi-scale techniques

A wide and heteregenous variety of multi-scale techniques are involved in a multi-scale visualization [145, 146]. Some of them define the interaction mode, others the mode of magnification of sub-scale data or handle numerical precision problems. Note that these techniques are not exclusive. A combination according to the purpose of the visualization and the chosen basic visualization style is required. The most relevant of these techniques are:

- *Click-and-zoom* is used when sub-scale data is too small to be resolved on the display screen and it is therefore marked by a placeholder token (i.e. labels, landmarks or other symbols). Clicking the mouse on the placeholder implies the magnification of the target. The variant *look-and-fly* allows the user to freely change the direction of zooming if the mouse cursor is moved during this process from the screen center to another position [143].
- *Click-and-fly* is used when the camera position does not provide the desired view. Clicking the mouse implies the motion of the camera position through the scene and does not necessarily imply a change of scale, e.g. the Street view mode of Google Earth [5].
- *Call-out* is an enlarged sub-region that links to a point of the parent visualization. This technique appears mainly in static illustrations and allows simultaneous views of detailed and global content. The call-out can have several appearances, as the link can be represented by means of lines, arrows, or geometric figures (Fig. 2.8a).
- *Lensing* allows an interactive magnification of a region for the observation of details that cannot be seen with the human eye alone (Fig. 2.8b).

Similarly to the previous technique, it allows a simultaneous view of detailed and global content. *Magic Lenses* constitutes a generalization of the classic magnification lense, which provides an alternative visual representation, by means of alteration, supression or enrichment of the content in the selected region of the scene [213].



Figure 2.8: Examples of multi-scale visualization techniques applied to a histological image of cartilage: a) call-out technique, b) lensing technique (source [152]).

• *Power scaled coordinates* pursue the rescaling of the real space for visualization in order to integrate objects placed at vast distances that otherwise would not be visible or would be limited by the numerical precision of the global coordinate system. This technique utilizes the substitution of ordinary homogeneous coordinates by logarithmic scale of homogeneous coordinates, with the fourth coordinate representing the logarithm of the current scale in the chosen base, therefore allowing the representation of data in scale independent form. This technique is widely used in astrophysis [99].

Another similar case is when objects are very small compared to their distance from the origin of the reference system. In such a case, the resolution of the objects geometry can be lower than the numerical precision of the computer. This problem, often called ill-conditioning, is solved by registering the positions of small objects with respect to their local parents [146].

- *Level of Detail (LoD):* This technique represents an object in a scene with different grades of complexity depending on its relevance in the visualization. The relevance of the object can be measured according to factors such as position, camera speed or user focus. At a concrete state, data need to be re-rendered, marked by a placeholder or simply disappear. As data sets grow in size and complexity, the importance of LoD techniques is also increasing [138].
- *Out-of-core visualization:* A collection of different approaches allow to handle data sets that are larger than the available memory for its visualization. External-memory techniques are grouped into a) batched computations, involving streaming data into internal memory and process them in passes, and b) on-line techniques, in which data are pre-processed according to possible queries and results are stored in a specific structure that facilitates the access [66].

The design of a multi-scale visualization application consists of choosing the appropriate aforementioned techniques. The choice of those techniques depends on the following factors [145, 146]:

- *Type of data and visualization techniques* used for their representation, e.g. isosurfaces, volume rendering, vector field, tensor field visualization (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3).
- *Nature of multi-scale*: Considerations to be taken into account are based on the relations between the different types of data, i.e. the order of magnitude and the relation between scales presented in the data sets. For instance, the absence of spatial or temporal continuity in the data sets to visualize requires the use of techniques, such as visual aids for indicating transitions (e.g. see Sec. 2.4.2) or data fusion for filling those spatiotemporal gaps (e.g. [76]).
- *Style of interaction*: The design of the interactions modes (e.g. click-and-zoom or click-and-fly, previously described in this section) depends also on the selection of the human computer interaction interfaces for the application, such as haptic or gesture interaction (see Sec. 2.5).

2.2.2 Applications

Multi-scale visualization is becoming more frequent in many fields of applications. Independent of the field and the purpose of the visualization, all applications requires massive data sets that comprise different orders of magnitude apart in scale. The main fields of applications of multi-scale visualization [146] are:

• *Cartography:* The multi-scale visualization used in cartography is based on the navigation through information through different levels of terrains and meteorological systems [143]. The most well-known example



Figure 2.9: Cartographic multi-scale 3D navigation based on cubemaps (source [143]). The automatic sensing of scale allows the user to make a seamless transition from a 2D cartographic view to 3D street level.

of a multi-scale visualization is Google Earth [5]. While the 2D cartographic view mode provides an approach combining click-and-zoom and LoD techniques, the Street view mode offers at street level a 3D visualization with a click-and-fly interaction.

Challenges of navigation in a multi-scale cartographic are described in McCrae et al. [143], who, for instance, make use of an image-based environment representation called cubemap. The scene is rendered with a camera that faces each of the six canonical directions whose projection planes correspond to the faces of a cube. The application senses the size of the environment and adjusts the viewing and travel parameters, preventing the collision with the environment (Fig. 2.9).



Figure 2.10: Visualization of the known universe with the call-out technique, allowing the observation from the solar system to the most distant super-clusters (source [21]).



Figure 2.11: Multi-scale modeling of cortical bone tissue (source [160]). Several length scales are considered for simulating material behavior.

Astrophysics: Data in astrophysics encompass an enormous range of spatial data. A single scene could comprise visual objects from sizes ranging 10²⁵ m down to 10⁻¹⁵m [89]. The main aspect to take into consideration is to mantain visually the difference of distances among the different objects. For this purpose, current visualization platforms in astrophysics use techniques such as call-out (Fig. 2.10) and power scaled coordinates.



Figure 2.12: 3D model of a synapse (source [237]). After processing the data acquired via stimulated emission depletion (STED) microscopy, this model represents through super-resolution images a nanomap of presynaptic nerve terminals describing the localization of around 200 synaptic proteins.



- Figure 2.13: Examples of genomics visualization: The UCSC Genome and Cancer Genomics Browsers (source [162]) displaying several clinical parameters, e.g. on the right side, tumor (olive) versus unaffected (yellow), and male (yellow) versus female (black) – gray, data unavailable.
 - *Engineering and physics:* Multi-scale modeling [206] refers to the field of solving physical problems that have important features at multiple (spatial or temporal) scales. Areas as computational analysis of materials (Fig. 2.11), computational fluid dynamics, computational combustion and computational mechanichs need the analysis of complex, large-scale, multidimensional data. This visualization uses in each scale scalar (colormaps), vector or tensor visualization (streamlines) (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.1), depending on the atribute of data they operate on. Regarding the multi-scale technique, it usually makes use of techniques as call-out or lensing, which allows to simultanenously observe the calculations at different scales.
 - *Biomedicine:* In the last decades there has been an exponential growth in the complexity of biomedical data visualization. This difficulty is

due to the large amounts of data available from a wide variety of sources. If the purpose of the visualization requires data at different spatial scales (e.g. from microscopic level, see Fig. 2.12, up to MRI level), the complexity increases. The visualization of biomedical data is described separately in Sec. 2.3 due to its importance in this work.

• *Genomics:* The human genome contains almost 3 billion base pairs, requiring therefore a huge range of visualization scales. The analysis, interpretation and manipulation of such data requires visualization that can handle high-dimensional information, rather than preserving spatial representations. Thus, genomics is a concrete discipline of biomedicine that makes use of InfoVis techniques (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.2) rather than SciVis ones. This is the reason why its description has been separated from the next section. There are a lot of tools for comparing genomes, e.g. Fig. 2.13 [162].

2.3 VISUALIZATION OF BIOMEDICAL DATA

The visualization of biomedical data has become more challenging due to the increasing **complexity** of the data sets. In order to succeed with a complete view of a biological phenomenon, it needs to fullfill both the **multimodal and multi-scale requirements**. Current **biomedical multi-scale visualizations** illustrate that no considerable advances in terms of visualization have been made in order to exploit multi-scale approaches that could solve multidisciplinary biomedical problems.

2.3.1 Complexity of visualization of biomedical data

The complexity of data is due to the following factors:

- Variety of sources: Biomedical data can be acquired through a broad range of modalities, e.g. CT, MRI, motion capturing and microscopy. Even sources of the same modality might have problems as they might not share fully a common standard. DICOM [28] is the standard for storing and transmitting information in medical imaging from different clinical scanners. However, emerging imaging techniques are sometimes not fully standardized with DICOM; in other cases, implementation of the standard varies by manufacturers [233]. Another example is microscopic imaging, in which no format has been adopted as a universal standard, leading to a loss of metadata during format conversion, or problems by organizing images from time-lapse experiments [233].
- *Large amounts of data*: Experiments in every kind of domain provide complex and large data sets, which are difficult to manage due to the memory limitations, e.g. microscopy [171]. Even though the amount of available memory is increasing and out-of-core techniques have been developed [66], data memory requirements increase due to a more

detailed data collection. This creates another challenge: representing data sets in a user intuitive manner is more difficult in correlation to the increasing amount of data.

• *High-dimensional image data*: The aforementioned experiments provide currently a large number of attributes for each physical point, being possible to represent these attributes in a high-dimensional space. For instance, multispectral imaging (acquisition of spectrally resolved information at each pixel of an imaged scene) has become widely offered by microscopy manufacturers [132]. Visual encoding is required for the human perception of such data. Therefore, images carry implicitly more information beside x- and y-resolution.

3D reconstruction and projection techniques are important when dealing with high-dimensional image data [77]. This can be illustrated in an example of tomographic mineralogical data analysis [83]. The software used [82] allowed the experts from mineralogy to understand the geometric spatial structure intuitively, which was not observed in the respective 2D slice images used before. This can certainly be applied in the context of biomedical multi-scale visualization, where reconstruction of cartilage micro-CT data clearly exhibits tissue structure (Fig. 2.16c).

2.3.2 Multimodal and multi-scale requirements

A complete visualization of biomedical data requires not only the integration of all data from different modalities in the same reference system for a specific domain of knowledge (multimodal requirement), but also to consider the merging of several domains across scales (multi-scale requirement) as another constraint in the biomedical environment (Fig. 2.14).

The *multimodal requirement* is born by the variety of data properties: multiple imaging sources provide vast amounts of data with heterogeneous dimensionality that should be merged. This requirement is needed to help



Figure 2.14: Multimodal and multi-scale requirements visualizing biomedical data (source [152]).



Figure 2.15: Example of propagation of pathologies across diferent spatial scales (source [152]). Different grades of osteoarthritis disease obtained using a) microscopic imaging [122], b) MRI imaging [136].

physicians and scientists of the same domain interpret the wide range of collected data [39].

For example, the extraction of information from both the hard and the soft tissues, acquired with different imaging modalities (CT and MRI), is essential in an anatomical study. It can be used to obtain information in many musculoskeletal clinical applications [80].



Figure 2.16: Example of knee joint multi-scale data set (source [152]): a) crosssection of knee CT scan, b) micro-CT slice of cartilage tissue, c) 3D reconstruction of micro-CT scan of cartilage tissue, d) histological image of meniscus, e) schematic of extracellular components of cartilage tissue, f) visualization of glycine particle.

Scale	Molecular / Cellular	Organic	Behavior
Domain	Tissue Engineering	Radiology	Biomechanical engineering
Devices	Microscope	MRI scanner	Gait laboratory
Example of data set	Histological images	MRI data	Motion registration

Figure 2.17: Example of several scales, domains, devices and data sets involved in the study of musculoskeletal diseases. Musculoskeletal diseases are a clear example that need to satisfy both the multimodal and multi-scale requirements.

On the other hand, the *multi-scale requirement*, i.e. mixing information between scales, is needed because systems and pathologies in the human body are often hierarchical. Cumulative events on the molecular and cellular scales propagate upwards to the tissue and organ levels (Fig. 2.15). In this work, these kinds of disease are going be denominated *multi-scale pathologies* (alternatively, pathologies of multi-scale nature). In some cases, a complete evaluation of medical risks can only be obtained if data from different scales are available [163].

For example, musculoskeletal diseases depend on several factors from multiple scales (Fig. 2.16). For a complete study, information sources from different scales and diferent domains of science have to be considered. Specifically, studies of cartilage [97] have shown the impact of extracellular matrix (molecular) components on macroscale elements. The degradation of their nanoscale structure greatly influences the behavior of the tissue. This causes degeneration with age, injury, or diseases such as osteoarthritis. Sources of information to be used range from cross-sectional histology at the cellular level, to body motion captures at the behavior scale, with additional data on the tissue and organ level in between. This analysis involves experts from domains ranging from biology to biomechanical engineering (Fig. 2.17). Recent research projects prove that the integration of multi scale data can lead to deeper understanding with practical consequences [15, 212, 223].

Another example is the study of the cardiovascular system. A multiscale conception of the human blood circulation system, from molecular to organ level, can enhance the understanding of diseases, such as vascular atherogenesis [135].

2.3.3 Biomedical multi-scale visualization

Multi-scale visualization is necessary due to the division of science into domains, each one investigating the nature on a specific spatiotemporal scale and working with its own type of data. This specialization can even prevent scientific progress if phenomena are analyzed in strongly separated scales. This fact is considered the "tyranny of the scales" [163]. The observation and quantification of natural processes occurring at multiple scales is not possible without a multi-scale framework, resulting from a multi-disciplinary conception among scientists and visualization researchers [32].

The main challenge for multi-scale visualization of biomedical data is: "how to simultaneously display multiple visual features that map to very different space-time regions?" [116]. Detailed and global content information are usually distributed at different scale levels, and also small scales should have visibility in large scales.

Recent projects enable collaborative investigation of the human body as a single complex system. The development of data fusion and multimodal visualization demonstrates that the interplay of domains of science across spatial scales is beneficial for a complete analysis of a biological phenomenon. Thus, research groups and current projects highlight this approach for providing scientists with new knowledge in order to solve their challenges, e.g. projects under the framework of the *Virtual Physiological Human (VPH)* [22, 32].

The *Multi-scale Spatiotemporal Visualisation (MSV) Project* [14] is a VPH project which aims to cover the lack of specific interactive visualization for biomedical multi-scale data, proposing the use of placeholders as means of interaction for changing the LoD [212]. In the example of the visualization depicted in Fig. 2.18, this way of interaction allows the navigation across CT scans at different scales.



Figure 2.18: Multimodal fusion of different scales of CT data of femur, based on placeholder tokens, which indicate the location of data at different scales (source [222]): (a) CT data and micro-CT token without transparency; (b) CT data and micro-CT token with transparency; (c) micro-CT data and nano-CT token with transparency.

Another example is the *Multimod Application Framework (MAF)* [223], which supports the combination of biomedical time-varying data from several sources, allowing for instance the analysis of human motion (Fig. 2.19) [130].



Figure 2.19: Multimodal visualization of clinical gait analysis in the assessment of total knee replacement (source [130]). This screenshot depicts original video sequence collected in the motion analysis laboratory, (top-right) frontal, (bottom-left) sagittal and (bottom-right) transverse plane views of the bony segment poses after 3D reconstruction by spatial registration.

This project and others use open-source systems and libraries for image processing and visualization for rapid development of medical imaging applications, such as the *Visualization Tool Kit (VTK)* [23]. VTK is an open-source toolkit written in C++ that supports a wide variety of visualization methods, including scalar, vector, tensor and volumetric ones. Open-source libraries constitute the basis of many advanced tools and are suitable for a rapid development of a multi-scale environment [58].

Biodigital Human [1] and *Zygote Body* [27] are examples of web visualizations for a general audience, allowing exploring models of body organs using a navigation widget and different level of transparencies. However, data are not multi-scale, as it is possible to navigate only the organic scale.

However, the aforementioned works exemplify that further improvements in terms of visualization are needed in order to substantially facilitate scientists' tasks during multi-scale biomedical exploration. For instance, standard graphical user interfaces (GUI) do not provide a simple method for transition between scales, and traditional approaches that conserve spatial dimensions often prevent important small scale data to have an adequate visibility in large scale views. Traditional approaches used in multi-scale biological visualizations are summarized in Table 2.1.

Many authors [64, 137, 164] have called for efforts to create a multidisciplinary work in an integrated visualization of biological data: "the revolution in biological data visualization hasn't started yet" [164]. Except in the domains of genomics and proteomics, with the help of InfoVis sub-

Exploration features	Conventional approaches		
Representation of data sets based on	Tree list structure		
Visualization scenario	Flat desktop		
Superposition of data sets	Overlapping		
Focus and Context technique	Preserving spatial dimensions (placeholders)		
Visual semantic means among data sets	None		
Rendering of data sets	Single data sets		
Amount of rendered data sets	Few		

Table 2.1: Conventional approaches regarding multi-scale biological visualizations (e.g. [130, 212, 223]).

field (c.f. Sec. 2.2.2), it is considered that no considerable advances have been made in multi-scale biomedical visualization [145]. Biologists aspire to soon have an integration of biological data in frameworks that allow a simultaneous presentation and navigation across linked data from tissue, cellular and molecular scales [165]. Visual links which preserve the context are needed in complex visualizations for finding elements with high user comfort [205]. This kind of visualization environments, as proposed in [165], would facilitate a collaborative and multidisciplinary investigation approach for analyzing multi-scale biomedical data (Fig. 2.20).



Figure 2.20: Integrated visualization environment described as desired (source [165]).

2.4 DESIGN OF VISUALIZATION FOR SCIENTISTS

Visualization is a powerful tool for *scientists* in the process of understanding data and their context. Visualization researchers try to give meaning to visual data for scientists in order they to gain systematic insights into many domains [233]. Therefore the creation of scientist-centered tools focused on the scientific process of data analysis is needed [203].

Moreover, the study of the *user* experience is an established procedure that analyzes the behavior of the user facing a man-machine interface [147].

Based on user feedback, the design of the interface is polished or modified. Although user experience can be applied universally to the design of every machine, it is gaining importance in the context of designing scientific visualization systems [116].

In this section, aspects proposed in recent literature regarding the design of a visualization are reviewed, taking account the double dimension of the perceiver of a scientific visualization, as a **scientist** and generally as a **user**.

2.4.1 Scientist-centered visualization

Visualization researchers try to provide a visualization tool to a scientist in order to help him or her in the understanding of complex data. The effectiveness on the creation of a visualization encompasses a set of steps, involving an initial analysis, frequent evaluation and validation.

Development of a new visualization

The analysis of a creation of a new visualization has to be wide, considering very different alternatives:

- The first option is no creation of a new visualization. Wijk states that "visualization is not good by definition" [221]. Visualization researchers should avoid visualizing information for scientists that could be extracted by automated data analysis and does not require direct human interpretation.
- The reuse of existing visualization software can also be a viable solution. For instance, several open-sources viewers of the standard DICOM are available, allowing the development of own modules or plugins for concrete purposes, e.g. YaDiV [82] and OsiriX [188].
- Third, the creation of a novel visualization has to involve doubts regarding its effectiveness against the costs to develop it. The cost associated with using a visualization system falls on the user and the initial development [221]. The user cost is related to the time required for learning how to use the new tool, converting the user data to the system format and interpreting the presented results, which can be minimized by user experience factors. The high price of the initial development costs, encompassing to have a novel idea and develop it, constitute the major factor.

In this context, the requirements analysis, the review of state of the art and the development of a new idea accordingly are not enough to achieve success. The preparation of a study on advantages and limitations is crucial before starting to work on a new visualization application.

Evaluation of visualization methods with the help of users

Studies analyzing users' feedback are an important instrument for evaluating a visualization (e.g.[85, 126]). This kind of studies can improve the quality of the performed visualizations as it aims to analyze their strengths and weakness.

Frequent evaluation during the design process

Working closely with the scientists is the best way to develop a visualization tool. In practice, visualization researchers have limited sources of information about the application required to be designed. Therefore, it is necessary to answer very soon if the visualization is really giving the scientist the information needed. In order to provide concrete usability to the visualization, a frequent evaluation has to be done during the design cycle, e.g. by testing isolated and specific usability hypotheses [232]. Johnson goes further, expressing that visualization researchers should use the scientific method during the design process of a visualization, including phenomena observation, hypothesis formulation, results prediction and evaluation [116]. This would ensure the creation of a tool that is attached from the scientific meaning.

2.4.2 User-centered visualization

Innovative visualization tools can be difficult to learn due to the complexity of data and tasks. In this context, as users are part of the visualization process (c.f. Sec. 2.1), perception factors and software usability principles are essential to successfully support the understanding required in any visualization tool.

2.4.2.1 *Perception factors*

Human factors are strongly suggested to be considered in order to improve the visualization design [215, 235]. Visualization can go beyond a faithful representation incorporating information by means of different features that human perception can decode, taking advantages of the mechanisms in the human visual system, as illustrated by the following examples:

- Use of color: Considerations about color theory (distance, linear separation, categories) by means of performed analysis on perception can help choosing the optimal color scheme that facilitates the understanding on a particular application, e.g. an intuitive blending color between two given colors [85], or an instinctive color scheme for tree visualization (node-link visualizations and treemaps, c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.2) [211].
- Shape: The humans' ability to distinguish between shapes can be used in order to encode different features. For instance, the use of shape primitives in node-link diagrams instead of nodes and links can facilitate the interpretation of software design diagrams [215]. Even the fundamental selection between cartesian or radial diagram as the basic shape for visual data mapping has been questioned and analyzed, considering factors such as aesthetics, efficient use of spatial

space and circular behavior of data, as relevant for the user preference [57].

- Texture: The use of perceptual texture elements also known as pexels, characterized by color, density, height or orientation can help users in shape perception [125].
- Pre-attentive processing: A limited group of visual features can be processed unconsciously by obtaining information from the visualization without the need for focused attention, independently of the number of data elements and the display size [103].

Other relevant aspects are size, contour and sharpness [215]. However, a combination in a specific application should be evaluated, as these features together are not always favorable.

An example which shows the importance of the perception factors is depicted in Figs. 2.21, 2.22. These figures represent the femoral cartilage thickness by using different colormaps (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.1), tested during the development of a visualization tool for its representation [176]. In this example two aspects have been analyzed to evaluate both visualizations:

- Injective mapping functions: The visualization pipeline, depicted in Fig. 2.3 has the mapping function as the most important factor in the process chain. In order to design effective visualizations, a required property of this mapping function is that this function must be injective, i.e. different values of data can not be mapped as the same value of a visual attribute [210]. In this example, colormap functions are used as mapping functions. In Fig. 2.21, the visualization was designed to have data = 0 and nodata the same value of a visual attribute (*red color*), leading to confusion. Instead, in Fig. 2.22 the mapping function is injective: data = 0 and nodata values have different color values (*red and white, respectively*).
- Color selection: In the colormap of Fig. 2.21, red areas represent thinner cartilage while blue areas represent thicker cartilage, going through yellow and green colors (i.e. combination RYGB). Instead, in the map of Fig. 2.22, red areas represent thinner cartilage, green areas represent thicker cartilage, going through yellow (RYG), while white areas represent nodata. First, note that Fig. 2.21 wastes part of the interval color (red) to represent nodata, stretching the use of the other colors for areas with data. This is alleviated by the use of the combination RYGB, which gives a wider interval of colors. However, analysis on perception (e.g. [84, 85]) have revealed that the combination RYGB is not an intuitive blending color between RB, as lila color is considered better in studies with users than yellow and green. Instead, Fig. 2.22 has a more effective colormap, as yellow is an intuitive color for blending between the extreme values red and blue. In addition, in this case, as previously indicated, red color naturally highlights the abnormality of cartilage thickness (thinning).



Figure 2.21: Example of ineffective color coding for visualizing femoral cartilage thickness.



Figure 2.22: Example of effective color coding for visualizing femoral cartilage thickness, which has been applied in a visualization tool [176].

Learning process for new visualizations

The appearance of new representations conduces users to complain because of standards in representations. The perception of information depends strongly on the viewer's understanding of the given symbol system, e.g. hard tissues are represented with white color, soft tissues with black. Educating viewers may improve their understanding of data, helping them to gain new insights [70]. This learning process can be simplified if the visualization tool involves the following features [152]:

• Integration: Merging tools in the same program eliminates unnecessary navigation and reduces manual interaction times.

- Interoperability: A complete integration in the same visualization software might be not effective due to the high cost, as previously described in this section. For instance, if a data format is not supported, it should at least be possible to process or convert it with an external program, requiring clear software protocols, as described in [223].
- Navigation aids: In a complex visualization, it is easy to lose track of the current position and context. Navigation aids like an overview map, colored floating labels or other semantic information can help to keep track of the zone the user is currently exploring. The starting screen of such a system should enable the navigation across all the structures [109].

The achievement of these improvements in the biological visualization tools is a slow process. Authors recognize that working on usability enhancements is less rewarding in science than inventing new ideas and approaches [164].

2.5 USER INTERACTION

Interaction constitutes the fundamental auxiliary channel for visualization, as it is the way to control its flow. The exploration of a phenomenon is facilitated by using interfaces in which the perceiver can both observe a representation of the phenomenon and also interact with it (c.f. Fig. 2.1), satisfying the concrete enquiries of the perceiver during the exploration.

This section is aiming to illustrate the user interaction concepts regarding the coupling visualization-interaction, which have been introduced in Sec. 2.1. First, this section briefly describes the **basic principles** of the Human Computer Interaction (HCI) field, its definition and terminology, categorizing different HCI approaches. Second, it summarizes **related work** of the current main lines of research.

2.5.1 Basic principles

Definition of Human Computer Interaction

Human Computer Interaction (HCI) is a multidisciplinary subfield of research of computer science, which focuses on the design of the interfaces between the users and computers [73]. HCI has its roots in the pre-computer era, when this research went under the name man-machine interaction. Nowadays, the importance falls on an individual or a group of users interacting with any computer-based technology. Interaction means any kind of communication (or modality) between user and computer, such as feedback or control of a task. In order to tackle this research, expertise encompasses a variety of investigation areas besides computer science, such as engineering, human factors, cognitive science, psychology or sociology.

The design of a HCI interface has to keep the balance between functionality, usability and user experience [147]. *Functionality* defines all abilities of a system that HCI should provide access to. *Usability* evaluates if the user can accomplish with a given interface the functionality of the system. Therefore, the variation of realizations of interfaces can result in different ranges of functionality covered to different extent. Finally, *user experience*, already introduced in Sec. 2.4, investigates the behavior of the user about a particular interface.

Classification of Human Computer Interaction

HCI interfaces can be generally categorized based on the activities performed by the user [152]:

- *Physical:* This category encompasses interaction which makes direct use of senses and muscle actions [118], being possible to distinguish three subcategories related to the diverse human senses [159]:
 - *Vision:* Many input devices rely on human vision as the quickest and widest channel for interpreting information of the human, highlighting therefore the importance of visualization, e.g. screens, graphic tablets, printers.
 - Audition includes all means where hearing, human speech, audio signalization is involved, e.g. sound clue when pressing a button.
 - *Touch* encompasses all interfaces involving passing forces and sensations to human skin and muscles but also controlling objects with variable force actuated by human, e.g: mice, trackballs, keyboards or haptic devices (see Sec. 2.5.2).
- *Cognitive*: This category involves the analysis of the mental capabilities of user, such as understanding, learning, reasoning via cognitive models [204], or in a more direct manner in brain computer interfaces [69]. Affective computing focuses on the emotional state, allowing the system to have influence on and be influenced by user's emotions and allowing a system to sense emotional feedback [174]. Those lines of research are still relatively new fields in HCI.

Note that the majority of developed interfaces involves more than one of the aforementioned groups, even though the interaction is usually based on one concrete aspect.

In a more detailed analysis, it is necessary to introduce the concept of *modality*. A modality is any input or output that enables users to interact with the computer [118]. This concept allows to separate interfaces as unimodal (if it has only one modality) and multimodal (if it has more).

2.5.2 Related work in user interaction

In this section, the current main lines of research in HCI are briefly described. This classification, presented with some illustrative examples, is based on the different number and nature of the modalities which are involved in the design of the interface [118, 152].

2.5.2.1 Unimodal systems

Visual systems constitute the widest area in HCI research, and is intrinsically related with the image processing field. Face expression recognition constitutes one of the most active research topics for the development of responsive and affective HCI interfaces [50]. Moreover, body expression recognition gained more interest due to the increasing reability of wholebody sensing technology and its decreasing costs [123]. Another relevant line of research is eye tracking [106], which is commonly used as a form of communication for disabled people, e.g. [139], and whose analysis requires visualization techniques based on data visualization, timelines and scalar maps (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3) [54].

Hand gesture interaction [179] allows a direct manipulation and exploration of virtual objects, freeing the users from a demanding preparation of learning how to interact, if supported by understandable feedback. This kind of interaction was, until recently, expensive and had to deal with computationally intensive computer vision algorithms, a high latency and an uncomfortable work area for the user [124]. In the recent years, constant technological growth made intuitive, flexible and robust alternatives, such as the Leap Motion device [9, 236]. Moderate pricing allowed access to high quality interfaces, opening new perspectives for elaborated systems for medical imaging exploration. As a result, many new applications of hand gestures in the medical field have emerged [231].

Audio systems are growing in popularity since robust cloud-based voice recognition systems have been introduced [48]. On the other hand, traditional desktop voice recognition systems started offering ways to recognize speaker, from a prelearned database of voices [246]. Another approach is human-made sign detection, extracting from audio signal the speaker's mood [230].

Sensor systems encompass a large number and variety of applications that use at least one physical sensor. Basic examples are keyboard, mouse, joystick and pen-based sensors. Other more complex realizations include pressure sensors, motion tracking sensors and haptic interaction.

Haptic interaction focuses on devices which allow the user to both manipulate a virtual object and feel force feedback reactions, such as forces, vibrations or motions. Haptic devices are useful in a wide variety of domains, such as medicine, robotics, military applications or Computer-Aided Design (CAD) systems [227]. In medicine, haptic interfaces play a significant role in medical simulation and training. For instance, the utilization of sensor systems during surgeries keeping the natural feel of operations, while working through robotic equipment on organs in small scale and rescaling visual image along with a level of touch sensation [166]. Another example of a haptic environment is presented in Fig. 2.23a. The ability to obtain haptic feedback while preparing pre-operational planning is crucial for achieving success in medical procedures, e.g. assembling fragments of fractured bones. Vlasov et al. have described different methods for computing the forces in haptic interaction, denominated haptic rendering [226, 229].



Figure 2.23: (a) Example of haptic interaction: Virtual reality room with a Haption INCA 6D device [7] at Welfenlab. (b) Example of augmented reality interaction: The user is wearing a VR helmet and is interacting with VR content together with a reference image of reality (source [152]).

2.5.2.2 Multimodal systems

Multimodal systems combine the strengths of several unimodal systems, working analogously as human beings, who process information from the environment and in parallel using different senses [112]. The multimodal human-computer interaction is based on the premise that effective interaction is likely to take place when different input devices are combined, allowing a natural communication with the computer. As huge advances in unimodal systems have been done, multimodal systems has as a main key technical challenge the way of integrate all those unimodal inputs [217].

Multimodal interaction allows alternative communication methods for different situations and environments. For instance, hand gestures can replace mouse interaction by mimicking it and following the same interaction strategy (simple pointing, dragging, etc.) [36], but replacing the mouse completely could lead to lack of interaction tangibility [111]. Advantages and disadvantages of each visualization-interaction application lead to propose diverse new integrated interfaces.

The design of environment based on virtual or augmented reality motivates the use of multimodal systems. *Virtual Reality* (VR) [245] is an immersive environment that simulates a physical world, in which the user can interact with their objects. *Augmented reality* [60] aims to enhance the view of the physical world by including computer-generated data to it (Fig. 2.23b).

2.6 KNOWLEDGE FORMALIZATION

Knowledge formalization pursues the description and representation of the knowledge in a domain, e.g. a specialty in medicine. Ontology constitutes a rich form of database systems that firstly describes the domain [79] and secondly provides this information to another knowledge technology entity such as a visualization system [154]. The visualization techniques used for the representation of the knowledge stored in ontologies are generally borrowed from the information visualization subfield (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.2).

2.6.1 Ontology as formalization of knowledge

The aim of knowledge formalization is to represent knowledge about a certain domain in such a way that a computer could perform the process of reasoning on objects of that domain as a human would [200, 150]. Its applicability in a computational context for structuring and organizing data is given by ontologies.

Ontologies provide a set of well-defined terms for communicating knowledge about a domain with a set of relationships that hold among the terms. This well-formed and machine-readable terminology facilitates the construction of inference statements (automated reasoning) from the information at hand [154]. The uses of ontologies are mainly two:

- (i) structuring knowledge when capturing and modeling, and
- (ii) information fusion, filtering and presentation.

An ontology is "a formally explicit specification of a shared conceptualization" [207], being necessary to define the aforementioned terms:

- *Formal*: The meaning of terms is unambiguously defined and stated using mathematical axioms and formal definitions, guaranteeing machine-readability and thus, allowing automated reasoning.
- *Explicit*: Concepts and restrictions are explicitly defined. They allow creating domain assumptions explicit for reasoning and support human understanding of a domain.
- *Shared conceptualization*: Regarding conceptualization, the abstract model of a phenomenon is formed by identifying their relevant concepts. In addition, this conceptualization has to capture a consensual knowledge, rather than an individual view. According to Schulz et al. [193], a good ontology has to be adequate to the domain to be represented and thus has to reflect current scientific knowledge available about the domain to be modeled.

Ontologies are used to define concepts, relationships, and other distinctions that are relevant for modeling a domain [92]. The representational primitives of an ontology [93] are:

- Classes (or entities): Objects that have properties in common and autonomous existence, which usually are positioned in hierarchies, i.e. classes may have superclasses and subclasses. For instance, "Tibia", "Femur", "Patella", "Femoral Cartilage", "Muscle", "Extensor" are examples of entities for a knee joint. "Extensor" is a subclass of "Muscle".
- *Relationships*: Logical links between two or more entities, i.e. the ways in which concepts are associated with another one. For instance, "belongs to" is an example of a relationship that can exist between the entities "Femoral cartilage" and "Cartilage".
- *Attributes*: They describe the elementary properties of entities or relationships. In the case of attributes of entities, they are the general properties of concepts. For example, "Mean thickness", "Maximal thickness" and "Minimal thickness" are possible attributes of the "Femoral cartilage" entity.

Modeling the aforementioned primitives depends on the domain under formalization. Criteria about the ontology design can be found in the literature, e.g. [157, 193].

Individual is an object in the class represented by the entity, i.e. it constitutes an instance of an entity. For instance, "a tibia" of a given "patient 1" is an example of instance of the entity "Tibia", and "a femoral cartilage" of the "patient 2" is an example of instance of the "Femoral cartilage" entity.

In the same way, *an instance of a relationship* is an n-tuple made up of instances of entities, one for each of the entities involved [61]. For example, considering the aforementioned relationship "belongs to" between "Femoral Cartilage" and "Cartilage", an instance of a relationship would be the double "(femoral of patient 1, cartilage of patient 1)".

Note that ontology does not need to include any individuals. This property actually makes the difference between ontology and knowledge base, altough it is difficult to separate their denominations in the literature [61]: a knowledge base is a technology used to store information, adding concrete instances to the ontology [128]. Ontology provides the "skeletal structure for a knowledge base" [208]. In more detail, there are different classes of knowledge and the corresponding information artefacts for the representation of that knowledge [193]: an inventory stores only knowledge about individuals; background knowledge conserves what is typically true in certain contexts; a thesaurus collects vocabulary terms; and an ontology is an artefact for representing classes of entities and the properties they have in common.

In an ontology, *axioms* also may be expressed [61]. Axioms are model sentences that are always true. They define general knowledge pertaining the elements in the ontology. For example, an axiom would be "a mean thickness of cartilage less than a specified value is medically considered



Figure 2.24: Ontology visualization of the organization of a publishing house with the Jambalaya plugin for Protégé [190], the most widely used ontology editor and knowledge base framework.

cartilage thinning". These axioms are formalized in a logical language and they are essential in order to get automatic reasoning, and then, to design good ontologies [193]. Following up with the example, if the "patient 1's cartilage has a mean thickness less than this value", then with the axiom, the reasoner can infer that "patient 1 suffers cartilage thinning". The *reasoner* is a program that infers logical consequences from a set of explicitly asserted facts and axioms, and typically provides automated support for tasks such as classification.

Formalisms are needed so that not only humans may be able to agree upon a shared non-ambiguous conceptualization, but also the machines, may be able to parse it, interpret it and communicate between them. For that purpose, Description Logics (DL) [40, 149], a decidable fragment of First-Order Logics was created and allows ontologies to be expressed in a structured, computer-interpretable and formally well-understood way. They form the core of the ontology language OWL 2 (Web Ontology Language)[45], arguably the most popular language to express ontologies. The Semantic Web provides a "common framework that allows data to be shared and reused across application, enterprise, and community boundaries" [25].

The ontology approach constitutes an integral part of many successful knowledge technologies [154]. Those technologies are computer-based techniques whose aim are to manage knowledge, i.e. embedding knowledge in computer systems, storing in an easy-access way to be able to identify its relevance for a specific problem. They use the information technology from a practical perspective combining ideas from different fields, such as psychology, philosophy, artificial intelligence, engineering, business studies, computer science and web technologies.

2.6.2 Ontology visualization

Ontology by definition is an abstract conceptualization and there is no one single, clear and generic way to visualize it. Techniques borrowed from the InfoVis subfield (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.2, [119]) help to explore and interact with an ontology, detailing its topological information (Fig. 2.24). Some representative examples [149] are:



Figure 2.25: Examples of InfoVis techniques for ontology visualization: (a) treemaps (source [41]), (b) node-link diagrams (source [74]) and (c) Key-Concept Visualization (source [156]).

Treemaps have been proposed as a tool for visualizing the Gene Ontology [41, 4] (Fig. 2.25a) Treemaps are appropriate at giving a quick overview of the proportions of complex abstract data. Size and color are used to provide a mechanism to evaluate details about genes of interest.

Node-link diagrams represent ontologies as a set of interconnected nodes, presenting the taxonomy with a top-down or left to right layout. The user is generally allowed to expand and retract nodes and their subtrees, in order to adjust the detail of information shown and avoid display clutter. An example is a node-link diagram based on a hyperbolic tree (Fig. 2.25b). The node of focus is usually the central one and the rest of the nodes are presented around it, reduced in size until they reach a point that they are no longer visible. In order to combine important and additional information, those are based on the notion of distorting the view of the presented graph.

Key-Concept Visualization (KC-Viz) [156] relies mainly on topological properties of the ontology as criteria of the selection of the most information rich (key) concepts to show (Fig. 2.25c).

2.6.3 Ontologies in the biomedical domain

Ontologies are omnipresent in the biomedical domain [35]. They are usually found under the group of the ontologies denominated application ontologies. Application ontologies are domain specific and cover directly domain-specific terms and relations, helping to organize heterogeneous data into semantically sensible chunks of information, or to document background knowledge for further reuse and integration. On the other hand, domain-independent ontologies serve to establish a common framework in which application ontologies may reside and be integrated [91].

Applications of ontologies in the biomedical domain encompass definitions and classifications of common medical terms to explicit specifications for a focused domain [44]. Regarding the first group, SNOMED CT [201] is one of the most evident usages of ontologies in medicine for the definition of common medical terms. For specific domains, examples are Gene Ontology (description of gene products) [4, 37], FMA (human anatomy model) [187] and Radlex (unified language in radiology) [129].

Some recent tools use more complex visualization techniques for representing information contained in biomedical ontologies than the examples illustrated above. For instance, Phenoblocks [87] creates radial layouts in order to analyze phenotypes between patients using the Human Phenotype Ontology [185]. Network2Canvas [209] employs visual patterns of enriched canvases to present gene-set libraries from the Gene Ontology.

2.7 SHORTCOMINGS

Although there have been an extensive number of developments regarding exploration and organization of biomedical data, only limited attention has been given to some essential aspects that can certainly improve the understanding and analysis of multi-scale biomedical data. In the previous sections, basic principles of visualization and related work regarding exploration of biomedical data have been described. The current section aims to give an overview of the disadvantages found along this chapter, which constitute the motivation of this work.

The shortcomings for the exploration of multi-scale biomedical data are summarized in Table 2.2.

Table 2.2: Summary	z of shor	tcomings for	 exploration 	of multi-sc	ale biom	edical d	lata.
Tuble 2.2. Dummin	01 51101	Commigs 101	capioration	or munti se	are brom	icuicui u	.uuu

Shortcomings
Visualization research has only partially contributed tools for facilitating major scientific insight
Standardized visualization systems do not allow a complete study of biomedical phenomena
Current multi-scale visualization frameworks are insufficient for understanding biomedical phenomena
Limited attention has been given to scientists' and users' experiences
Innovation in multi-scale exploration lacks a coupled interaction
Ontology visualization does not provide realistic representations needed for a multi-scale biomedical data exploration

Visualization research has only partially contributed tools for facilitating major scientific insight

Visualization is a method of presenting experimental and computational results, enabling users to observe their simulations and computations through visual methods in a wide amount of fields, e.g. technology and science. In a more general definition, visualization constitutes a synonym of understanding. Research in visualization can be approached from different points of view, such as cognition and perception issues [235] or the development of many algorithms in the fields of scientific and information visualization. An incremental loop of investigation on methods has caused specialization of visualization techniques. These methods as well as the foundations of visualization were summarized in Sec. 2.1.

Despite huge developments in visualization research, it is necessary to emphasize that more attention has been given to analyze the imperfections of the developed methods rather than analyze demands of new potential users of visualization. Several authors, e.g. Johnson or Van Wijk [116, 221], have reflected that visualization research has focused on the aforementioned incremental loop of investigation and has paid less attention to serve as a tool for getting a major scientific insight. It is necessary to remind the goal of visualization: to facilitate the cognitive process of their users for comprehending information and discovering new features (c.f. Sec. 2.1.1).

Standardized visualization systems do not allow a complete study of biomedical phenomena

The study of a system or pathology in the biomedical field involves processes that are occurring at very different spatial dimensions. Related information are acquired via multiple sources and are currently analyzed separately under specialized medical domains (c.f. Sec. 2.3). This specialization allows to deepen in concrete details, but constitutes a double-edged sword [163], as it fails to analyze the relations among such analyses and the overall meaning.

Experts of these domains use on a daily basis isolated systems, allowing only the exploration of features involving a concrete specialty and scale. Many visualization tools integrate data from multiple sources [77], supporting a rich local visualization. However, tools are not ready to observe the complete picture of a biomedical phenomenon. A global analysis of the impact of such phenomena requires a multi-scale framework [32], where the different spatial scales studied by different specialties could coexist and be examined.

Current multi-scale visualization frameworks are insufficient for understanding biomedical phenomena

Authors have recently been very critical with the current state of biomedical multi-scale modeling and visualization. According to Gehlenborg, "truly

integrated visualization of systems biology data across the entire range of possible data types is still very much in its infancy" [86]. The existing multimodal exploratory systems (c.f Sec. 2.3.3) do not allow a flexible exploration of multi-scale data. An example was depicted in Fig. 2.19, showing a multimodal visualization of clinical gait analysis in the assessment of total knee replacement. Similarly to other current systems, this visualization provides a standard GUI, composed of a set of opaque windows, dialog boxes and list structures in order to configure viewports, which do not allow a flexible exploration of all available data (e.g. overlap of data sets, lack of semantic information regarding the data sets).

Multi-scale visualization offers techniques and methods for dealing with data at different spatial dimensions, whose techniques and applications were summarized in Sec. 2.2. However, understanding a biomedical multi-scale process requires adaptation of the current techniques on multi-scale visualization. An example was depicted in Fig. 2.18, showing the multi-scale visualization of different scales of CT data of femur. This visualization preserves the conservation of spatial dimensions and uses placeholders as a focus and context technique, based on a realistic point of view. However, small scale data do not have visibility in a large scale view, avoiding a global view of all the data sets.

Current approaches used in biological visualizations were summarized in Table 2.1. In order to facilitate the exploration of multi- scale biomedical data, flexible multi-scale visualization tools are needed. Among other features, they should integrate information independently of the spatial dimensions and highlight important relations among data sets.

Limited attention has been given to scientists' and users' experiences

A main reason why visualization has restricted its role for providing understanding in science is based on the limited attention given to the users of visualization [137]. Visualization researchers have not spent enough time with potential users analyzing their demands and their underlying fields. As there has not been an alliance between visualization researchers and the fields of application of visualization (in this case, biomedical scientists), this fact hinders the creation of techniques and tools which increase the potential of researchers for solving challenging scientific problems.

Several dispersed claims and proposals have been appearing in recent literature, e.g. [215, 221]. These features, which were described in Sec. 2.4, take into consideration the double dimension of the perceiver of a scientific visualization, as a scientist and more generally as a user. The design of a biomedical visualization tool should take into account both the scientific purpose of the visualization (c.f. Sec. 2.4.1) and also aspects regarding user experience (c.f. Sec. 2.4.2). This interplay of working with and for the scientists would provide a more complete meaningful analysis, leading to solutions that would provide scientists with new knowledge [152].

Innovation in multi-scale exploration lacks a coupled interaction

Interaction constitutes a fundamental channel for visualization acting as control flow between the user and the phenomenon under analysis in the computer (c.f. Sec. 2.5). Interaction facilitates the exploration process, as questions that follow the premises "what if" are solved with the coupled system composed of visualization and interaction. The importance of interaction increases due to the complexity of visualization of multiple biomedical data sets (c.f. Sec. 2.3). It is even more necessary to implement the visual-information-seeking mantra "overview first, zoom and filter, then details-on-demand" [197].

Although innovation in interaction is not the scope of this work, an innovative solution regarding visualization (whose need has been described) strongly requires a coupled interaction system in order to obtain an intuitive and user friendly data space exploration of multi-scale data. Therefore, both visualization and interaction features for the exploratory system have to be designed with a common strategy.

For the exploration of complex scenarios the use of conventional interaction systems (e.g. 2D screen, keyboard and mouse) appears to be insufficient for providing access to the exploration of multi-scale data. In the recent years, constant technological progress in HCI technology allowed access to high quality interfaces (c.f. Sec. 2.5.2), opening new roads for interaction in visualization systems.

Ontology visualization does not provide realistic representations needed for a multi-scale biomedical data exploration

Ontologies constitute an essential part of technologies which manage knowledge about a domain (c.f. Sec. 2.6). The applicability of ontologies in the biomedical domain is proven due to the large number of tools that make use of them, including classifications of medical terms and organization of heterogeneous data. Therefore, ontologies can support efficiently the storage of knowledge regarding multi-scale biomedical data.

However, traditional visualization techniques for representing the knowledge encoded in ontologies do not provide a realistic representation. The focus has been to represent the concepts in text formats and the relations among the entities (c.f. Sec. 2.6.2). The visualization techniques applied are mainly from the InfoVis subfield, as the spatial domain for representing such information (text) is not inherent and therefore is artificially given (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.2).

Thus, ontologies alone are not enough to provide both medical background knowledge and exploration of multi-scale biomedical data. The ontology visualization based on InfoVis allows only to explore the concepts attached to the data, but not to observe the data *per se*. Although ontology can be important for efficiently storing knowledge, its visualization is not enough for a multi-scale data exploration, as the data in biomedicine is substantially based on physical measurements, and therefore suitable for techniques of SciVis subfield (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.1).

METHODOLOGY

As in the review of the state of the art in Chapter 2 exposed several shortcomings in the biomedical multi-scale exploration (c.f. Sec. 2.7), the current chapter describes the proposed approach to overcome them. Section 3.1 introduces the new contributions, comparing them with the state of the art. The proposed methodology is subsequently described in detail in the next sections.

3.1 INTRODUCTION

The presentation and exploration of biomedical multi-scale data are complex due to the variety of data formats, a massive amount of information and diverse levels of abstraction (c.f. Sec. 2.3). A visualization which separately improves the understanding of each spatial scale is not enough, as for the multi-scale exploration the importance lies in coupling the spatial scales. Despite of the requests of authors for improving the exploration of biological data across the complete range of scales [86, 164], the latest works have shown that no major advances have been made to facilitate this task, which is still in its "infancy" [86]. Multi-scale visualization offers techniques and methods for dealing with data at different spatial dimensions (c.f. Sec. 2.2). However, the current systems which deal with the multi-scale exploration are insufficient for understanding biomedical phenomena. Among other aspects, there is no visibility of small scales in large scale view [212], there is no simple method for a transition between scales [223] or they do not provide sufficient semantic means to visually understand internal relations between data sets.

Understanding a biomedical multi-scale process requires adaptation of the current techniques, therefore a **novel multi-scale visualization approach** is proposed in Sec. 3.2 addressing the importance of all scales and emphasizing the relationships among data sets.

The data sets in a multi-scale biomedical scenario are collected from multiple simulations and experiments from different domains. Therefore, the presentation of such hetereogeneous information has very different visualization properties. In this context, visual abstractions can help to represent such data [116]. Coming from the foundational goal of visualization (considering visualization as a synonim of understanding), the use of techniques in visualization for understanding science might not make a distinction between SciVis and InfoVis methods [182, 183], outlined in Sec. 2.1.3. Effective visual abstractions based on InfoVis can indeed facilitate the multi-scale exploration. However, as the major part of the data collected

is based on physical measurements, SciVis visualizations are needed as well.

Therefore, exploring multi-scale biological data sets requires both a realistic visualization of data sets and an effective visual abstraction for visualizing extracted information from them and relations among the data sets. A **combination of scientific visualization and information visualization techniques** addressing these requirements is proposed in Sec. 3.3.

Knowledge formalization can organize biomedical data sets into semantically connected pieces of information, as ontologies provide precise formulations of the properties and relations of certain types of defined entities (c.f. Sec. 2.6). Note that the traditional representation of knowledge encoded in ontologies is based on InfoVis techniques. The organization provided by ontologies is potentially relevant in a multi-scale scenario, as they could store the organization of hetereogeneous information sources from several scales. Furthermore, a complete analysis of a biological phenomenon (e.g. a disease flow) requires the preservation of the known relations among the data sets during the data exploration, which can be efficiently saved with ontologies through the definition of relationships that hold among the terms.

The proposed **support of visualization based on knowledge formalization** addresses the aforementioned need of semantic means for the organization and presentation of the data to be given to the user of the visualization (Sec. 3.4).

There is a large amount of self-criticism among visualization scientists because they have not spent enough time with potential users analyzing their demands and their underlying fields [116, 221] ("Too often, creators of visualization technology do not spend enough (or indeed any) time endeavoring to understand the underlying science they are trying to represent" [116]. "There is a gap between our prospective users and the research community. Both do not have the proper stimuli to bridge this gap: individual researchers are too busy increasing the number of publications they are judged on, and for the end-users implementing new methods is far too costly" [221]. Only building bridges between visualization researchers and users is it possible to create better techniques and tools to provide to users, thereby increasing their potential for solving challenging scientific problems. In biomedical domains, this interplay among visualization researchers and scientists can provide a meaningful analysis and lead to solutions that provide scientists with new knowledge that would not have been previously possible.

In the present work, processing methods and visualization techniques have been developed for accurately characterizing and interpreting data on concrete spatial scales. In order to achieve this, the analysis of specialists' needs, their data and the development of adequate tools have been performed. Those methods are encompassed under the title **enhanced intra-scale visualizations**, outlined in Sec. 3.5. In this context, the overall visualization system (Secs. 3.2, 3.3, 3.4) constitutes a framework in which intra-scale developments facilitate the study of processes of multi- scale nature.

Understanding the needs of scientists is not enough for a visualization tool. An optimal design requires to address both the scientific purpose of the visualization (user as a scientist) and also aspects regarding user experience (scientist as a user). Several dispersed claims and proposals have been appearing in recent literature (c.f. Sec. 2.4).

In Sec. 3.6, the present work addresses the importance of these aspects under the title **aspects regarding the design of scientist-centered visualization tools**. The proposed exploratory environment has been developed optimizing a tight interplay with domain researchers, starting with the analysis of the visualization requirements and continuing during the development of the visualizations, performing also a preliminary evaluation of the visualization environment. A coupled interaction with visualization also facilitates the creation of scientist-centered tools [191, 192].

The proposed exploratory system is intended to be usable by a broad group of users with expertise in different disciplines of medicine working collaboratively on the same scenario. In that scenario, the experts analyze a large set of data sets of multi-scale nature, discuss their conclusions, and obtain insight from this process.

3.2 APPROACH FOR MULTI-SCALE VISUALIZATION OF BIOMEDICAL DATA

A complete study of biological processes involves biomedical data acquired from different acquisition modalities and distributed over multiple spatial scales. For instance, a phenomenon that occurs on the cellular level can have its results propagated to tissue or even organ level (for a detailed example, see Sec. 4.6). Those data have different spatial dimensions, diverse levels of abstraction, and therefore diverse visualization properties. The analysis of such multi-scale phenomena requires a simultaneous presentation of data from different scales, thus, coupling scales in a multi-scale exploratory environment. In order to overcome the shortcomings of the previous approaches

Exploration features	Conventional approach	Proposed approach
Representation of data sets based on	Tree list structure	Nodes displaying data sets
Visualization scenario	Flat desktop	3D workspace
Superposition of data sets	Overlapping	Overlaying
Focus and Context technique	Preserving spatial dimensions (placeholders)	Multilayered workspace with non-linear depth
Visual semantic means among data sets	None: inferred by the experience of users	Visual links thanks to an underlying ontology
Rendering of data sets	Single data sets	Multiple data sets
Amount of rendered data sets	Few	Many, by distributed rendering

Table 3.1: Conventional approaches (c.f. Table 2.1) and proposed approach for exploration of multi-scale biomedical data.

72 METHODOLOGY

regarding the presentation and exploration of these heterogeneous data for facilitating scientists' tasks in the multi-scale biomedical exploration (c.f. Sec. 2.7), this work proposes an integrated visualization for multi-scale visualization of biomedical data with the following exploration features (Table 3.1).

Nodes displaying data sets

The proposed approach is based on the data sets as the main actors of visualization. Each data set from a different acquisition modality is displayed as an independent entity, called *node* (Fig. 3.1b). Each node is displayed as a hollow cube or half-sphere that encompasses 3D or 2D content and semantic information. The nodes allow for a direct inspection of the data sets, as they are attached with their semantic information. In addition, the nodes also provide a natural and flexible way to explore the contained data, as they have the capability to be moved, to be observed from different sides, i.e. observing them as they would be real objects.

The nodes constitute the basis for an intuitive and user-friendly data space exploration. The exploration environment makes use of 3D stereographic visualization for the representation of the nodes, as well as their data sets, as most acquired biomedical data has a 3D representation, i.e. volumetric objects. The interaction channel takes also benefit of the nodes, as it uses gesture interaction for a natural exploration of the nodes and their contents (see Sec. 3.6).

Conventional approaches are based on standard GUI and mouse and keyboard as way of interaction, e.g. [223] (Fig. 3.1a). They usually are composed of a set of windows and dialog boxes to configure viewports. In such approaches, the information of data sets and their views are detached, and a direct and natural method for exploring data sets is not provided, i.e. it is necessary to configure viewports and to employ the keyboard and/or the mouse.



Figure 3.1: Representation of data sets based on a) tree list structure (source [223]), b) nodes displaying data sets (proposed).
3D multilayered workspace

The visualization scene consists of a 3D multilayered environment in which the nodes are distributed (Fig. 3.2b). The layers are distinguished mainly by the spatial depth (i.e. z-order), grouping the nodes with data of the same spatial scale. In order to achieve that, each node is classified according to the spatial range of the acquired data set, defining visualization properties for the nodes on the scene (see Sec. 4.3 for more details).

Conventional approaches are based on a visualization scenario with flat desktop (Fig. 3.2a) composed of a set of opaque windows and dialog boxes. The 3D multilayered workspace allows for obtaining more space in which the multi-scale data sets can be distributed and organized according to the spatial dimensions.



Figure 3.2: Visualization scenario based on a) flat desktop (source [223]), b) 3D workspace (proposed).

In the environment proposed, the data sets are encompassed in the nodes having a high grade of transparence, minimizing overlays among content (Fig. 3.3b). As the nodes constitute the main actors of visualization and interaction, the use of opaque dialog boxes is avoided (Fig. 3.3a), alleviating the overlap of data contents.



Figure 3.3: Superposition of data sets: a) overlapped data sets (source [223]), b) overlayed data sets in the multilayered workspace (proposed).

Data sets are organized and structured according to their properties, such as the spatial scale they belong to, and the visualization technique to be

74 METHODOLOGY

represented (see Secs. 4.2, 4.4). Those properties determine the appearance and location of the data sets in the workspace.

Workspace with non-linear depth

The 3D multilayered workspace is composed of layers whose distance between each other is uniform. Such layers encompass nodes with contents belonging to the same spatial scale but they do not preserve accurately the spatial dimensions of the data sets. Therefore the depth of the multilayered workspace does not preserve a linear relation with respect to the spatial dimension, assuring an augmented representation of the smallest scales (Fig. 3.4b). This approach allows for the exploration of all data sets, independently of their dimensions, being important for the analysis of data in a multi-scale scenario.

Multi-scale exploratory systems have focused on preserving the spatial dimensions [144, 212], in which small scale data do not have visibility in large scale view, avoiding a global view, as depicted in Fig. 3.4a. Instead, the proposed approach allows for a direct extraction of information from the context, alleviating the differences in the order of magnitude of data in a multi-scale scenario.



Figure 3.4: Representation of data sets a) preserving spatial dimensions, b) with non-linear depth (proposed). The cartilage of meniscus is not visible in a), as the spatial dimensions are preserved. Instead, the approach depicted in b) allows for a direct exploration of all data sets in the context of a multi-scale scenario.

Visual semantic links

Semantic means to visually understand internal relations between data sets are provided in the visualization scene. The presentation of the data sets is enhanced by perceptual cues in the relations between nodes, e.g. labels, colored lines, arrows, enriching the understanding of the complete collection of data. For instance, nodes which encompass data sets are interconnected by arrows, highlighting well-known or established relationships about them, such as spatial origin of sources, anatomical structures or hierarchy of evidences in a pathology (Fig. 3.5b).

This feature alleviates the complexity of presentation and exploration of data in a multi-scale scenario due to the heterogeneity of the data (c.f. Sec. 2.3.1). Current multimodal systems have not provided semantic means to visually understand internal relations between data sets (e.g. Fig. 3.5a). Applying those systems in a multi-scale scenario, the user of the visualization could feel overwhelmed due to the amount of data; this fact can be aggravated because users are not a priori familiar with all the multi-scale data as they are coming from different areas of expertise.



Figure 3.5: a) Example of absence of visual semantic means among data sets (source [223]). b) Presence of visual semantic means among data sets (proposed), indicating in this case the data source of the InfoVis visualizations.

The semantic-driven visualization is supported by knowledge formalization (c.f. Sec. 2.6). In this work, an underlying ontology [13] provides a set of well-defined terms for storing and communicating such knowledge about the relationships that hold among the data sets in a multi-scale domain. This ontology has been supplied with visualization aspects, such as node features and their dependencies, providing semantic means to identify relevant items during the presentation and exploration. More details of this methodology are described in Sec. 3.4.

Distributed rendering

The architecture of the visualization environment makes use of a distributed rendering scheme for the composition of the scene. The distributed rendering architecture performs the composition of the visualization scene from several data sets rendered on different machines (Fig. 3.6). The exploration of a data set can require a lot of renderings of intense data sets structures such as the cartilage tissue of Fig. 3.4b. This designed scheme can assure a smooth rendering of the data sets when they are being explored, as it avoids unfeasible cases when rendering large size of data sets in one single machine.

The rendering scheme is designed in such a way that each machine performs the entire rendering of a data set. This scheme is based on the

76 METHODOLOGY

premise that a single machine is currently sufficiently performant to render the most complex data set for the purpose of this work (e.g. a complete biomedical volume DICOM file). Therefore, traditional approaches for distributed rendering [198] have not been considered. The architecture, which addresses also issues of scalability and multi-platform design, is described in detail in Sec. 4.5.



Figure 3.6: Illustrative schema of the distributed rendering and composition of the visualization scene. The schema establishes dynamically that each data set is rendered by a rendering worker entity, satisfying the rendering requirements given by each data set. Subsequently, the visualization scene, composed of several data sets is performed.

3.3 COMBINATION OF SCIENTIFIC VISUALIZATION AND INFORMATION VISUALIZATION TECHNIQUES

The relevant types of biomedical data in a multi-scale scenario are very heteregenous and use visualization techniques from both main subfields of visualization, SciVis and InfoVis:

SciVis focuses primarily on physical data and provides realistic representations. This subfield presents types of data that are inherently spatial in a visual form, and those are based on physical measurements, e.g. CTscanning, light microscopy. Some of those techniques are equipped with sophisticated mathematical computations evaluating the respective physical measurements for presenting an appropriate visualization of the respective spatial data, e.g. volume and image visualization (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.1).

On the other hand, InfoVis uses data that is mainly not inherently of spatial origin. The techniques from this subfield transform data into a spatial presentation being graphically intuitively accessible, e.g. via charts or graphs. After such a process that includes the selection of the spatial representation of information, it is possible to get benefit from this data as a means to amplify cognition (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.2).

The presentation of relevant features of heteregenous multi-scale data requires visualization techniques from both main subfields of visualization. This conclusion came from an initial analysis of the requirements for the design of the visualization systems which had been performed (see Sec. 3.6). Some data such as the measurements extracted from the nanoindentation of cartilage, or the relations between data and evidences analyzed during the investigation of osteoarthritis (Fig. 3.7) cannot been represented by means of SciVis techniques, as those techniques require data that are inherently spatial in a visual form. Instead, these kinds of data need to be processed with the help of InfoVis techniques, which purposely provide a spatial representation to those data that are not inherently of spatial origin (e.g. by means of graphs or trees). This information complements the data that are inherently spatial in a visual form, therefore representable by SciVis techniques (e.g. volume visualization of cartilage thickness from MRI-scanning).



Figure 3.7: Combination of SciVis and InfoVis techniques proposed. Nodes encompass SciVis as well as InfoVis suitable data (source [150]).

The proposed approach for the presentation of multi-scale biomedical data combines both InfoVis and SciVis techniques. Each node, displayed as a hollow cube or half-sphere, encapsulates a data set which is presented with the most suitable visualization technique, either SciVis or InfoVis technique. This combination allows for both a consistent representation of heteregenous data as well as the preservation of the optimal choice of the representation of each data set.

The data structure and the architecture of the system are designed in order to perform the aforementioned feature. First, visualization properties are taken into account for the organization of the data (see Sec. 4.2). Such properties are encoded in the underlying ontology, exploiting the knowledge formalization for facilitating the collection and obtaining of information from each data set (see Sec. 4.4). After the retrieval, the distributed rendering scheme creates the scene. This scheme supports types of rendering for representing SciVis as well as InfoVis contents (see Sec. 4.5).

3.4 SUPPORT OF VISUALIZATION BASED ON KNOWLEDGE FORMALIZA-TION

The difficulty of exploring heterogeneous data sets increases if means to understand the meaning of such data sets and their relations are not provided. Taking into consideration that the aim of visualization is to get insight from a phenomenon (c.f. Sec. 2.1.1), an exploratory scene composed by merging data sets of multi-scale nature might not be enough to obtain valuable knowledge (c.f. Sec. 2.3.2). The need of semantic means gains even more importance in a multidisciplinary environment, in which medical experts try to analyze collaborately a multi-scale pathology. They have depth expertise in one concrete specialty, but they lack the big picture.

Therefore, semantically relevant information is intended to be visualized together in the multi-scale workspace. Providing visual semantic means in the data sets to understand relations between them (e.g. pathological relation between data sets) facilitates the exploration across all the multi-scale data. In addition, functionalities and visual properties of the data sets can be encoded in the ontology, automating and customizing the creation of the visualization scene.

The representation of meaningful data sets in a multi-scale scenario requires the acquisition of such information from some a priori knowledge. This multi-scale biomedical knowledge encompasses information sources that come from different scales, their relationships and data representing or accompanying them. Such multi-scale knowledge is obtained from all the domain specialists, which contribute with their data and expertise (e.g. tissue, biomechanical engineers) [13].

In this context, knowledge formalization can represent knowledge about several domains, as medical ontologies demonstrate (c.f. Sec. 2.6). Computerbased techniques can perform the process of reasoning on concepts of those domains, facilitating the presentation of data sets enriched with semantic meaning. In order to specify explicitly that conceptualization, an ontology can formally define what are the properties or attributes necessary to document them and the means to identify relevant items.

Current ontology visualization tools, based on InfoVis techniques, are not sufficient to give a cognitively rich and interactive exploration of the multi-scale biomedical knowledge (c.f. Sec. 2.6.2). This fact would hinder formalized semantic description and therefore the use of ontologies in a multi-scale exploration of medical data.

In this work, knowledge formalization supports the storage of the multiscale biomedical knowledge and the relationships among multi-scale biomedical data for visualization purposes. Instead that the visualization for each specific profile, data type and need is explicitly encoded in the visualization system, roles and functionalities and relations of different visual contents can be obtained from information previously encoded in the ontology. Therefore, the development of a unifying conceptual framework controls the presentation of the data. Particular relevant features of the support of visualization based on knowledge formalization are:

- Extraction of visualization parameters for the creation of visualization scene: Parameters of each data set as the spatiotemporal scale it belongs to, the suitable visualization technique, as well as other visualization parameters are encoded in the ontology, allowing for an automatic creation of the visualization scene. This allows to automatize, among others, the positioning of the nodes and the proper use of a worker rendering entity to use for rendering a data set.
- Semantic links among multi-scale data sets: Data sets presented in a multi-scale scenario have inherent semantic properties (e.g. properties and features are being measured or investigated when obtaining and presenting a data set) as well as internal semantic relations (e.g. the relations among the different data sets in a flow of features evidenced when exploring a multi-scale pathology, see Sec. 4.6). Those data sets do not have per se such those semantic properties, but they have a critical relevance for comprehending the multi-scale scenario. The extraction of such abstract information is obtained from the multi-scale biomedical knowledge via the underlying ontology. Such information is represented in the visualization scene by a 3D immersive visual display of semantic features showing connections with related data sets.
- Customization of the visualization scene: Medical experts coming from different fields have different backgrounds, perspectives and interests in the different data sets of the scene. Therefore it is natural that the mode to show the different data sets depends on the profile of the specialist - user of the visualization system. Terms for this customization are encoding in the ontology, such as "user profile" and



Figure 3.8: Example of links among nodes showing hierarchy of evidences in a pathology.

"interest" of the different profiles in the existing medical data sets and concepts.

The underlying ontology, denominated in the following as *multi-scale ontology*, serves as knowledge formalization of the multi-scale biomedical knowledge. The multi-scale ontology constitutes the multi-scale biomedical data management [13], which has been developed by IMATI within the framework of the MultiScaleHuman Project [15]. The introduction of the visualization components into the multi-scale ontology (e.g.[35]) allows its use for automating, customizing and supplying semantic means in the presentation of the biomedical data sets.

Following up with the current design of the multi-scale environment (c.f. Secs. 3.2, 3.3), this section enriches the visualization system previously described with semantic meaning. Knowledge from the multi-scale ontology (e.g. classification of data, user profile, location of resources) is applied to create the scene (e.g. the position of the nodes on the layers and their appearance, visual links among nodes indicating semantic relationships among the data sets they present, Fig. 3.8). The details of this development are found in Sec. 4.4.

Figure 3.9 depicts the interconnection which has been designed and developed between the multi-scale ontology and the exploratory system. The multi-scale ontology, acting as a driver for data management, receives requests and yields all relevant multi-scale biomedical information previously encoded to the visualization system. Such information is used for the rendering of the visualization scene, allowing for a customized and meaningful presentation of the data sets.



Figure 3.9: Simplified schema of interconnection of the multi-scale ontology [13] with the exploratory system.

3.5 ENHANCED INTRA-SCALE VISUALIZATIONS

In addition to the introduced strategy for multi-scale visualization of biomedical data, efforts have been made in this work in order to develop enhanced intra-scale representations (Table 3.2). The aim of the intra-scale visualizations is to get an in-depth characterization, presentation and analysis of data within the considered scale. Thus, the presented work also describes processing methods and visualization techniques which enhance the characterization and analysis of data available in concrete spatial scales. Each of those methods facilitate experts from a concrete biomedical domain to be equipped with a new procedure for understanding their data. Those intra-scale visualizations, together with the multi-scale visualization environment lead to a new way of analysis of biological phenomena of multi-scale nature.

Development	Domain	Scale
Anatomical visualization of helical axis data	Biomechanical engineering	Behavioral scale
Overall similarity visualization for comparison of helical axis data	Biomechanical engineering	Behavioral scale
Organization and exploration of micro-scale data	Biology	Micro-scale

Table 3.2: Summary of efforts towards the development of intra-scale visualizations, indicating the involved domain and scale.

In all those cases, a same procedure has been performed. Initially, the demand of the experts have been analyzed, taking into considerations their requeriments. Then, data have been carefully analyzed and solutions have been performed, combining concepts from different fields. Subsequently, adequate tools have been developed, providing experts solutions which contribute for the improvement of their respective workflows analyzing data.

Anatomical visualization of helical axis data

In biomechanical engineering, the axis of rotation about the knee joint performing a motion (e.g. flexion-extension motion) is commonly discussed in order to improve joint functionality and increase prosthesis longevity. The generally adopted method to define this axis is widely considered as a fixed axis throughout motion [75]. However, the description of motion based on helical axes has been verified to be superior as it removes repeatability errors [49, 218]. In contrast to the fixed axis of rotation, the description of a bone motion in three-dimensional space can be more faithfully captured in terms of a temporal sequence of helical axes and angles of flexion with respect to a reference bone [202]. However, the existing applications (see Sec. 5.2.2) used to represent helical axes lack an intuitive visualization to analyze states and conditions (e.g. Fig. 3.10a).

In this work, an intra-scale visualization that enriches the joint motion representation based on a direct measurement of helical axes is introduced (Fig. 3.10b, see Sec. 5.5.1). The implemented approach visualizes the three-dimensional motion of patient specific bone segments and the representation of the spatial configuration of the helical axes intersecting the bone, focusing on the representation of the knee joint flexion-extension motion. The realistic visualization of bone motion incorporating helical axis data provides a more understandable representation of the knee joint flexion-extension motion articulation, facilitating the description of the flexion-extension motion for kinematical studies.



Figure 3.10: a) Traditional representation of helical axes during a knee joint flexionextension motion (source [218]). b) Developed anatomical visualization of helical axis data.

Overall similarity visualization for comparison of helical axis data

Following up with the analysis of helical axis data, the description of the knee joint motion based on helical axes can refer either to Finite Helical Axis (FHA) [53] or Instantaneous Helical Axis (IHA) [240]. While the first method refers to a finite rigid body transformation between two distinct poses, the latter uses infinitesimal transformation, thereby characterizing the differential change along a curve of rigid body transformations.

Many, even recent recent biomechanical studies rely on the FHA approach [218, 100, 140]. Altough it provides a rough estimate of the IHA as the two poses approach each other, it is easier to compute. However, FHA is highly sensitive to noise in the two sample poses involved and its computation becomes numerically unstable for small differences, while on the other hand using too large a difference yields only a bad approximation to the IHA (see Sec. 5.2.1).

In this work, both the FHA and IHA are naturally discussed in the unifying mathematical framework based on the Lie group of rigid body motions, its Lie algebra and the exponential map relating those. This approach ensures the obtaining of only valid rigid body transformations, which by analytical differentiation effectively allows to calculate stable instantaneous helical axes for an accurate analysis (see Sec. 5.4). The output of this approach is used for accurately interpreting kinematical data of flexion-extension motion, which particularly leads to an efficient overall similarity visualization across several motion sequences in order to differentiate among several cases and states (Fig. 3.11b, see Sec. 5.5.2). Additionally, this also allows for an accurate analysis of the helical axes in terms of bone anatomy by using the anatomical visualization introduced above.



Figure 3.11: a) Traditional type of visualization of motion sequences by using FHA (source [218]), which makes difficult the analysis of overall differences.b) Developed overall similarity visualization of helical axis data based on IHA in terms of Lie algebra.

Organization and exploration of micro-scale data

The methodology of investigation and exploration by biologists when dealing with mainly micro-scale data has been also analyzed. This methodology of investigation is based on the formulation and validation of hypotheses using the evidences found in the data obtained in their experiments taking into consideration the established knowledge. However, the traditional exploration methodology does not facilitate this task, as the current work procedure for analysis mainly uses isolated visualization tools, avoiding to have the complete picture. The process of data collection and analysis is typically executed manually involving several steps, being extremely time-consuming. Data are stored in different machines as a stack of files, and metadata are saved in spreadsheets or in own researcher notes.

In this work, efforts have been done in order to improve the biologists' workflow for the investigation of micro-scale data (e.g. Fig. 3.12). Note that extending this methodology, it also allows for an overall study of the multi-scale data, capturing all information relevant of the involved domains (see Sec. 4.6 for more details).

All the efforts towards those enhanced visualizations are encompassed in the multi-scale visualization environment proposed in Secs. 3.2, 3.3. Note that, in Fig. 3.12, changes due to osteoarthritis at micro-scale lead to



Figure 3.12: Proposed visualization for the organization and exploration of microscale data together with the scheme of cartilage degradation during osteoarthritis.

alterations on the range of motion of the knee at behavioral scale [38]. Thus, with all those intra-scale developments, the proposed general framework for the study of multi-scale data is enriched.

3.6 ASPECTS REGARDING THE DESIGN OF SCIENTIST-CENTERED VISU-ALIZATION TOOLS

The design of scientist-centered visualizations, i.e. adequate visualization tools for scientists to gain insight from the data they explore, depends on several aspects which have been proposed in the literature (c.f. Sec. 2.4). These aspects have been taken into consideration in this work and encompass: *analysis of scientists' requirements, evaluation of visualizations tools* and a *coupled interaction*.

The development of the different visualization tools has been performed taking into consideration the demands and requirements of the scientists/users following the same procedure: i) analysis of data and users' requirements, ii) proposal of solutions and iii) evaluation. In the case of the design of the multi-scale approach, the heterogeneity of data and the fields of the users involved has required not only the understanding of the data to be visualized, but also the identification of semantic and structural relations inside a multi-scale data set. In addition, it has been considered important to listen to the scientists – as authentic users of the tools – and query them about their desires and intuition about the visualization outcome as well as to know quickly their feedback during the development of the environment with the help of a preliminary evaluation. Every visualization system is composed of two main components intrinsically connected: visualization and interaction systems (c.f. Sec. 2.5). In this work, the design of the visualization system has followed a common strategy with interaction: a natural interaction consistent with visualization. The aim has been to provide a human-computer interface that is perceived by the user to be compliant and coherent with the visualization sytem, facilitating them to gain insight from the data to explore. Thus, the approach towards the exploration of biomedical data in this work makes use of Virtual Reality (VR) techniques, such as 3D stereographic visualization, which also contribute to the design of scientist/user-centered visualizations.

Analysis of scientists' requirements

A visualization requirement analysis has been initially performed. Its aim has been to identify relevant aspects for the development of the multi-scale visualization environment from the perspective of the users that would use the system. This analysis has included the technical specification of data as well as wishes about the common multi-scale visualization environment.

The specification of data has included identification of devices, data and formats. A brief classification of the data is depicted in Table 3.3. The variability of data from multiple modalities in different biological scales has led to decide on features of the visualization platform, which should be light-weight, modular and plugin-based, consisting of several subsystems that exchange data via files.

Scenario: study of a knee joint multi-scale data set				
Scale	Molecular/cellular (Micro-scale)	Organic (Medium-scale)	Behavioral (Macro-scale)	
Examples of data	Histological images, micro-CT, mechanical properties	PET, MRI, CT, segmentations	Gait pattern, EMG data, kinematical data for helical axes	
Biomedical domain	Biology, tissue engineering	Radiology	Biomechanical engineering	

Table 3.3: Classification of the data according to the scale and biomedical domain involved.

Regarding the considerations about the multi-scale visualization environment, the collection of information was performed by a written query. The results have shown that there are two repeated main requests, which translating them to the vocabulary of the visualization field can be expressed as follows:

- Need for a tight integration not only scientific image visualization but also scientific visualization with information visualization.
- Need of highlighting partial information inside scientific visualization (like segments, relations between elements).

86 METHODOLOGY

Those aspects have constituted a ground base for the design and development of the multi-scale environment, which have been taken into consideration for the approach proposed in Secs. 3.2,3.3.

Evaluation of visualizations tools

Following up with the analysis of the visualization requirements from the user's perspective, a preliminary evaluation of the multi-scale visualization environment was performed during an initial phase of the development (see Sec. 4.7, summarized and published in [192]). The aim of this analysis was to find out if the direction of the proposed approach for the visualization environment was appropriate. To this aim, the opinion of users after performing several tasks related to the exploration of multi-scale data in different scenarios was taken into consideration. The analysis had the following features:

- Participants belonged to the domains which were addressed in the design of the system, comprising users from the fields of computer graphics, physics and biomechanical engineering.
- During each scenario, participants were asked to perform tasks close to the real application. These tasks were related to the exploration of a (multi-scale) set of knee joint related data, therefore involving both data used on a daily basis as well as unfamiliar data.
- The aim of this preliminary evaluation was to analyze to what extent the proposed visualization features for the exploration of multi-scale data were comfortable to the user with respect to some traditional methods generally used (see Sec. 4.7 for further details).

Regarding the enhanced visualizations, a continuous evaluation of the tools has been performed during tight collaboration periods with specialists of the respective domains.

Coupled interaction

The analysis of the multi-scale data has indicated that the most acquired biomedical data have a 3D representation by means of volumetric objects. A natural way to interact with those objects is to make use of actions with the hands in order to adjust the view for their optimal observation, i.e. natural hand manipulation in order to rotate the objects or move them closer to gather information from different sides and distances. Therefore, a common strategy of the visualization and interaction approaches has been required in order to mimic these natural strategies for a more intuitive and user friendly data exploration. The proposed approach works towards an exploration of biomedical data employing a combination of 3D stereographic visualization and natural interaction.

The multi-scale visualization scene makes use of an immersive 3D multilayered environment (c.f. Sec. 3.2), in which the representation of data is in the form of nodes displaying 3D content without the traditional GUI. In this environment, the proposed interaction with the data is mainly by means of natural hand manipulation, therefore reducing users' needs for high demands of learning how to interact with data by using devices [191, 192].



Figure 3.13: Coupled interaction: a) Hand gestures interact with nodes in the multiscale environment. b) Haptic interaction [82] and exploration of CT data of knee joint.

A *multimodal interaction method* has been proposed for the interaction with the multi-scale visualization environment [191, 192]. This method constitutes an approach that integrates interfaces with different interaction qualities, similarly to the way humans communicate (c.f. Sec. 2.5.2.2). In this case, the multimodal interaction method involves a synergy of hand gestures, haptic interaction and traditional means of human-machine communication.

- Hand gesture interaction allows the manipulation of the nodes in the multi-scale environment. Several actions can be performed, e.g. a user grasping and moving the hand will move the grasped nodes (Fig. 3.13a).
- Haptic interaction (c.f. Sec. 2.5.2.1) allows the exploration of biomedical data while being able to feel underlying structures through a force feedback loop (e.g. Fig. 3.13b).
- Traditional interaction (i.e. mouse and keyboard) is ultimately allowed in order to prevent a lack of interaction tangibility due to unforeseen unavailability of the other interaction interfaces.

Note that the design, development and evaluation of the multimodal interaction system are not the scope of this work. Extended details of those features can be found in the work titled "Multimodal interaction with an integrated visualization system for the analysis of multiscale biomedical data", authored by J. Rzepecki [191]. A brief summary is described for completeness at the end of Chapter 4 (Sec. 4.9).

MULTI-SCALE VISUALIZATION ENVIRONMENT

The aim of this chapter is to describe the design and implementation of a multi-scale visualization system that enables the exploration of biomedical data related to diseases of multi-scale nature, focusing on the example of musculoskeletal diseases. This development (Table 4.1) addresses the importance of all spatial scales involved and emphasizes the relationships among data sets, combining techniques coming from SciVis and InfoVis fields in order to present realistic visualization of data sets as well as visual abstractions based on the relations of the data . The creation of the visualization scene including semantic aids among data sets is supported by knowledge formalization applied to the multi-scale scenario. Important aspects considered for the design of the environment have been the analysis of scientists' requirements, a preliminary evaluation of the proposed exploration features and a coupled interaction.

4.1 INTRODUCTION

An analysis of the biomedical data required for the study of musculoskeletal diseases has been initially performed. During this analysis, it has been found that for such a study an heterogeneous set of data sets is required, demanding both multimodal and multi-scale visualization needs (c.f. Sec. 2.3.2). The performed analysis has led to carry out the **classification of data** according to the related spatial scale, the visualization properties, and the user profile which specially is interested in, described in Sec. 4.2.

Exploration features	Conventional approach (c.f. Table 2.1)	Proposed approach
Representation of data sets based on	Tree list structure	Nodes displaying data sets
Visualization scenario	Flat desktop	3D workspace
Superposition of data sets	Overlapping	Overlaying
Focus and Context technique	Preserving spatial dimensions (placeholders)	Multilayered workspace with non-linear depth
Visual semantic means among data sets	None: inferred by the experience of users	Visual links thanks to an underlying ontology
Visualization techniques	Usually either InfoVis or SciVis	Combined InfoVis and Scivis via visual links
Rendering of data sets	Single data sets	Multiple data sets
Amount of rendered data sets	Few	Many, by distributed rendering

Table 4.1: Multi-scale visualization environment: Conventional approach vs. proposed approach.

The criticism found in the literature regarding the current multi-scale visualizations (c.f. Sec. 2.7) has motivated the design and development of a novel multi-scale visualization approach addressing the importance of all scales and emphasizing the relationships among data sets (c.f. Sec. 3.2). Details of the visual features of the **visualization environment** are described in Sec. 4.3.

The heterogeneity of the data sets and the consequent need to provide semantically relevant information has led to the exploitation of knowledge technologies. Ontologies can efficiently store biomedical knowledge and supply such semantic information, but the traditional visualization used for their representation, focused on the representation of information at a conceptual level, is not enough to provide a realistic and interactive exploration of data (c.f. Sec. 2.6). The proposed approach combining the exploratory system and the multi-scale ontology [13] controls the presentation of the data to appear in the visualization environment (c.f. Sec. 3.4). Details of the **support of visualization based on knowledge formalization** are explained in Sec. 4.4.

The multi-scale visualization environment requires a coupled **interaction** in order to obtain a resulting tool that facilitates the exploration process (c.f. Sec. 2.5). The aim of the interaction system is to provide a human-computer interface that is perceived by the user to be compliant and coherent with the visualization system, facilitating them to gain insight from the data to explore. To this aim, the multi-scale visualization environment employs a combination of 3D stereographic visualization and multimodal interaction [192], involving a synergy of hand gestures, haptic interaction and traditional means. A brief summary of the solution adopted for the multi-scale visualization environment is outlined in Sec. 4.9.

Next, details regarding the **architecture** and implementation of the overall exploratory system (Fig. 4.1) are indicated in Sec. 4.5, focusing on the visualization environment and the support of visualization based on knowledge formalization. The implementation of the visualization environment uses a distributed rendering scheme accessing network resources in order to



Figure 4.1: Big picture of the overall exploratory system.

make feasible the presentation of all data sets in a single view. The support of visualization based on knowledge formalization requires information from the multi-scale ontology to be extracted and processed in order to render the visualization scene.

An **example of use** of the system is presented in Sec. 4.6. Concretely, the proposed exploratory system is presented in a case of a biologist investigating osteoarthritis at the knee joint. In effect, specialists from different domains (biomechanical engineering, radiology and tissue engineering) contribute with their data and expertise. The set of data sets fulfils both the multimodal and multi-scale requirements: They belong to different spatial scales (cellular, organic and behavior scales) and have different visualization properties (adequate to be represented with SciVis or InfoVis techniques). The proposed framework allows a direct and meaningful exploration of all related data sets of interest to the biologist. The use of the system in this example is demonstrated by employing data sets of multi-scale nature, described in Table A.1. *Note that those data sets do not correspond to the same patient, but serve for illustration purposes.*

In order to know the feedback about the multi-scale environment by potential users, a preliminary **evaluation** was performed [192] and its description is extended in Sec. 4.7. An experiment involving scientists from the fields addressed in the design of the system was conducted in order to find out the user comfort with the visualization features of the proposed approach. This section includes the protocol, the data analysis and the results of this evaluation.

Finally, a **discussion** regarding the multi-scale visualization environment introducing additionally other considerations is presented in Sec. 4.8.

Note: The multi-scale environment constitutes a complex system which has been developed jointly by J. Rzepecki and the author of this thesis in the context of the MultiScaleHuman Project (interdisciplinary training network supported by the EU Marie Curie actions) [15]. The parts regarding classification of data, design of visualization environment, support of visualization based on knowledge formalization as well as the example of use are primary work performed by the author of this thesis [149, 35, 150]. The architecture, development as well as the performed evaluation of the system has been coauthored with J. Rzepecki [192]. The multimodal interaction system, which has been outlined in this thesis for completeness, is work of J. Rzepecki. Extended details can be found in the work titled "Multimodal interaction with an integrated visualization system for the analysis of multiscale biomedical data" [191].

The multi-scale ontology [13] has been developed by IMATI within the framework of the MultiScaleHuman Project [15]. The introduction of the visualization components into the multi-scale ontology and its application to uses related to the musculoskeletal diseases analysis, allowing its use for customizing and supplying semantic means in the presentation of the biomedical data sets within the multi-scale visualization environment [35, 150], has been the contribution of the author of this thesis. Note that

extended details of the features of the multi-scale ontology system [13] are not the scope of this work. They can be found in the work titled "Multi-scale biological knowledge formalization: definition, properties, and applications" [34].

4.2 CLASSIFICATION OF DATA

The analysis of the technical specification of the data for the analysis of musculoskeletal diseases has found that an in-depth analysis of such diseases requires a large heterogeneity of data from different medical specialties.

The gathered data sets are not only acquired from different acquisition modalities (e.g. CT, MRI, gait pattern analysis), but are also distributed over multiple spatial scales (from data acquired or processed at ranges of micrometer to meter). They have several levels of abstraction, which lead to different grades of suitability to be represented by the large number of existing visualization techniques (e.g. volumetric representations, graphs or diagrams).

In addition, the analysis of all those data involves scientists from different domains, who contribute with their data and expertise. They usually work on individual features involving a concrete domain and spatial scale, contributing for the analysis of the multi-scale pathology. Examples of sources of data under investigation, devices used and domains involved are depicted in Fig. 4.2.



Figure 4.2: Example of scales, domains, devices and data sets involved in the study of musculoskeletal diseases.

The illustrated data sets range from a cross-sectional histology of the meniscus at the cellular scale, to graphics associated to the motion pattern of the knee at the behavior scale, with data on the organic scale in between, e.g. PET/MRI images, and their segmentations. Note that these examples have different levels of abstraction and diverse representation techniques. Physical data (e.g. PET/MRI, CT) are traditionally the focus of *SciVis* techniques (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.1); and nonphysical, abstract data (e.g. meniscus properties, hierarchies, and statistical data) are more suitable for *InfoVis* (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.2). Different specialists (e.g. tissue engineers, radiologists, biomechanical engineers) contribute for the exploration of musculoskeletal diseases by acquiring and analyzing data of a specific scale.

Data have been collected and analyzed in the framework of the MultiScale-Human Project [15], in which specialists of the aforementioned domains have shared knowledge and data sets for this work. The development of the multi-scale visualization environment has been performed in order for these kind of specialists to be able to use the system for exploring multi-scale data. A complete list of the multi-scale data sets employed in this work is found in Table A.1.

Biological data sets have been classified according to their *scale of data*, *visualization suitability*. Scale of data classiffies data acquired or derived from different spatiotemporal ranges. Visualization suitability is the appropriateness of a given data set to be represented by using a concrete SciVis or InfoVis technique. In addition, *user profile* saves the main scale of interest of the specialist (Table 4.2):

- Scale of data: Four scales have been considered:
 - Micro-scale: Data acquired or derived from images whose pixel size ranges in the micrometer range, e.g. micro-CT, histological images, and mechanical properties of cartilage.
 - *Medium-scale:* (Medium: from Latin, *the middle, center*, i.e. intermediate scale). Data acquired or segmentations obtained from PET, MRI, CT imaging techniques.
 - Macro-scale: Data acquired and processed from the gait pattern analysis, which correspond to the highest spatial range.
 - Abstract scale: This scale encompasses all the nonspatiotemporal knowledge which cannot be directly implied from one of the previous scales. Those data include anatomical structure, relations between evidences in a multi-scale pathology or other derived knowledge.
- Visualization suitability: Appropriateness of data to be represented by using a concrete *InfoVis* or *SciVis* technique, measured according to the standard representation used by the specialists. For example, MRI is suitable for volume rendering - *SciVis* technique, the joint angle evolution in a gait pattern is suitable with a graph - *InfoVis* technique. Note that the abstract scale data are represented mainly by InfoVis techniques. Semantic relations and their structures have not inherently

a spatial representation and therefore it is necessary to supply it, e.g. by making use of tree or node-and link visualizations (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.2).

Visualization suitability / Scale of data	SciVis technique	InfoVis technique	User profile
Micro-scale	Molecular and histological images, micro-CT	Properties extracted at molecular, cellular and tissue level	Tissue engineer
Medium-scale	PET, MRI, CT and segmentations		Radiologist
Macro-scale	Gait pattern animation, original video sequence, helical axes of knee joint motion	Gait pattern graphics, e.g. joint angles, EMG signals	Biomechanical engineer
Abstract scale	-	Anatomical structure, relation among evidences, other derived knowledge	Computer scientist, Generic

Table 4.2: Classification of the data with respect to *scale of data, visualization suitability* and *user profiles*.

The importance of the visualization suitability has emerged during the written query to the specialists (c.f. Sec. 3.6) regarding their wishes and considerations for a multi-scale environment. In such a query, specialists highlighted the need for a tight integration of scientific visualization with information visualization. Therefore it has been important to identify the data sets according to the visualization suitability.

Different kinds of specialists contribute with their data and expertise to the exploration of musculoskeletal diseases. All of them have their own *user profile* in the multi-scale environment. Thus, the users fall into five main groups, depending on their field or medical specialty:

- Radiologist,
- tissue engineer,
- biomechanical engineer,
- *computer scientist*, or
- generic.

The first three types of users contribute to the environment by supplying data of a specific scale. The computer scientist organizes the information and has an important role in the multi-scale visualization as well as in the inference of abstract knowledge. Generic is the profile of a physician interested in an overall view. The use of user profiles is required to reach the scientist-centered visualizations. The visualization environment has to satisfy not only the integration of data of any nature, but also the customization of the view according to the level of interest in a given data set of the user - scientist.

The aforementioned parameters, encoded in the multi-scale ontology (see Sec. 4.4), allow the positioning of the multi-scale data on the visualization scene in a suitable way according to their visualization properties as well as the user interests (see next section).

4.3 VISUALIZATION ENVIRONMENT

The proposed approach of visualization environment is based on the data sets as main actors. Each data set is encapsulated in a node which has a geometric shape as a hollow cube or half-sphere. The data set is presented inside the node with the most suitable visualization technique, independently of its SciVis or InfoVis nature, allowing for a consistent representation (Fig. 4.3).



Figure 4.3: Diverse examples of representation of data sets by means of nodes, according to the most suitable visualization technique encoded in the visualization suitability parameter.

Those nodes are distributed in a *3D multilayered environment*, allowing for a direct exploration of all the data. Nodes provide perceptually semantic means to understand information contained in the nodes as well as their relationships. Visual cues play an important role in the presentation of relations among data sets. Thus, the nodes are positioned on one of these *layers* and are connected through *visual links*:

• The *3D multilayered environment* is composed of layers whose distance between each other is uniform. The *layers*, distinguished by their *z*-

order, are *focus*, *context* and *background* (Fig. 4.4). They group the nodes with the same spatial scale, i.e. data from each spatial scale (i.e. *micro*, *medium* and *macro*) are positioned on one of these layers.

- *Focus* constitutes the main scale of interest of the user. Data sets with InfoVis and SciVis suitabilities are linked and visualized on the foreground.
- *Context* is placed behind and aims to provide context to the data on the focus layer with data coming from a contiguous spatial scale.
- Background is the last layer, and completes the general view across all the spatial ranges.



Figure 4.4: Focus, context and background layers.

This approach allows the data sets to be presented and explored independently of their spatial dimensions, alleviating the differences in the order of magnitude of data.

• *Visual links* between nodes represent semantic relations across data sets, extracted by the *abstract scale* provided by the multi-scale ontology. These visual cues can take different forms by means of arrows.

The position of the nodes on these layers depends on the main scale of the *user profile*. Given the main scale for the user, the nodes corresponding to this scale are positioned on the *focus layer*, containing either *SciVis* or *InfoVis* data for the scale. The integration of the adjacent scales depends on their spatial proximity. Data belonging to the most adjacent scale is positioned on the *context layer*, and the data of the furthest scale is placed on the *background layer*.

The 3D multilayered environment is realized in a form of a thin-client based on the Unity software framework [104]. Unity is a cross-platform game engine with a built-in integrated development environment (IDE) for the development of visualization scenes. Each scene is composed of *objects* (e.g. camera, light, or every visible geometrical shape) which are configured by adding components and setting their properties to the appropriate values. The scripting of such configuration has been developed in C#.



Figure 4.5: Examples of *TemporalNode, Arrow* and *ImageNode* in the Unity IDE and in the final scene.

The most representative objects in this environment are *nodes* and *arrows* (Fig. 4.5):

- *Node*: It contains an encapsulated data set. Physical appearance of those nodes can be hollow cube or half-sphere meshes (Fig. 4.6). The concrete selection of the shape will depend on the application (see Sec. 4.8). Node constitutes a super class for the following types of nodes:
 - *ImageNode* contains an encapsulated image.
 - *SetImageNode* contains a set of superimposed images, e.g. a set of histological images. Automatically or by interaction, the image can be changed to the next one.
 - *3DNode* encapsulates data for volume visualization, e.g. CT of knee joint.
 - *InfoVisNode* contains InfoVis data (e.g. gait pattern graphics). Graphs values can be interactively explored.



Figure 4.6: Different physical appearances of nodes: hollow cube and half-sphere.

- *TemporalNode* contains a data set which has temporal dimension (e.g. video of motion capture). The node incorporates means to modify the speed of the representation.
- *Arrow* relates nodes. By using a mesh developed under the appearance of an arrow, it creates a relationship between the two nodes indicated.

Each of these objects have been developed in Unity₃D by means of *prefabs*. A prefab acts a template from which new object instances can be created in the same scene. In such objects, the data sets already rendered by means of a distributed rendering system are inserted (see Sec. 4.5).

The creation of the scene, i.e. selection of the rendering worker entity to render a data set, positioning of nodes on the layers as well as arrows between nodes, is dynamically performed, and described in Sec. 4.5. The properties for the creation of the visualization scene are extracted from the ontology which supports the visualization (see next section).

4.4 SUPPORT OF VISUALIZATION BASED ON KNOWLEDGE FORMALIZA-TION

The proposed framework combining the exploratory system and the multiscale ontology [13] (c.f. Sec. 3.4) controls the presentation of the data to appear in the multi-scale visualization environment. The multi-scale ontology leverages the multi-scale biomedical knowledge, which encodes the aforementioned parameters which classify the data (c.f. Sec. 4.2), as well as others (e.g. location of resources, pathological relations among data sets...). The information from the multi-scale ontology will subsequently allow the extraction of the necessary visualization parameters for the creation and customization of the visualization scene (see Sec. 4.5).

In the following subsections, the support provided by knowledge formalization is described. First, the multi-scale knowledge is defined, which contains information regarding the biomedical domains that study musculoskeletal articulation of a human body and the related musculoskeletal diseases. This knowledge is formalized and encoded by means of the multi-scale ontology, which focuses on the multi-scale degradation process features occuring at different scales. Third, the extraction of information by means of queries to the ontology determines semantically relevant data and information for the multi-scale visualization environment. Finally, the knowledge formalization support is demonstrated in an example related to the musculoskeletal diseases.

Multi-scale biomedical knowledge

The knowledge to be formalized focuses in this context on biomedical domains that study musculoskeletal articulation of a human body and related musculoskeletal diseases, restricted to the region around the knee. The multi-scale biomedical knowledge serves as *medical data repository* and *framework for storing common knowledge* [35, 149]:

- As a digital patient medical record, the multi-scale biomedical knowledge documents a medical case in which a patient underwent an operation on meniscus in a knee. Thus, it contains personal data (e.g. patient ID, sex, birthdate) as well as a plethora of information from different acquisition sessions and analysis. For instance, they can be the stack of MRI images before and after surgery, detailed information about the mechanical properties of the meniscus, a history of the gait pattern both pre- and post-operative as well as a simulation model of the knee articulation. All these data come from different spatial scales (cellular, molecular, organic, behavior) and reside in the multi-scale biomedical knowledge.
- The multi-scale biomedical knowledge also contains generic knowledge that is necessary for diagnostics and follow up reports, e.g. from *biomedical domains* such as tissue engineering, radiology and biomechanical engineering. The knowledge can be generic (e.g. anatomy) or established from given facts. A typical example would be the fact that bone erosion caused a pathology that resulted in an abnormal gait pattern. This knowledge serves as a common framework for knowledge discovery among different medical specialists working simultaneously on the same medical case.

The users of the multi-scale biomedical knowledge fall into the 5 main groups already indicated: generic, radiologist, tissue engineer, biomechanical engineer, and computer scientist. Different users have different levels of interest in these data. For example, a radiologist is more interested in studying MRI images, a tissue engineer in studying mechanical properties of the meniscus, and a biomedical engineer specialized in human motion in analyzing the gait pattern.

The representation of the multi-scale biomedical knowledge requires techniques coming from both subfields SciVis and InfoVis (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3). InfoVis techniques cover derived knowledge, anatomical structure, comparison and diagnosis procedures; while SciVis focuses on physical acquisitions.

In this context, note that the *visualization* field also collaborates towards the analysis of the multi-scale data sets. Thus, this information is also included in the generic common knowledge. Clear examples are the suitability of visualization techniques of the multi-scale data and levels of users' interest in those data, used for the creation and customization of the scene in the multi-scale environment.

Multi-scale ontology

The formalization of the aforementioned multi-scale biomedical knowledge is encoded in the multi-scale ontology [13], which acts as a driver for data management. Thus, the ontology formalizes relationships between multiscale data, patients, techniques, user profiles and relevant visualization parameters. The general structure of the ontology focuses on multi-scale degradation process features occuring at different scales. A general overview of the multi-scale ontology applied to the multi-scale visualization environment [35] is represented in Fig. 4.7.



Figure 4.7: Graph representation of the multi-scale ontology (source [35]).

The representation of the ontology [35] is given by means of a labelled directed graph $G = \{V, E\}$, where nodes $(V = \{C, I\})$ are concepts (C) and instances (I) of concepts, and edges $E = \{R, is a\}$. R are relations between instances and "is a" represents a relation between instances and concepts. G is labeled with $l : V \mapsto L$, which maps nodes to the corresponding labels (L, labels of concepts, individuals and relations).

Concepts (C) include:

- Patient: Subject identifier.
- Data: Data set identifier (e.g. resource location).
- Spatiotemporal scale: Its instances (I) can be "micro-scale", "medium-scale", "macro-scale" or "abstract scale" (c.f. Sec. 4.2).
- Visualization technique: The appropriate technique to be used for the representation of a concrete data set (c.f. Sec. 4.2).
- User profile: Its instances can be "Radiologist", "Tissue engineer", "Biomechanical engineer", "Computer scientist", or "Generic" (c.f. Sec. 4.2).
- Degradation Process Feature (DPF): Characteristic evidenced in a pathology. For example, instances of a DPF in a musculoskeletal disease can be "Cellular change", "Loss of biomechanical function",



Figure 4.8: Instances of degradation process feature (source [35]).

"MRI evidence"" and "Alteration in gait pattern". Those instances are represented as a graph in Fig. 4.8.

- Source of evidence (SOE): Origin that reveals a DPF. For example, "Joint stiffness" and "Joint weakness" are instances of SOE. They evidence the DPF "Alteration in gait pattern".
- Technique: Procedure which obtains a data set and measures a SOE. For example, "EMG" (i.e. electromyography) is a technique, and is used for the measurement of the SOE "Joint stiffness".

The last three concepts listed fundamentally formalizes the propagation of degradation process features in hierarchical pathologies. Thus, multi-scale DPFs that may cause one another DPF (cause, caused⁻¹ \in R), are evidenced (evidenced \in R) by SOEs which in turn are measured (measured \in R) by different techniques. For a complete example, see Sec. 4.6.

Implementation and use

The extraction of information from the multi-scale ontology supports the presentation of the data in the multi-scale environment. In this approach, exploiting a graph representation of the ontology, relevant items are identified as results of queries to the ontology. In the following, the overall process starting from the generation of the ontology until the extraction of information for the multi-scale environment is briefly described [150]:

- First, *multi-scale biomedical knowledge is encoded* in an ontology [13], implemented in OWL [45]. It stores initially *common knowledge* consisting of:
 - Conceptual hierarchies, e.g. human anatomy, patient information, data, acquisition techniques, visualization properties, degradation process features and sources of evidence.
 - Relations between these concepts: patients undergoing acquisitions sessions, causal relationships between DPFs. The causality previously indicated between DPF and SOE is modeled as OWL axioms, which allows to interconnect concepts.

- Second, the ontology performs *the management of data*. The ontology starts to act as a medical data repository by instantiating the corresponding classes of the ontology. This allows to record systematically the knowledge and data about a given patient, e.g. the undergone acquisitions, the acquisitions protocols indicating which acquisition sessions were performed, the data sets which were acquired and the anatomical entities they represent, and relations of data sets to sources of evidence which they hint to.
- Third, *semantic querying* is performed to obtain information from the ontology. SPARQL (SPARQL Protocol and RDF Query Language) is an ontology querying language, which uses graph pattern matching techniques to evaluate answers [172, 194]. Another variant is to transform the populated ontology into a directed graph and then extract context information by using graph traversal techniques starting from the seed node provided by the user [150]. Finally, the graph representation of the query contains nodes instances as well as inferred relations between them.

Queries to the ontology can retrieve all the relevant information of a given patient for the representation in the visualization environment. Examples (expressed in English language) are "Which are all the *Data* that concern a specific *patient*?"), and the techniques used ("Which is the *technique* that obtains specific *Data*?"). For a complete illustrative example, see the next subsection.

Note that extended details of the features of the multi-scale ontology system are not the scope of this work. They can be found in the work titled "Multi-scale biological knowledge formalization: definition, properties, and applications" [34].

• Finally, the exploratory system carries out the *obtaining of requests for the visualization composition*. Answers to queries are represented as subgraphs, and are encoded as JSON documents (Fig. 4.9) [33]. They are served to the exploratory system in order to create the visualization scene (more details in Sec. 4.5).

Example

The support provided by the ontology allows for obtaining all necessary visualization parameters for positioning the different spatiotemporal data sets on the scene and their proper representation. Examples of those queries related to visualization (expressed in English language) are "In which *Spatiotemporal scale* a given *DPF* is placed?", "Which *Visualization technique* visualizes the given *Data*?"). Accordingly, in the visualization environment, the data sets are positioned on the corresponding layer and rendered by a concrete rendering worker type (c.f. Sec. 4.3).

In order to illustrate this support, consider that the knowledge depicted in Fig. 4.10 is formalized, as described previously in this section (c.f. Fig. 4.7).



Figure 4.9: JSON representation of answer to the query (source [150]).

This figure represents some factors involved in the degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis. As indicated previously, each DPF is evidenced by SOEs and those are measured by certain techniques. The data are also classified according its spatiotemporal scale.

Subsequently, data regarding a patient is provided to the ontology. For instance, "Patient 231086" has undergone different acquision sessions (e.g. MRI, gait pattern) and different analyses have been performed (e.g. molecular, celular and tissue analyses of his damaged meniscus). The techniques used to obtain the data are:

- Knee angle patterns during gait analysis.
- EMG during gait analysis.
- MRI scanning.
- Nano-indentation of cartilage of meniscus.
- Histological analysis of cartilage.
- Live/Dead cell analysis, for analyzing the metabolic activity.
- Polymerase chain reaction (PCR), for analyzing the gene profile, at molecular level.

Figure 4.10 indicates the SOEs measured with the aforementioned techniques, the DPFs evidenced with such SOEs, as well as the spatiotemporal scales in which those DPFs take place. For example, an excerpt of the multiscale knowledge is expressed in English as: "Patient 231086 is a patient which concerns the following Data: MRI 231086, EMG231086, KneeAngle231086, Histology231086...".

The query expressed in English as: "Which are all the Data that concerns Patient 231086?" is expressed in SPARQL, which evaluates queries by using graph pattern matching techniques (Fig. 4.11) [172]. The results of these queries are used to identify semantically relevant items to support visualization, shown in [35].



Figure 4.10: Some factors involved in the degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis. Each DPF is placed on a corresponding spatiotemporal scale, and is evidenced by several SOEs, which are measured by certain technique (source [35]).



Figure 4.11: SPARQL evaluation of the query "Which are all the Data that concerns Patient 231086?" (source A. Agibetov in the context of [35]).

Figure 4.11 is an example of a graph pattern match from the "Query graph" to the "Knowledge Base graph". Note that bound variables were matched exactly ones and to the nodes with the same value. Also note that since the variable "?data" is unbound, then it could be matched to any of the "Knee Angle 231086", "EMG231086", "MRI231086", "Histology231086". Therefore there are four possible pattern matches. By means of this illustrative query, all the data regarding the patient have been retrieved for its visualization.

Consider a visualization scene of representing data of the patient "Patient 231086" by a user with the "Tissue Engineer" profile. In the following, queries are analogously matched and their visual results are presented during the visualization scene composition.

First, the data of the patient is obtained, as detailed above (Fig. 4.12). Next, the visualization techniques of the data are obtained (Fig. 4.13), therefore allowing the visualization system to process their presentation. Figures 4.14- 4.16 illustrate the obtaining of the corresponding SOE and DPF related to each data set, moving upward in the conceptual hierarchy by means of the relations of the ontology among these concepts depicted in Fig. 4.10. Subsequently, the spatiotemporal scale related to each data set is obtained. Thus, the visualization system can place the respective data sets on diferent layers, as described in Sec. 4.3. As the user profile is "Tissue Engineer", the focus layer is the micro-scale, the context layer corresponds with medium-scale and the background is the macro-scale. Finally, Figs. 4.17- 4.19 introduce by means of arrows the relations between the sources of evidences which proof the different cartilage degradation process features represented by the available data sets.

Knee_angle_231086	
EMG_231086	MRI_231086 indentation_231086
Live/Death_2310	Histology_231086 186 PCR_231086
Patient: 231086	

Figure 4.12: 1. - Which are all the data that concerns Patient 231086? (source [35])



Figure 4.13: 2. - For the previously obtained data, what are the visualization techniques which visualize them? (source [35])



Figure 4.14: 3. - By which technique were the data in question obtained? (technique accordingly to Fig. 4.10) (source [35])



Figure 4.15: 4. - For the previously evaluated techniques, which SOEs did they measure? And for those SOEs, which DPFs did they evidence? (source [35])



Figure 4.16: 5. - For the obtained DPFs, which are the spatiotemporal scales they are placed? (source [35])



Figure 4.17: 6. - Filter only those DPFs that are of interest for a "Tissue Engineer" (source [35]).



Figure 4.18: 7. - Extract the relationships "causes" between SOEs (c.f. Fig. 4.7) (source [35]).



Figure 4.19: 8. - Extract the relationships "causes" between DPFs (c.f. Fig. 4.7) (source [35]).

4.5 ARCHITECTURE

The overall exploratory system is specifically designed to be used by several users working remotely with large amounts of biomedical data. Its underlying architecture addresses portability and multi-platform design requirements as well as network data transfer (streaming and caching) [192]. The distributed rendering scheme and the interconnection with the multi-scale ontology allows the subsequent composition of the visualization scene.

Overall architecture

The visualization environment accesses various network resources in order to provide the scene to the user. In order to perform the composition of the scene, the system connects with the multi-scale ontology, the data repository and the distributed rendering system (Fig. 4.20).



Figure 4.20: Overall architecture.

The *visualization environment system* has been realized by means of a thin client which connects network resources. Consequently, the system can remain scalable with respect to an increasing number of simultaneous users as well as with respect to the complexity of multi-scale data sets. The visualization environment, developed under the multi-platform Unity software framework [104], allows the user to employ it in different desktop platforms or other devices.

Requests to the *multi-scale ontology* yield all relevant multi-scale biomedical information (e.g. location of resources, visualization properties of resources) of a biomedical case to present to the user (c.f. Sec. 4.4). Those requests constitute the first step in order to create the visualization scene.

The *distributed rendering system* generates the visualization scene from several data sets rendered on separate rendering worker entities. Thus, the system is able to deal effectively with massive data sets. The visualization
system connects to a rendering worker entity, which renders the data set and sends it to the multi-scale environment.

The *interaction system* provides the multimodal interaction involving a combination of hand gestures, haptic interaction and traditional input. It constitutes a part of the exploratory environment and is described briefly in Sec. 4.9.

Architecture of the exploratory system

In the following, the architecture of the exploratory system is described more in detail (Fig. 4.21). The *visualization environment* system connects with the *multi-scale ontology* through encrypted HTTPS protocol to ensure the security of the connection. As a result of each query, a JSON document is returned consisting of a list of data sets (each representing data from a single acquisition) together with, among other properties, the corresponding location of such resources in the *data repository*.



Figure 4.21: Architecture of the exploratory system.

Those data sets are going to be generated by means of the *distributed rendering system*. Thus, the visualization environment connects to a *rendering worker* entity, which acts as an active proxy between the visualization environment (client) and the data repository. An appropriate rendering worker according to the type of data set subsequently renders it and sends it to the environment for the composition of the visualization scene.

Rendering workers can support different types of rendering (Fig. 4.22):

• *3D workers* render volumetric representation of data sets. This group of workers receive as input the location of resources and visualization



Figure 4.22: Examples of renders performed by several rendering workers: *STL worker* representing a part of the cartilage of meniscus, *VTK worker* representing a knee joint, *InfoVis worker* representing the pore size distribution of cartilage. Note that the background is going to be transparent when inserting those renders in nodes.

and view parameters, and returns the image of the file already rendered. Regarding their implementation, workers were developed by employing the open-source toolkit VTK [23] for Cocoa (native API for the OS X operating system) under the IDE XCode [26]. Three types of 3D workers have been developed so far:

- DICOM worker reads the format file standard in medical imaging DICOM [28] and renders it. The worker is adapted for reading the stack of files from CT, MRI and for performing the ray casting algorithm.
- VTK worker reads and renders VTK file formats. Those formats offer a consistent data representation scheme for a variety of data set types, including texture and volumetric data [24].
- STL worker reads and renders the STL file format [20]. STL defines the surface geometry of 3D objects, and is widely used for producing models or prototypes in computer-aided manufacturing and 3D printing.
- *InfoVis workers* render files with InfoVis content. It has been developed under the InfoVis toolkit [78], and uses Chromium [2] as HTML rendering engine.
- Other workers are *Image, SetImage and Temporal workers,* rendering images, groups of them, and videos, respectively. These rendering workers, which do not require extensive computational power in comparison with the rendering of volumes, are directly integrated as a part of the visualization client.

The central part of the architecture is the *visualization environment* (c.f. Sec. 4.3). The decision to build upon the framework Unity was made in order to address multi-platform and scalability challenges. Unity is well known for its lightweightness, modularity and extendability [234]. In addition, the portability between platforms favors the use of the system in whatever

environment where the different users are, independently from operating system (e.g. PC, Linux, Mac, iOS, Android) or hardware (e.g. 3D screen, 2D screen, portable tablet devices).

Note the correspondence between the types of rendering workers here described and the nodes - objects of the visualization environment (c.f. Sec. 4.3). The nodes of the scene request the rendering and subsequently encapsulate the results performed by the different rendering worker entities. The nodes generate the request by means of an Uniform Resource Identifier (URI) including location of resources and visualization properties (Code 4.1). With this approach, the visualization environment system does not try to download massive data sets from the data repository and render it. Instead, the processing power needed to render complex and large data sets is parallelized between different rendering workers, which can run on different machines.

```
scheme://host:port/path?query
http://localhost:8081/_stl/cartilage.stl?view_parameters;resolution_x;
    resolution_y
```

Code 4.1: Generic syntax of URI and application to a rendering request.

Following up with the description of the elements of Fig. 4.21, the *task manager* monitors the use of rendering workers' resources and balances the load of rendering requests from the visualization environment. This is especially relevant when interacting with contents. For instance, moving or applying zoom-in on a content or several contents might imply new renderings. Referring to the example depicted in Fig. 4.23, the manipulation of a node in the scene causes the generation of hundreds of new URL



Figure 4.23: Rendering workers and visualization composition in the architecture of the exploratory system.

requests. This rendering is fast enough such that the user perceives an effective interaction (c.f. Sec. 2.1.1).

The *cache manager* stores data that had been requested by rendering workers before, in order to avoid the misuse of processing power. Data repositories can be spread geographically, so that data are stored as close to the rendering workers as possible, within the limit of the local area network, in the way similar to web proxy servers.

Composition of the visualization scene

In the previous subsection, the description has been focused on the distributed rendering process in the exploratory system. However, parameters which classify the data (c.f. Sec. 4.2) and have been saved in the multi-scale ontology (c.f. Sec. 4.4) participate also in the creation of the visualization scene (e.g. selection of the rendering technique, position of nodes on the layers). In the following, the whole process of composition of the scene from information obtained from the multi-scale ontology is described [150] (schematically depicted in Fig. 4.24).



Figure 4.24: Process for the visualization composition (source [150]).

• Appearance of multi-scale data sets

Initially, the collected information from ontology in the JSON document is visually displayed in the multi-scale visualization environment by means of nodes or visual links (c.f. Sec. 4.3) according to the attribute *spatiotemporal scale*. Data sets from *micro-scale, medium-scale* and *macro-scale* have a visual representation as nodes. Those diverse nodes encapsulate diverse types of data (2D, 3D, InfoVis...) consistently for a simultaneous exploration of heterogeneous data. Each node has an associated URI leading to a related data set, which is retrieved in the data repository and requested to be rendered by a rendering worker entity. On the other hand, information from the *abstract scale* can be used for representing nodes or for the creation of perceptual cues in the relations between such nodes in order to enrich the understanding of the complete collection of data. They can have a node representation, e.g. nodes with a neutral representation and a label are used to represent anatomical entities, or an arrow representation which links nodes in order to indicate semantic relations across data sets, e.g. causes between SOEs and DPFs (Fig. 4.25). Examples for visual cues include:

- Colored arrows between nodes indicate relations between nodes,
 e.g. causes between SOEs in the cartilage degradation process.
- Tooltips provide additional information, e.g. on the acquisition protocol performed to obtain the data set.



Figure 4.25: Extended view of the resulting visualization (source [150]).

• Selection of the rendering technique

Subsequently, data nodes are rendered by an appropriate rendering worker entity (e.g. *3D*, *Infovis workers*) according to the visualization parameters. The visualization system identifies the visualization technique and settings to be used from the description of the data as inferred from the ontology.

The obtaining of the visualization suitability of a given data set can be defined by the mapping [150]:

 $(AP, PD, CP, DR) \mapsto (VT, S),$

where the entries in the tuple on the left denote the acquisition protocol, the processed data, the calculated parameter values and the data representation, respectively. Similarly, the tuple on the right hand side denotes the visualization technique and settings.

For instance, in Fig. 4.25, the femoral cartilage thickness is visualized as a manifold surface mesh obtained after processing a MRI scan. Here DR=*ManifoldSurfaceMesh* and PR=*CartilageThickness* leads to VT=*VTKViewer* and S=*Colormap*. Therefore, a *VTK worker* is employed with visual settings for using a color map to indicate thickness in the cartilage.

• Positioning of data sets

Finally, the visualization scene is created and nodes are positioned on the multilayered environment (c.f. Sec. 4.3). The layers encompasses nodes with the same spatial scale. The allocation of a node on a layer depends on the spatiotemporal scale of the data set and the interest of the user in that scale (attributes *spatiotemporal scale* and *user profile*) (c.f. Sec. 4.4). Nodes on focus layer are visualized on the foreground, constituting the main scale of interest for the user; nodes on the context layer are placed behind, aiming to provide context to the data on the focus layer; and nodes on the background complete the general view across all the spatial ranges.

4.6 EXAMPLE OF USE: ANALYSIS OF MUSCULOSKELETAL DISEASES

The study of diseases affecting the musculoskeletal articulation, such as osteoarthritis of the knee joint, requires a challenging visualization of biomedical data (c.f. Sec. 2.3.1), demanding both the multimodal and multi-scale requirements (c.f. Sec. 2.3.2). Data are acquired from different acquisition modalities and distributed over multiple spatial scales: The gathered data sets can contain, among others, chondrocytes death analyses of the meniscus (cellular scale), MRI and CT images of the knee joint (organic scale) and gait pattern analyses (behavior scale). The data extracted from such acquisitions has not only different spatial dimensions, but also diverse visualization properties: Some of these are presented as 3D models, images or through InfoVis representations, such as graphs or diagrams. The data collection and analysis require experts from different specialties: Biomechanical engineers, radiologists and tissue engineers contribute with their data and expertise.

The presentation and exploration of this plethora of information quickly becomes complex for any specialist working on the biomedical case. First, experts use isolated systems allowing only the exploration of features involving a concrete specialty and scale but not the complete picture. Second, the existing multimodal exploratory systems are based on traditional standard interfaces, which do not allow a flexible exploration of multi-scale data. For instance, radiologists analyze the MRI by using 3D volumetric viewers, and separately tissue engineers make use of data analysis tools. And finally, specialists lack of an exploratory environment to efficiently support the analysis of causality across evidences from different scales (c.f. Secs. 2.3.3, 2.7).

The example focuses on the workflow of the biologist investigating osteoarthritis. Based on established knowledge about the pathology, the biologist formulates and validates hypotheses using the evidences obtained in the experiments by means of quantitative methods and statistics. However, the visualization employed during the traditional exploration methodology (described later in this section) does not facilitate this task, as after performing such experiments and statistical analyses, current visualizations to explore data do not constitute an effective tool for the observation of the complete collection of evidences and results encompassing all the data involved.

In the following sections, the example of use is described. First, the essential features of osteoarthritis are described. Second, the traditional methodology of investigation applied by biologists is summarized. Finally, the aforementioned methodology will motivate the proposal for an integrated exploratory system for automatizing the organization and exploration of experimental data applied to the example [150].

Osteoarthritis as a multi-scale pathology

Osteoarthritis is an example of hierarchical pathology of multi-scale nature (c.f. Sec. 2.3.2). Degradation features at the cellular level propagate upwards through molecular, macromolecular, and tissue level, causing finally the alteration in gait pattern [38, 88]. It firstly and mostly affects the articular cartilage, causing its complete degeneration [88, 107].



Figure 4.26: Degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis (source [150]).

The articular cartilage degradation during osteoarthritis is graphically summarized in Fig. 4.26. Changes of the cellular behaviour (e.g. death of chondrocytes, dedifferentiation and hypertrophy or catabolic/anabolic reactivation) is a common feature of an osteoarthritic cartilage [141]. These evidences can be obtained through analysis of cross-sectional histology and cell viability assays [168]. The altered cellular behavior consequently causes the loss of the biomechanical function, due to the disruption of the macromolecular tissue network, which results in increased compressive stiffness and eventually in the softening of the cartilage, evidenced by variations in the mechanical properties, e.g. by using nano-indentation techniques. In more advanced phases the cartilage degradation can also be observed on MRI as thinning and progressive loss of cartilage at the organic scale. Finally, at the behavioral scale, this degenerative process reaches the gait pattern [38], causing weakness or overactivation of certain surrounded muscles, evidenced by electromyography (EMG). These facts lead to variations of joint stiffness and range of motion of the knee.

Traditional methodology of exploration

Initially, the biologist speculates with a hypothesis regarding the osteoarthritis and its cartilage degradation. An example could be the following [150]: "The cytokine induced cell death and shift in metabolic activity will result in the disruption of ECM integrity and inappropriate mechanical function of the cartilage." Such a hypothesis requires the investigation on several information sources, and their established relationships have to be considered. In the given example, the cell death has to be investigated on live/dead and histological assays, while the degeneration of cartilage can be seen on histology as well as on the MRI at the organic scale.

In order to analyze the validity of such a hypothesis, numerous acquisition sessions are performed (e.g. MRI of lower extremity, and micro-CT and cross-sectional histology of meniscus), producing a large amount of multi-scale and multimodal data.



Figure 4.27: Examples of traditional methodology of exploration. At the top, acquisition of micro-CT of meniscus (scanner SkyScan [19]), obtaining of structural properties (with the software CTAn [3]) and visualization of 3D mesh model (Meshlab [11]). On the bottom, preparation of cartilage slices, and acquisition and visualization of histological images. Those both pipelines of different sources do not converge.

During the analysis of the acquired data, some data are processed (e.g. segmentation of MRI scans for 3D reconstruction of bones), allowing for obtaining several charaterization parameters (e.g. structural properties such

as cartilage thickness from a 3D mesh modeling patient's meniscus). The analysis of the biologist are manually registered in a log book including the protocols, the steps of their optimization and also the results. This process of data collection is very time-consuming, and as a consequence of the heterogeneity of the data sets, which are often treated separately from each other, the results may be misinterpreted or treated without taking all the aspects into consideration (Fig. 4.27).

In order to interpret the data, the biologist first performs a statistical analysis and then evaluates if the acquired data supports the assumption. Only after the assessment of all data, the given hypothesis may either be supported by the data that satisfies the causality assumptions, or may be refuted.

The visualization systems used for such analyses are isolated and allow the exploration of features involving a concrete data type. However, the presentation of the complete collection of information sources to one single view is not possible. Moreover, the established relationships among different parameters obtained from the data sets are only in the log books or in biologist's mind, but not together with the data sets in one picture.

Proposed exploration

Addressing the lack of a global exploration in the traditional approach, the framework proposed in this chapter allows a direct and meaningful exploration of all related data sets of interest for the biologist during the analysis of hypotheses in osteoarthritis.

In the following, the process flow until the presentation of the data is summarized. Heteregeneous data are classified according the parameters referred in Sec. 4.2. This information is stored in the multi-scale ontology, which supports the visualization, as detailed in Sec. 4.4. The architecture makes feasible the extraction of information from the ontology as well as the distributed rendering, as indicated in Sec. 4.5. Finally, the visualization environment, presented in Sec. 4.3, allows the presentation of information sources from the entire range of scales and their known relationships.

First, *heteregeneous data are classified* according to the parameters referred in Sec. 4.2. Each DPF, denoted by large oval boxes in Fig. 4.26, such as "loss of biomechanical function", is evidenced by several SOEs, e.g. "swelling". Moreover each DPF is typically placed on a specific *spatiotemporal scale* (indicated with orange font). The arrows indicate how SOEs affect each other. Finally, some SOEs are associated with corresponding techniques, e.g. "nano-indentation of cartilage".

Second, all this information is stored in the *multi-scale ontology*, as detailed in Sec. 4.4. The information is categorized identically as in the example depicted in Fig. 4.10; Fig. 4.26 constitutes an evolution of the previous figure including a more complete number of factors involved in the articular cartilage degradation during osteoarthritis. Thus, the multi-scale biomedical knowledge consists of the features of the degradation process, their



Figure 4.28: Example of multi-scale visualization environment for exploration of multi-scale data of knee joint.

relationships and the aforementioned information sources as evidence of the features, as depicted in Fig. 4.7.

Third, the *architecture of the exploratory system* makes feasible the extraction of information from the ontology and the composition of the visualization scene. Thus, features such as location of resources, visualization techniques and settings are sent to the distributed rendering scheme, which performs the rendering of the data sets (c.f. Sec. 4.5).

Finally, *the visualization environment* (c.f. Sec. 4.3) allows the presentation of the data sets from the entire range of scales as well as their known relationships needed to be explored (Figs. 4.28- 4.33). The 3D multilayered visualization environment presents the data sets as a network of spatially distributed and interconnected nodes. This allows the simultaneous access, proper visualization and natural exploration of heterogeneous data across domains of medical knowledge, facilitating the task of a specialist to explore hypotheses from a large perspective, as visual results from the performed analyses can be presented in one single environment. This kind of view also contributes to the formulation of new hypotheses, which would lead to perform new quantitative and statistical analyses.

In detail, the following figures represent examples of the multi-scale environment with multi-scale data of knee joint. Data coming from cellular, organic and behavior scales are placed on *focus* (knee joint, 3D reconstruction of micro-CT scan of cartilage of meniscus, graphs associated, and histological images of meniscus), *context* (MRI of knee) and *background* (gait motion analysis) layers.

Data sets from each spatiotemporal scale (i.e. micro, medium and macro) are encapsulated in nodes and positioned on one of these layers, which are distinguished by their z-order. As the user profile is biologist, micro-scale

data are positioned on the *focus* layer, constituting the main scale of interest. Medium-scale data is place behind on the *context* layer, and macro-scale data in *background*, which is the last layer, least seen and less important, completing the general view across all the spatiotemporal ranges. The use of this representation alleviates the differences in the order of magnitude of data, and allows the direct extraction of information from the context. In addition, the rendering of data sets in independent nodes allows a consistent representation for heterogeneous data. The abstract scale is represented by arrows in the relations between nodes, indicating spatial origin of InfoVis sources, as well as the hierarchy of evidences which proof the different cartilage degradation process features represented by the available data sets.

The navigation on the environment is immersive, as the environment is shown in stereoscopic and full screen mode, in which data sets encapsulated in hollow cubes can be manipulated by performing actions on the nodes, e.g. motion, rotation (Fig. 4.33), zoom-in/out (see Sec. 4.9).



Figure 4.29: Multi-scale visualization environment for exploration of knee joint related data, including only the *focus* layer.



Figure 4.30: *Focus* and *context* layers.



Figure 4.31: Focus, context and background layers.



Figure 4.32: Arrows indicating SOEs, DPFs and origin of sources.



Figure 4.33: Exploration of the cartilage thickness.

4.7 EVALUATION

A controlled experiment was performed in order to obtain initial feedback from the potential users about the visual features proposed within the multiscale visualization approach. This preliminary evaluation was performed during an initial phase of the development of the environment, which has been published in [192]. This section extends the description of the design of this evaluation and the obtained results.

Purpose

The aim of the experiment was to analyze if and to what extent the proposed visualization features for the multi-scale visualization environment are comfortable to the user with respect to some traditional visualization features, generally used for the exploration of multi-scale biomedical data sets (c.f. Sec. 3.2). The observed features are listed as below in Table 4.3:

	1	5
Exploration features	Traditional approach	Proposed approach
E1. Representation of data sets	Tree list structure	Nodes displaying data sets
E2. Container shape of data set	Rectangle	Circle
E3. Transparency of container	Opaque	Semi-transparent
E4. Visualization style	Flat desktop	3D workspace
E5. Preservation of spatial dimensions among data sets	Yes (placeholders)	Not (non-linear depth)
E6. Display technique	3D Monoscopic	3D Stereoscopic
E7. Context preservation among SciVis and InfoVis views	None	Visual links
E8. Context information of data sets	Label description	Visual links

Table 4.3: Exploration features under analysis.

This preliminary analysis of the user comfort with the aforementioned features focuses on the exploration of multi-scale biomedical data sets. Therefore the participants were chosen among scientists which are familiar with the exploration of those biomedical data sets. Those scientists were asked to perform a sequence of tasks related to the exploration of multi-scale data in a controlled protocol, in which different visualization features appeared. The analysis of the users' preference led to point out the convenience and significance of the proposed visualization approaches.

Participant group

The participants were selected among members of the groups addressed in the design of the system. The test group comprised 13 graduates from the fields of: computer graphics (7 participants), biomechanical engineering (4 participants), physics (2 participants). The test group was composed of 9 men and 4 women aged 20 to 31 years (avg. 25.23yr std. 3.14).

The participants were tested for color vision deficiencies via an Ishihara test [110], and no disorders were found.

Setup

The visualization environment was performed on a computer MacBook Pro [10], including external keyboard and mouse. The visualization display was also external, concretely, a passive stereoscopic display Miracube Full HD (24 ", ratio 16:10 [12]) with 3D glasses. The test was conducted under stable artificial light conditions (Fig. 4.34).

Protocol

Eight scenarios were designed to evaluate each pair of the features directly related to visualization (one extra is related to interaction, giving a total of 9 scenarios, see [192]), defined in Table 4.4. Each scenario was evaluated twice, firstly using a condition associated with the feature A, and then with the feature B, while other conditions remained unchanged during each scenario. All these 16 cases, were performed twice, by using two interaction techniques (mouse and Leap Motion [9]). In the case of the analysis of the visualization, this allows to increase the number of samples for the data analysis. All the participants performed the same set of 32 tasks in a random sequence different for each participant.

During each scenario participants were asked to perform tasks related to the exploration of multi-scale data of the knee joint. The tasks are summarized in the aforementioned Table 4.4. Every scenario was composed of a maximum of 8 nodes containing knee joint data sets from the behavior, organic and cellular scales which had different visualization properties (Fig. 4.35).

Prior to the presentation of the tasks, users were trained on two examples, in order to learn how to perform the experiment. After performing each task, participants gave a comfort score - an integer between 0 and 10 (0 indicating 'extremely uncomfortable'; 10 indicating 'extremely comfortable'). During all the duration of the experiment, users were observed. In addition, after



Figure 4.34: Setup presented to the user.

Cond.	dFeatures			Scenarios						
	Feature A (trad.)	Feature B (prop.)	Sı	S2	S ₃	S4	S_5	S6	S_7	S8
Eı	File tree list	Data sets displayed in nodes	х	В	В	В	В	В	В	В
E2	Rectangle nodes	Circle nodes	А	Х	А	А	В	В	А	В
E3	Opaque nodes	Semi-transparent	В	А	Х	В	В	А	В	В
E4	Flat workspace	Multilayered workspace (max. 3 layers)	В	В	В	Х	В	В	А	В
E5	Linear depth scale and placeholders	Non-linear depth scale	В	В	В	В	х	В	В	В
E6	3D Monoscopic	3D Stereoscopic	В	А	В	В	В	Х	А	А
E7	Separated SciVis and InfoVis views	Linked views of SciVis and InfoVis	Х	А	А	А	В	В	Х	Х
E8	Only description of each node	Visual (semantic) links between nodes	A	A	A	A	A	A	А	X

Table 4.4: Description of scenarios and evaluated visualization features (X indicates the pair of features under evaluation).

Task of the scenario

- S1. Indicate the maximum value of the bar chart.
- S2. Find zone in the cartilage.
- S3. Find color of the MRI of the leg.
- S4. Find the leg which belongs to the knee system.
- S5. Find the color of the cartilage of meniscus.
- S6. Specify number of vectors seen in the gait motion data set.
- S7. Indicate the maximum value of variation during the gait motion.
- S8. Find the data set which might be influenced by a problem on the knee system.

Data sets

- Gait motion analysis (TemporalNode).
- Two 3D-representations of knee joint (3DNode via DICOM and VTK workers).
- Two set of histological images from meniscus (SetImageNode).
- 3D reconstruction of cartilage of meniscus from micro-CT scans (3DNode via a VTK worker).
- Two graphs associated to pore size distribution and variation (InfoVisNode).

completing the experiment, users answered a written questionnaire in order to assess their comfort with concrete visualization properties (Table 4.5).

Data analysis and results

The scores obtained during the experiment of each user were processed in order to obtain trinary user preference values. The visualization preference was calculated by pairing cases with the same scenario and interaction method, and opposite condition under test. The following rule was used in



Figure 4.35: Example of scenario presented to the user.

Table 4.5: Questions on written questionnaire (selection of preference and justification of answer).

Indicate preference between:
W1. File tree list / Nodes containing data sets.
W2. Cube / Sphere as shape of the node for exploration of SciVis data.
W3. Cube / Sphere as shape of the node for exploration of InfoVis data.
W4. Opacity / Transparency of nodes.
W5. Arrows / No arrows between nodes to understand the scene.

order to determine the preference value: if scores from the two cases have the same value then there is "no preference" else preference was chosen in favor of the case with the higher score. The distribution of preferences of all the participants based on the evaluated conditions is presented in Fig. 4.36.

From the *written questionnaire*, the collected data among the users showed preference for:

- W1. Nodes displaying data sets rather than a tree list structure (75%).
- W2. Cube as preferred node representation figure for InfoVis contents exploration (80%).
- W3. Cube as preferred node representation figure for SciVis contents exploration (70%).
- W4. Opaque nodes rather than transparent ones (64%).
- W5. Arrows between nodes rather than their absence to understand the scene (92%).

Those percentages were calculated from the option chosen (if any) by the participants which made the written questionnaire.

Regarding the last result, the observation of the users during the experiment revealed that the arrows were more useful for the users with

no previous knowledge in the concrete scale which was focus of the task. The absence of arrows showed how their actions were based on spatial proximity or experience.

The written questionnaire also indicated the preference of cube as preferred node representation figure for the exploration of both SciVis and InfoVis, independently of the shape of the data sets (InfoVis graphs would fit *a priori* better in hollow cubes; SciVis volumetric renderings, in half-spheres).

The *distribution of preferences shown in Fig. 4.36* points out that the users preferred the proposed visualization for most of the conditions rather than conventional approaches. The preference is more visible in the following exploration features E1, E4, and E5 in which users found appealing the idea of:

- E1. Displaying all relevant data sets rather than a file tree list.
- E4. Multilayered workspace rather than flat workspace.
- E5. Non-linear depth scale rather than linear depth scale and placeholders.

The results also reveals that there is a susceptible lower preference for E6 (3D stereoscopic presentation of content). This might be attributed to the passive polarized stereoscopic technology display used during the experiment. Since this display has narrow vertical viewing angles, the users could have changed their body posture after initial calibration, causing visual discomfort and affecting the preference values.



Figure 4.36: Distribution of user preference between the feature in the proposed approach (B) and in the traditional approach (A). Conditions are listed in Table 4.4.

4.8 **DISCUSSION**

The example of use described in Sec. 4.6 together with the preliminary evaluation of Sec. 4.7 points out the utility of the proposed approach for biomedical specialists confronted with massive amounts of multi-scale data on a daily basis. The multi-scale environment allows the simultaneous access and proper visualization of heterogeneous data across domains of medical knowledge, providing also semantic means to identify items during the exploration, e.g. to spatially observe the relationships among data sets, such as the propagation of the cartilage degradation evidenced in each data set, alleviating specialists' task of organization and understanding data.

This example of used discussed from the point of view of a biologist can be considered to be applicable for other specialists that are working on the exploration of multimodal or multi-scale biomedical data (c.f. Sec. 4.6). While the underlying architecture of the multi-scale environment makes feasible the distributed rendering, the incorporation of semantics allows for the indication of relationships among the data sets, and the integration of both InfoVis and SciVis views facilitates the representation of all the available and relevant data to the specialists.

Another example of use: exploration of dynamic images for functional evaluation and modeling of muscular activity

The multi-scale visualization environment has been also preliminary applied for the exploration of dynamic images for functional evaluation and modeling of muscular activity (Fig. 4.37). This case focuses on the analysis of muscular stimulation in rats by the radioactive PET tracer 11C-acetate [216], made by physicists. In short, a physiological electrical stimulation is delivered to a single muscle in one lower limb of the rat, where the contralateral muscle in the resting leg is used as a reference. The radioactive PET tracer 11C-acetate is injected intra-venous after stimulation, and uPET and uCT scans are acquired. The hypothesis to verify is the distinction between rest and exercised muscle by means of uPET and 11C-acetate.

Figure 4.37 illustrates the use of the multi-scale environment in this scenario. The scene is in this case composed of two layers: On the focus layer, data sets and intermediate analysis results of the stimulated leg of a rat are presented; on the background layer, information regarding the rest leg is shown. The presentation of the different multimodal information (uPET and CT scans including different volume of interests - VOI) are encapsulated in nodes (type *SetImageNode*, note that several nodes are empty due to the lack of information during the time of analysis of such a scenario). In those SciVis nodes representing images from uPET and CT scans, a half-sphere shape has been preferred as it fits with the kind of images obtained. The navigation through those nodes is synchronized, allowing to explore the same slide (spatial region) at different scan analyses instantaneously. On the other hand, InfoVis graphs are encompassed in nodes with appearence as hollow cubes. The arrows indicate the flow of the data processing, starting



Figure 4.37: Exploration of dynamic images for functional evaluation and modeling of muscular activity [216] in the multi-scale visualization environment.

from original sources and finalizing with statistical data. The presentation of all the data sets in one single view with the aforementioned features can alleviate the exploration of heteregeneous data by the physicist in order to validate the hypothesis.

Moreover, the multi-scale environment remains scalable for the presentation of new subsets of the multi-scale biomedical information and new rendering workers. In any case, new rendering workers do not imply a complete new implementation from scratch. The reuse of existing advanced visualization software as rendering workers implies only minor development of a Remote Procedure Call (RPC) module on their side [52], allowing the obtaining of rendered images according to the view parameters through network. Thus, for extending the system in this regard, it suffices to create new rendering worker types and to include information about its use (c.f. Sec. 4.5). The system would automatize the process of selection of suitable visual properties for the exploration of new data.

4.9 INTERACTION

Interaction and visualization constitute both fundamental components establishing a connection between the user and the phenomenon under analysis running in a computer (c.f. Fig. 2.1). The process of knowledge discovery is intensified when the visualization incorporates a feedback loop based on interaction. The development of the interaction system which allows this feedback loop with the multi-scale visualization environment is not the subject of this thesis. Only for completeness and consistency, the multimodal interaction system developed is outlined. Extended details of its features can be found in the work titled "Multimodal interaction with an integrated visualization system for the analysis of multiscale biomedical data", authored by J. Rzepecki [191].

The described visualization (c.f. Sec. 4.3) uses a 3D multilayered environment for the presentation of nodes encompassing 3D content without a traditional GUI. In this environment data sets resemble a set of diverse tangible objects rather than a directory of computer files. Therefore, the proposed multi-scale visualization requires adaptation and extension of the interaction methods in order to satisfy a coupled strategy of visualization and interaction (c.f. Sec. 3.6). The basis of interaction was defined as a user sitting in front of a 3D stereographic display, which includes a set of interaction of 3D stereoscopic visualization and multimodal interaction [191, 192].

Regarding *stereoscopic visualization*, the system utilizes an immersive 3D multilayered environment, which allows the use of (passive and active) stereoscopic displays (Fig. 4.38) [192]. This feature has been implemented with the help of the stereoscopic rendering functionality included in Unity.



Figure 4.38: Stereographic visualization. Different alternatives: Miracube Full HD [12] and Hyundai W240SL [6].

The *multimodal interaction* approach proposes to replace the primary interaction from the traditional mouse input to hand gestures [191]. The representation of 3D content in the form of nodes with the absence of GUI has led to mimicking traditional interactions means with other strategies towards an intuitive and natural 3D interaction. Thus, actions can be performed by means of *hand gestures*, such as grasping and moving the hand in order to select and move contents of the nodes. In addition, *haptic interaction* allows the user to experience physical feedback of underlying structures from biomedical data. Finally, in order to prevent a lack of interaction tangibility or unavailability of other interaction systems, the use of *traditional interaction* is also allowed as an auxiliary interface. The set of devices which encompasses the interaction approach are depicted in Fig. 4.39.



Figure 4.39: Interaction with the multi-scale environment (source [192]), including stereographic monitor (Miracube Full HD [12]) and multimodal interaction: hand gesture device (Leap Motion [9]), haptic interaction device (SensAble Phantom Premium [18]), and keyboard and mouse.

The following sections briefly describe the interfaces and subsequent scenarios:

Hand gesture interaction

Several hand gestures allow the manipulation of contents of the visualization environment [191, 192], including:

- *Grasping and moving* the hand will select a node and will move it in the environment (Fig. 4.40).
- *Two-hand stretching / compressing* nodes will initiate a zooming function for a detailed or more general observation of the content.
- *Pinching with two fingers* will change internal features of a concrete node, e.g. rotate a 3D model in a *3DNode* or change the speed of a temporal data set in a *TemporalNode*.
- *Waving hands horizontally* will clean the central part of the 3D workspace, by moving all nodes to the edges.

The Leap Motion device [9] has been chosen as device for hand gesture interaction. Leap Motion is a high-speed infrared depth camera that has a low-latency data processing and low price [236]. It is especially suited for hand tracking in a working space adjusted for a user sitting in front of the screen. All implemented gestures were designed and implemented according to this assumption.

Haptic interaction

Haptic interaction allows the user to examine concrete biomedical data with force feedback reactions. Haptic interaction provides feedback forces



Figure 4.40: Example of grasping and moving a node by using hand gestures [191]. The user is moving the node corresponding to the 3D model of the knee joint.

and torques according to the collision response between the interaction tool in the virtual world and the object (c.f. Sec. 2.5.2.1). The focus of haptic interaction is volumetric data, since it is the most relevant data type to be felt, supplying different feedback forces depending on the properties of the data, e.g. fluid resistance when navigating through soft tissue (Fig. 4.41).

Regarding the implementation [191, 192], a SensAble Phantom Premium 1.5 [18] device has been used. The communication with the Phantom device is performed via a network using a H₃D API-based server [17] working on a haptic interface machine. The need of an individual haptic interface machine is required due to the need of high rate control updates and high computational power. The interaction system synchronizes the position of the haptic device and the scene geometry with the haptic interface machine, performing haptic rendering of individual ₃D data sets on the haptic machine. The use of another device is possible since the interaction system makes use of the framework H₃D API, which supports other haptic devices and manufacturers as well.



Figure 4.41: Example of haptic interaction with volumetric reconstruction of micro-CT scans of cartilage [82].

Traditional input

Although the multimodal interaction system design emphasizes supporting novel interaction scenarios, it still accepts basic input from mouse and keyboard.

The architecture of the interaction system ([191, 192]) follows the modular principle of the multi-scale environment system. Therefore, it is possible to decouple any of the interaction interfaces from the exploratory environment without loosing its major functionality. For instance, in the situation where none of the main input devices are available, the system provides an interaction method by means of keyboard and mouse input.

APPLICATION SCENARIO: HELICAL AXIS DATA VISUALIZATION AND ANALYSIS OF THE KNEE JOINT ARTICULATION

This chapter presents the application of the multi-scale visualization environment and its proposed methodology for the investigation of the knee joint articulation. The use of enhanced intra-scale visualizations specifically developed for the behavioral scale together with the multi-scale visualization environment allows an intuitive and flexible exploration of kinematical and other related data of the knee joint articulation.

5.1 INTRODUCTION

The analysis of human articulation requires comprehensive visualizations for the description of the motion in articulating joints. In this context, the helical axis is a kinematical concept describing the motion of the knee joint [218]. The translation of methods based on this concept to clinical practice has the potential to significantly contribute towards several tasks, such as the analysis of surgical techniques, implant types, and the evaluation of follow– up rehabilitation approaches. Despite the advantages and potentialities of the description based on helical axes, the existing processing methods and visualization techniques are insufficient for these tasks. Concretely, the methods of the **related work** (Sec. 5.2) are lacking in terms of robust analysis capabilities and intuitive visualization:

- A method which calculates stable, valid and smooth helical axes for the instantaneous description of the knee joint motion and subsequent analyses.
- An intuitive and comprehensive visualization of the previously calculated helical axes in terms of bone anatomy.
- An intuitive visualization for an overall comparison of helical axis data across several motion sequences.
- The incorporation of kinematical visualizations in a higher level of framework in order to extend their role on the study of the knee joint articulation, exploring related data sets and their known relationships distributed across multiple spatial scales (c.f. Sec. 2.3).

To those aims, a **methodology** for improving the current state of the art related to the analysis and visualization of helical axis data (see Table 5.1) is introduced in Sec. 5.3. In short, the **representation of motion sequences** of the knee joint is analyzed in a unifying mathematical method based on the **Lie group of rigid body motions and its Lie algebra** (Sec. 5.4). Based

on this method, **intra-scale visualizations for accurately interpreting kinematical data** of flexion-extension motion have been developed (Sec. 5.5), concretely, the **anatomical visualization** (Sec. 5.5.1) and the **overall similarity visualization** (Sec. 5.5.2). The multi-scale visualization environment (described in detail in Chapter 4) allows the incorporation of these visualizations in a global framework for the **multi-scale exploration of knee joint data** (Sec. 5.6). In order to exemplarily demonstrate the utility of the proposed methods for the analysis of the knee joint articulation, Sec. 5.7 presents the **results** obtained from kinematical data of experimental sequences and related data sets of multi-scale nature (c.f. Chapter 4). Finally, the chapter concludes with a **discussion** on the results in Sec. 5.8.

Note: The application scenario was studied in a joint collaboration between the Laboratory for Biomechanics and Biomaterials of the Hannover Medical School (LBB-MHH) and the Welfenlab, in which the kinematic experimental set-up was coordinated by Sean Dean Lynch and Dr. med. Tilman Calließ, while Benjamin Fleischer and Dr. Alexander Vais were involved in the preprocessing of data.

Table 5.1: State of art of helical	axis data	visualization	and a	analysis	vs. the	proposed
approach.						

Aspect	State of art	Contribution
Description of motion based on helical axes	Finite Helical Axis: Imprecise, sensitive to noise [218, 140]	Method of IHA in terms of Lie algebra: Valid and smooth helical axes (Sec. 5.4)
Anatomical visualization of helical axes	Lines through 2D sketch of knee [218]: Not intuitive	3D and patient-specific anatomical visualization : Intuitive presentation of helical axis data (Sec. 5.5.1)
Comparison of helical axis data	Helical axis parameters along gait pattern [49]: Difficult to analyze overall differences	Overall similarity visualization based on proposed approach : Stable and InfoVis analysis among motion sequences (Sec. 5.5.2)
Analysis of knee joint functional articulation and related musculoskeletal diseases	Analysis of behavioral scale do not suffice, not flexible exploration of multi-scale data [86, 164]	Multi-scale visualization environment including the previous intra-scale visualizations (Sec. 5.6)

5.2 BASIC PRINCIPLES AND RELATED WORK

In this section, basic principles regarding the description of motion based on the helical axis method as well as their current processing methods and visualization techniques towards the analysis of the knee joint articulation are presented, indicating their shortcomings (Table 5.2).

Aspect	Properties
Description of motion based on helical axes	Finite Helical Axis: Imprecise, sensitive to noise [218, 140]
Anatomical visualization of helical axes	Lines through 2D sketch of knee [218]: Not intuitive
Comparison of helical axis data	Helical axis parameters along gait pattern [49]: Difficult to analyze overall differences
Analysis of knee joint functional articulation and related musculoskeletal diseases	Analysis of behavioral scale do not suffice, not flexible exploration of multi-scale data [86, 164]

Table 5.2: Summary of properties regarding the state of art of helical axis data visualization and analysis.

5.2.1 Description of motion based on helical axes

The description of joint motion in biomechanical engineering can be analyzed by several methods, such as Euler angles, Cardan angles or helical axes [184]. For hinge-like joints, such as talocrural and knee joints, the description of motion based on helical axes has been verified to be a valid tool [105]. Regarding the knee joint, its axis of rotation is commonly discussed in order to improve joint functionality and increase prosthesis longevity. The generally adopted method to define this axis depends on anatomical landmarks and is widely considered as a fixed axis to its referenced anatomical landmarks [75]. However, this practice has proven to have inter- and intra- individual discrepancies [224].

The description of motion based on a sequence of helical axes provides a more direct and specific representation of flexion-extension [218], removing repeatability errors [49, 218]. In contrast to the fixed axis of rotation, the description of a bone motion in three-dimensional space can be more faithfully captured in terms of a temporal sequence of helical axes HA[t] and angles of flexion α [t] with respect to a reference bone (Fig. 5.1) [148].

The helical axis concept is based on a classical result in kinematics due to Chasles [63], stating that any rigid body transformation can be considered being the result of a translation along an axis and a uniform rotation through an angle about the same axis (Fig. 5.2).

Euler or Cardan angles are widely used in biomechanics, providing a well-understood anatomical representation of joint angles [184]. However, the major disadvantage of such descriptions with respect to helical axes are the presence of undesirable non–linear properties and singularities known as "gimbal–lock" [90].

The description of motion in terms of helical axes can refer either to a finite rigid body transformation between two distinct positions or to an infinitesimal transformation, thereby characterizing the differential change along a curve of rigid body transformations. While the second is commonly known as the Instantaneous Helical Axis (IHA) [240], the first interpretation is appropriately denoted as Finite Helical Axis (FHA) [53], which provides a rough estimate of the IHA as the two positions approach each other.



(a) Sagittal view of a helical axis. (b) Frontal view of a helical axis. (c) Description of the motion based on helical axes.

Figure 5.1: Example of helical axes of tibia with respect to the femur (reference bone) $HA^{TF}[t]$, composed of instantaneous centers of rotation and direction vectors $HA^{TF}[t] = (p^{TF}[t], \vec{v}^{TF}[t])$, defined in three-dimensional space [151]. The angle $\alpha^{TF}[t]$ is defined between the axes attached to the femur and to the tibia, both of them being contained in the sagittal plane. $HA^{TF}[t]$ and $\alpha^{TF}[t]$ characterize the flexion-extension motion of the tibia with respect to the femur along the time t.



Figure 5.2: Representation of the description of a rigid body transformation based on helical axis (source [127]).

However, it is well known that the FHA is highly sensitive to noise in the two sample poses involved and its computation becomes numerically unstable for small differences [148, 241], while on the other hand using too large a difference yields only a bad approximation. This motivated Woltring et. al. [240] to favor the IHA over the FHA as obtained from a process involving the smoothing of the measured kinematical data. Nevertheless, recent biomechanical studies rely on the FHA [218, 140, 100], and its use is extended, which is easier to compute. Due to its lack of robust analysis capabilites, the translation of methods based on the helical axis concept to clinical practice has been limited.

5.2.2 Visualization and comparison of helical axis data

Conventional representations of helical axis data do not allow for an accurate analysis of the evolution of axes and their geometrical relationship to the bones involved. Besier et al. [49] represent their helical axis data with 2D graphical plots, i.e. alongside the conventionally captured gait curve. Bogert et al. [218] represent helical axes by lines passing through a 2D illustration of a joint model and use a numbering system to depict the temporal evolution of the axes (Figs. 5.3, 5.4). The representation by Bogert et al., while providing a coarse qualitative impression, is insufficient to assess the individual patient–specific anatomy [75, 219, 220].

The lack of a realistic visualization of the knee joint motion together with the representation of helical axes leads to difficulties for biomechanical engineers to fully understand the helical axis data and extract directly relevant information. For instance, the orientation of the helical axis configuration and the localization of the functional flexion axis in terms of anatomical bone motion can not be fully understood with 2D graphs (Fig. 5.3).

In addition, the analysis of similarity among several different motion sequences remains difficult. Plots of helical axis parameters (e.g. [49, 218, 243]) represent faithfully the temporal variation of a physical parameter. However, those do not directly support discerning overall differences between motion sequences. For instance, Fig. 5.4 contains only three motion sequences and the comparison of them is visually unclear.



Figure 5.3: Representation of helical axes by means of a 2D illustration (source [218]).



Figure 5.4: Type of plot required for the description of the orientation and position of the FHA during of the stance phase of running (source [218]).

5.2.3 *Helical axis data in the context of analysis of knee joint functional articulation*

In the context of a wider scenario of studying diseases of the knee joint, the interpretation of the helical axes contributes only partially to the description of the knee joint state. The study of diseases related to the knee joint requires data from multiple spatial scales and knowledge belonging to different medical domains (c.f. Sec. 2.3). The analysis of kinematical behavior and its relations with medical features found at other spatial scales, such as organic or cellular scale is required, e.g. the relation between degeneration of the articular cartilage (organic scale) and medial deviation of mechanical axes [117].

Osteoarthritis is an example of a pathology which simultaneously involves information relating diverse spatial scales (Fig. 5.5), as it has been described in Sec. 4.6. Osteoarthritis is a result of cartilage degradation [88], which starts with changes evidenced at cellular scale [107, 168], leading to alterations on mechanical properties at organic scale. Finally, those changes cause measurable variations of the range of motion of the knee at behavioral scale [38], which is the focus of this chapter.

The improvement of the visualization techniques able to encompass the complete spatial range of biomedical data sets has been highly requested for many authors, as it has been indicated in Sec. 2.3.3. Improvements in this direction would encourage the exploration of patient–specific data of multi-scale nature, and would lead to more feasible findings of relevant factors for the characterization of potential pathologies. However, specialists of each medical domain commonly use on a daily basis isolated systems for the exploration of features involving a multi-scale pathology. Those systems focus on features in a concrete domain and scale, preventing to analyze relations among features from different fields. In the last years, several proposals (e.g. [64, 108, 145]) have promoted a collaborative investigation of

related diseases in the human body within an integrated approach. However, in terms of visualization, the integration of all information sources of the biomedical process under study and their known relationships clearly needs to improve [86, 152, 164] (c.f. Sec. 2.7).



Figure 5.5: Degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis (c.f. Fig. 4.26) and the relevance of the behavioral scale.

5.3 METHODOLOGY

In order to contribute to the aforementioned state of art, several methods have been developed for improving the visualization of helical axis data and the investigation of the knee joint articulation. The methods, summarized in Table 5.3, have been firstly published by the author in [151, 153]. In the following, this chapter expand upon those descriptions and results.

Table 5.3: Summary of prop	posed methods for I	helical axis	s data visu	alization a	and
analysis (see the s	state of art in Table	5.2).			

Aspect	Proposed method
Description of motion based on helical axes	Method of IHA in terms of Lie algebra (Sec. 5.4)
Visualization of helical axes	3D and patient-specific anatomical intra-scale visualization (Sec. 5.5.1)
Comparison of helical axis data	Overall similarity intra-scale visualization (Sec. 5.5.2)
Analysis of knee joint functional articulation and related musculoskeletal diseases	Multi-scale visualization environment including the previous intra-scale visualizations (Sec. 5.6)

First, the approach for the description of motion based on helical axes makes use of the Lie group SE(3) of rigid body motions and its Lie algebra $\mathfrak{se}(3)$ for a natural and smooth representation of motion sequences. This proposed method allows to obtain stable instantaneous helical axes from motion sequences. Those concepts, which have common applications in Robotics [158], have been applied in this work for the description of the knee joint, and are described in Sec. 5.4 including the necessary kinematics principles and the experimental kinematical data collection process.

Regarding the anatomical visualization of helical axis data, a specifically designed patient–specific three–dimensional visualization has been developed [151]. The visualization is based on the processed helical axis information and incorporates three–dimensional visualization from CT scans. This method allows for an intuitive interpretation of the axes and their geometrical relation with respect to the knee joint anatomy as described in Sec. 5.5.1.

The representation of motion sequences in terms of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{se}(3)$ also allows for an efficient similarity comparison across several motion sequences. The subsequent visualization of similarities, which corresponds to an InfoVis method (c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.2), provides an overall comparison among sequences in order to differentiate cases, e.g. surgery techniques, presented in Sec. 5.5.2. Note that representing information regarding helical axes requires effectively the combination of scientific visualization and information visualization techniques, following the approach described in Sec. 3.3.

In the context of a wider scenario of analysis of diseases affecting the knee joint articulation, those two intra-scale visualizations are proposed in the framework of the multi-scale visualization environment. This environment, outlined in Sec. 5.6 (c.f. Chapter 4 for more details) increases the potential of those methods for the study of knee joint diseases, allowing the exploration with other related data sets distributed across multiple spatial scales.

5.4 INSTANTANEOUS HELICAL AXES IN TERMS OF THE LIE ALGEBRA $\mathfrak{se}(3)$

In this section, a smooth description of motion sequences of the knee joint in terms of infinitesimal helical axes is proposed, providing the basis for analysis and visualization (see Secs. 5.5,5.6) [153]. This method of description of motion exploits the unifying mathematical framework based on the Lie group of rigid body motions SE(3) [158]. In this framework, the exponential map that relates the Lie group SE(3) with its associated Lie algebra $\mathfrak{se}(3)$ is used to parametrize the rigid body motions. Then, a polynomial fitting within the Lie algebra is performed to provide a smooth description of a given discrete knee motion sequence. The accuracy and stability in the obtained sequence is crucial for ensuring a stable derivative which is essential for computing the instantaneous helical axes (Fig. 5.6).

In the following, a short summary of the essential mathematical notions and kinematical background is described in Secs. 5.4.1,5.4.2, including defini-

tions of the finite (Sec. 5.4.3) and instantaneous helical axis (Sec. 5.4.4). Next, the experimental data collection process used for obtaining the kinematic data is described in Sec. 5.4.5. Based on this background, the application of instantaneous helical axis for the description of flexion-extension motion of the knee joint in terms of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{se}(3)$ is explained in Sec. 5.4.6.



Figure 5.6: Schema of the proposed description of motion sequences based on IHA in terms of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{se}(3)$: Motion sequences are represented as curves in the Lie group of rigid body motions. The associated Lie algebra is used to parametrize the rigid body motions, to perform the polynomial fitting of motion sequences and finally to compute instantaneous helical axes.

5.4.1 Mathematical notions

It is assumed that the reader is familiar with basic notions of algebra and differentiable manifolds c.f. [175, 131]. In addition, for the kinematical description in the following section, the notion of Lie groups is needed. Therefore, in the following a brief summary of the necessary definitions is given.

First of all, recall that group is an algeabric structure consisting of a set of elements G with an operation \cdot that combines any two elements to form a third element, i.e. $\cdot : G \times G \rightarrow G$, $(a, b) \mapsto a \cdot b$. The operation is assumed to satisfy several natural properties, such as associativity, the existence of an identity element $1 \in G$ and the existence of an inverse operation $G \rightarrow$, $a \mapsto a^{-1}$ with $a \cdot a^{-1} = a^{-1} \cdot a = 1$.

A manifold is a topological space M satisfying additional requirements (i.e. being second countable and Hausdorff) in which each point has a neighborhood U that is homeomorphic to an open set $V \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$. A set of such charts is called an atlas of M. Two charts $x : U_1 \to V_1$ and $y : U_2 \to V_2$ which overlap in $U = U_1 \cap U_2 \neq \emptyset$ induce the chart transition $y \circ x^{-1} : x(U) \to y(U)$. A manifold M is called differentiable if it is

equipped with a maximal atlas such that all associated chart transitions are (infinitely) differentiable. Based on these concepts, several notions familiar from classical calculus, such as curves, tangent vectors, tangent spaces and the notion of differentiability of functions can be generalized. In particular, a map $f : M \to N$ between manifolds is called differentiable if its composition with any charts $x : U_1 \to V_1$ of M and $y : U_2 \to V_2$ of N is differentiable, i.e. if the map $y \circ f \circ x^{-1}$ (with apropriate restrictions of domains and codomains) is differentiable in the classical sense.

Based on the notion of group and differentiable manifold, a Lie group can be defined as a group G that additionally has the structure of a differentiable manifold, such that the group operation and the inverse operation are differentiable. For an extensive introduction to these topics, see [189].

5.4.2 Kinematical background

A rigid body transformation (also called an Euclidean transformation) in three-dimensional space can be described as a map $M : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}^3, p \mapsto Rp + V$, where

- R describes the rotational component as an orthogonal transformation with unit determinant, i.e. R ∈ SO(3) = {A|A ∈ O(3) and det(A)= 1}.
- $V \in \mathbb{R}^3$ denotes the translational component.

The set of all possible rigid body transformations constitutes the Lie group SE(3), known as the special Euclidean group of 3-dimensional space. Using homogeneous coordinates, any rigid body transformation can be written in terms of a 4×4 matrix, thereby giving rise to the matrix representation

$$SE(3) := \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} R & V \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} : R \in SO(3), V \in \mathbb{R}^3 \right\}$$
.

The tangents of curves of rigid body transformations passing through $id \in SE(3)$ give rise to the tangent space $T_{id} SE(3)$, known as the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{se}(3)$ with

$$\mathfrak{se}(3) := \left\{ \widehat{\xi} : \xi = (\omega, \nu) \in \mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3 \right\},$$
where $\widehat{(\omega, \nu)} := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\omega_z & \omega_y & \nu_x \\ \omega_z & 0 & -\omega_x & \nu_y \\ -\omega_y & \omega_x & 0 & \nu_z \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$

The elements of $\mathfrak{se}(3)$ are called twists. In the following, by abuse of notation, the notational distinction between the pair of vectors ξ and the corresponding matrix $\hat{\xi}$ will be omitted if no confusion can arise.

The exponential map exp : $\mathfrak{se}(3) \to SE(3)$ given by $\exp(\xi) = e^{\xi} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\xi^k}{k!}$ can be shown to be surjective and thereby allows any rigid body transformation to be described in terms of a twist.

Applying the Caley–Hamilton theorem, which states that ξ (viewed as a linear map on \mathbb{R}^4) yields zero upon formal substitution into its associated characteristic polynomial $P(\lambda) = det(\xi - \lambda id)$, it can be shown that any analytical function of ξ , including e^{ξ} , evaluates to a third–order polynomial in ξ . The coefficients of the latter are determined by relating the eigenvalues of ξ to those of e^{ξ} . These considerations lead to the closed–form expression

$$e^{\xi} = \mathrm{id} + \xi + \frac{1 - \cos\theta}{\theta^2} \xi^2 + \frac{x - \sin\theta}{\theta^3} \xi^3 , \qquad (5.1)$$

where θ is the norm of the ω component of $\xi = (\omega, \nu)$, i.e. $\theta = |\omega|$ [225]. Note that the coefficients have a removable singularity at $\theta = 0$ and are in fact analytic functions of θ , thus the above expression is actually well–defined and smooth for all twists ξ , including zero.

The twist representation has the advantage of not requiring redundant degrees of freedom, as it represents a rigid body transformation with the minimum amount of six parameters. Descriptions based on Euler or Cardan angles are similar in this regard, but they suffer undesirable non–linear properties and singularities known as "gimbal–lock" [90]. Other commonly used representations involving rotation matrices or quaternions lack the ability of easily approximating a sequence of rigid body transformations by a motion trajectory fully contained in the Lie group SE(3) and require additional orthogonalization or normalization measures. Using the Lie algebra representation of rigid body motions and the exponential map as described above avoids these problems and provides an effective computational tool.

5.4.3 Finite helical axis

The equation (5.1) reduces to the Rodrigues rotation formula for twists of the form $\theta(\omega, 0)$ with unit vector ω . The Rodrigues formula describes a rotation of arc-length θ around ω [186]. A geometrical interpretation of the exponential map in the general case is obtained by relating it to Chasles' theorem [63], which states that every rigid body transformation that contains a rotational component can be expressed as a rotation of arc-length θ about an axis H followed by translation of h θ units along that axis (Fig. 5.7). This axis is called screw axis or *finite helical axis* (*FHA*), while θ is the magnitude and h is the pitch of the screw. Indeed, the rigid body



Figure 5.7: Description of a rigid body transformation in terms of a screw.

transformation $e^{\theta(\omega,\nu)}$ corresponding to the twist $\theta(\omega,\nu)$ where $|\omega| = 1$ is realized as a screw with

$$H = (\omega \times \nu) + \mathbb{R}\omega, \ h = \langle \omega, \nu \rangle .$$
(5.2)

5.4.4 Instantaneous helical axis

In this section, consider a fixed coordinate system A and a rigid body with an attached coordinate system B. It is assumed that B is moving relative to A such that both systems are related by $B = Ae^{\xi(t)}$ where $\xi: I \to \mathfrak{se}(3)$ is a one–parameter family of twists. A point p fixed to the moving body has constant coordinates p_B with respect to B, while its coordinates p_A with respect to A are $p_A = e^{\xi(t)}p_B$ and therefore depend on t. Taking the derivative with respect to t yields the velocity of p relative to the system A as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}p_A}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{\mathrm{d}e^{\xi}}{\mathrm{d}t}p_B = \frac{\mathrm{d}e^{\xi}}{\mathrm{d}t}e^{-\xi}p_A.$$

The quantity $\frac{de^{\xi}}{dt}e^{-\xi}$ is a twist (i.e. it belongs to $\mathfrak{se}(3)$) and is called the instantaneous spatial velocity of the moving body. The associated screw axis (in the sense of equation (5.2)) constitutes the so–called *instantaneous helical axis (IHA)*. In order to compute $\frac{de^{\xi}}{dt}e^{-\xi}$ from ξ and its derivative $\frac{d\xi}{dt}$ one requires the differential of the exponential map exp : $\mathfrak{se}(3) \rightarrow SE(3)$. To this end, the following relation is exploited, c.f. [189]:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}e^{\xi}}{\mathrm{d}t}e^{-\xi} = \frac{e^{\mathrm{ad}_{\xi}} - \mathrm{id}}{\mathrm{ad}_{\xi}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\xi}{\mathrm{d}t} \,. \tag{5.3}$$

Here ad denotes the action of $\mathfrak{se}(3)$ on $\mathfrak{se}(3)$ given by $\mathrm{ad}_{\xi} \zeta := [\xi, \zeta] := \xi\zeta - \zeta\xi$. The operator on the right–hand side of eq. (5.3) is defined in terms of its formal power series expansion and can, by a similar argument as the one leading to eq. (5.1), be evaluated in closed form using the Cayley–Hamilton theorem, yielding a fifth order polynomial in ad_{ξ} , namely

$$\frac{e^{\mathrm{ad}_{\xi}} - \mathrm{id}}{\mathrm{ad}_{\xi}} =
\mathrm{id} + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{ad}_{\xi} + \frac{(4+c)\theta - 5s}{2\theta^3} \mathrm{ad}_{\xi}^2 + \frac{6c + s\theta + 2\theta^2 - 6}{2\theta^4} \mathrm{ad}_{\xi}^3
+ \frac{(2+c)\theta - 3s}{2\theta^5} \mathrm{ad}_{\xi}^4 + \frac{4c + s\theta + \theta^2 - 4}{2\theta^6} \mathrm{ad}_{\xi}^5$$
(5.4)

where $\xi = (\omega, \nu)$, $\theta = |\omega|$, $s = \sin \theta$, $c = \cos \theta$ [225]. As in the case of eq. (5.1) any ostensible singularity at $\theta = 0$ is removable, thus all coefficients constitute analytic functions of θ .

5.4.5 Kinematic data collection

The kinematic data collection is performed with the help of a specifically designed in vitro knee simulator (Fig. 5.8), following the experimental work
described in Ostermeier et al. [169], and coordinated by LBB-MHH [153]. For each experiment, freshly frozen cadaver knee joints are prepared by removing skin and subcutaneous tissue, while keeping the articular capsule intact. The femur is fixed in position and the tibia is fixed to a lever arm that constrains the tibia to flexion–extension motion. The simulator applies loads to the quadriceps and hamstring tendons, forcing the knee specimen to complete an extension motion.



Figure 5.8: Kinematic experimental set–up, coordinated by LBB-MHH. The simulator applies loads to perform an extension motion of the knee joint, which have fixed passive reflective markers tools.

The tracking of bone motion is performed using a two camera Polaris Optical Tracking System [16], with passive reflective marker tools. Those are rigidly fixed to the femur, tibia and patella providing the tracking of rigid bone motion at an accuracy of 0.35mm at 10Hz. Moreover, a set of standardized physical anatomical landmarks L_E found on the bone's surfaces are also acquired in order to establish corresponding anatomical coordinate systems. The latter are defined according to the recommendations of the International Society of Biomechanics for reporting human joint motion of the lower body [242]. The acquisition of the landmarks is made manually by the surgeon touching specific points of the bones with a passive reflective marker pointer device (Fig. 5.12a).

The analysis in this work is focused on the relative motion of the tibia with respect to the femur. The patella-femur motion can be analyzed in a similar way. Referring to Fig. 5.9, AT, AF represent the anatomical coordinate systems for tibia and femur. Moreover, TT and TF denote the coordinate systems rigidly moving with the reflective marker tools attached to the tibia and femur. The tracking process yields for each time sample t the mappings $M_{TF}^{C}(t)$ and $M_{TT}^{C}(t)$ that transform the coordinates of a point relative to the marker systems TF and TT into the corresponding coordinates relative to the tracking coordinate system C. The computation of these transformations based on the tracked marker positions is performed by the methods presented in Spoor et al. [202]. Using the transformations M_{AT}^{TF} and M_{AT}^{TT} that map anatomical coordinates into marker tool coordinates (see Fig. 5.10), the relative motion between the femur and tibia is given by

$$M_{AT}^{AF}(t) = M_{AF}^{1F}(t)^{-1} M_{TF}^{C}(t)^{-1} M_{TT}^{C}(t) M_{AT}^{11}(t).$$
(5.5)

The Cartesian basis vectors e_x , e_y , e_z of \mathbb{R}^3 are identified with the three axes of AF such that the sagittal plane is spanned by e_x and e_y .



Figure 5.9: (a) Experimental set-up and (b) scheme of relevant coordinate systems.



Figure 5.10: Scheme representing the obtaining of the relative motion between tibia and femur $M_{AT}^{AF}(t)$ (red color), by using the mappings given by the tracking process (black) and others which were computed (gray).

5.4.6 Helical axes for the knee joint

In the considered case of flexion-extension motion M_{AT}^{AF} , the time parameter t in eq. (5.5) can be replaced by a more convenient parameter, namely flexion angle α_z between the tibia and the femur. The latter is obtained by decomposing M_{AT}^{AF} as

$$M_{AT}^{AF} = \exp(0, \mathbf{r}) \exp(\alpha_z e_z, 0) \exp(\alpha_y e_y, 0) \exp(\alpha_x e_x, 0).$$

As the flexion–extension motion is the main interest of this work, the parameter α_z is chosen as primary parameter.

In the following, in order to simplify the notation, α will be written instead of α_z and $M(\alpha)$ or simply M for the transformation M_{AT}^{AF} . The corresponding geometry is indicated schematically in Fig. 5.11.



Figure 5.11: Geometrical configuration illustrating the flexion of the tibia with respect to the femur. The helical axis H_{α} is given by the point of rotation p_{α} and the unit vector ω_{α} for each angle α .

The tracking process outlined in the previous subsection gives rise to a sequence $M(\alpha_0), \ldots, M(\alpha_n)$ which, using $M = e^{\xi}$, is interpreted as a sequence $\xi(\alpha_0), \ldots, \xi(\alpha_n)$ of twists. Assuming an underlying smooth motion it is reasonable to apply a polynomial regression in order to obtain a smooth function expressed as

$$\xi(\alpha) = \left(\frac{2}{\alpha_n - \alpha_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{k=0}^{d} c_k L_k \left(\frac{2\alpha - \alpha_0 - \alpha_n}{\alpha_n - \alpha_0}\right)$$
(5.6)

where $c_0,\ldots,c_d\in \mathbb{R}^6$ are coefficient vectors and

$$L_{k}(x) = \left(k + \frac{1}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{1}{2^{n} n!} \frac{d^{n}}{dx^{n}} \left((x^{2} - 1)^{n} \right) \quad k = 0, \dots, d$$

are the normalized Legendre polynomials constituting a basis for the space of all polynomials of degree d, while the scaling factors in eq. (5.6) are included for later convenience. The Legendre polynomials are orthogonal with respect to the L^2 scalar product over [-1, 1], i.e.

$$\int_{-1}^{1} L_{i}(y) L_{j}(y) \, dy = \delta_{ij} , \qquad (5.7)$$

a fact that will be useful for analyzing the similarity of motion sequences (see Sec. 5.5.2).

Based on this description, and referring to equations (5.3) and (5.4), the twist

$$\zeta = \frac{dM}{d\alpha}M^{-1} = \frac{e^{\mathrm{ad}_{\xi}} - 1}{\mathrm{ad}_{\xi}}\frac{d\xi}{d\alpha}$$
(5.8)

and its associated screw (H, θ, h) are obtained, which yields the instantaneous helical axis H for each flexion angle α . The intersection of the helical axis with the sagittal plane yields the point

$$\mathbf{p} = \boldsymbol{\omega} \times \boldsymbol{v} - \frac{(\boldsymbol{\omega} \times \boldsymbol{v})_z}{\boldsymbol{\omega}_z} \boldsymbol{\omega} = \frac{\mathbf{e}_z \times (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{w}\mathbf{h})}{\boldsymbol{\omega}_z},$$

which is known as the point of rotation (also indicated in Fig. 5.11). Visualizing its location and variation according to the flexion angle α contributes to an intuitive assessment of the position and orientation of the helical axis with respect to the geometry of the knee joint.

5.5 INTRA-SCALE VISUALIZATIONS FOR THE ANALYSIS OF HELICAL AXIS DATA

The computational approach for the representation of helical axis data and its approximation within the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{se}(3)$ presented in Sec. 5.4 provides the basis for the development of intra-scale visualizations which facilitate the joint motion representation and analysis. In this section, the following visualizations are presented:

- Anatomical visualization of helical axis data: An intra-scale visualization which performs the three-dimensional motion of patient-specific bone segments as well as the representation of helical axes on the bone, described in Sec. 5.5.1.
- Overall similarity visualization for comparison of helical axis data: Based on the multi-dimensional scaling approach involving the previously determined polynomial approximation by means of Lie algebra, an intra-scale visualization based on a high–level comparison of motion sequences is proposed in Sec. 5.5.2.

5.5.1 Anatomical visualization of helical axis data

As indicated in Sec. 5.2.2, conventional representations of helical axis data have been insufficient for a complete anatomical understanding of the evolution of the helical axis data during the flexion–extension motion. Therefore, a viewer (or visualization) by means of an anatomical and three– dimensional representation has been developed in order to facilitate the observation of the helical axis data and the corresponding flexion-extension motion at the knee joint. The data used for the proposed visualization has been obtained from the experimental set–up described in Sec. 5.4.5. Subsequently, those data are used in order to calculate helical axis data from biomechanical experiments applied to specific specimens, as described in Sec. 5.4.6. Additionally, CT scans from each specimen are acquired prior to the kinematic data collection.

Within the viewer, CT images of the considered specimen are accurately segmented, thereby obtaining a 3D segment-visualization of the femur, tibia and patella. Subsequently, a set of significant landmarks L_V is specified by biomechanical engineers within the viewer (Fig. 5.12b). These landmarks correspond to the physical landmarks L_E on the bone's surfaces acquired in the data collection process (Fig. 5.12a, c.f. Sec. 5.4.5). These landmarks can be specified using manual or automated approaches, also on MRI images [167] (Fig. 5.14). Afterwards, a matching between L_E and L_V is used to establish the mapping between the experimental tracking set–up T_E and the reference frame T_V used within in the viewer reference system. Then, the visualization performs the three–dimensional motion of the patient–specific bone segments obtained from CT scans incorporating the representation of the calculated sequence of helical axes (Fig. 5.12c).



(a) Experimental set-up

(b) Definition of T_V (c) Representation of knee joint motion

Figure 5.12: (a) Experimental set-up with the tracking coordinate system T_E . (b) Landmarks on the bone's surfaces L_V defined in the viewer in order to obtain the coordinate system T_V . (c) 3D Representation of the knee joint flexion and helical axis of the tibia with respect to the femur $HA_V^{TF}[t]$.

The implemented visualization has the following functionalities:

• The 3D view shows the three–dimensional spatial configuration of the instantaneous helical axis H_{α} given by the point of rotation p_{α} and the unit vector ω_{α} (see Fig. 5.11), reproducing the relative motion of the tibia with respect to the femur according to the flexion angle α (Fig. 5.13). The visualization is able to represent the smooth temporal evolution of the IHA as computed previously (c.f. Sec. 5.4) but also FHA calculations [151].

The visualization incorporates several features (see also Figs. 5.19, 5.20), e.g. the analysis of the trajectory of the point of rotation p_{α} , which is shown as a curve on the sagittal plane. Similarly, the visualization allows analogously for an inspection of curves obtained by intersecting the helical axes with individual bone segments or other specific planes of interest.

• The 2D sub-panel view enables the quantitative inspection of related data concerning, e.g. the translations of the centers of rotation (i.e. indicating anterior and posterior shifts). Both 2D and 3D views are synchronized in time, allowing an interactive inspection of the kinematics in terms of the helical axis for any chosen flexion angle.

The visualization was implemented in Java programming language using the Java3D API [8]. The viewer constitutes a plugin for the open platform for 3D–visualization and 3D segmentation of medical volume data YaDiV [81]. Therefore, the viewer can take advantage of YaDiV features regarding segmentation, stereographic volume visualization [82] and haptic interaction [228].



Figure 5.13: Visualization of a healthy knee joint completing flexion-extension motion from experimental data, including the helical axes $HA_V^{TF}[t]$ (green) and $HA_V^{PF}[t]$ (blue).



Figure 5.14: Another example of YaDiV plugin. Plugin for the creation of knee coordinate systems [167].

5.5.2 Overall similarity visualization for comparison of helical axis data

The lack of robust capabilities in the analysis of helical axes which previous works offered has limited the possibilities of analysis of motion sequences (c.f. Sec. 5.2.2). Previous works were insufficient to intuitively discern the overall similarity between the motion sequences corresponding to different cases and states.

For the comparison of motion sequences, it is useful to have a notion of length on SE(3). A natural notion of length on Lie groups is generally provided by a so–called bi–invariant Riemannian metric which can be induced by defining a positive definite inner product on the corresponding Lie algebra. This approach works for the group of rotations SO(3), but the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{se}(3)$ of SE(3) is not naturally equipped with a positive definite inner product and no such prescription induces a bi–invariant Riemannian metric on SE(3). Nevertheless, a fixed inner product can be extended to a right- (or left-) invariant metric, which still provides a useful means of comparing rigid body motions. By assuming the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{se}(3)$ to be equipped with the Euclidean inner product, it is possible to identify $\mathfrak{se}(3) \simeq \mathbb{R}^6$ introduced in Sec. 5.4.2 [47, 158]. This induces a norm $|\cdot|$ on $\mathfrak{se}(3)$ which is sufficient for the purpose of this work.

Thus, a measure of the similarity between two sequences of motion $\xi, \tilde{\xi} : [\alpha_0, \alpha_n] \to \mathfrak{se}(3)$ is given by

$$d(\xi,\widetilde{\xi})^2 = \int_{\alpha_0}^{\alpha_n} |\xi(\alpha) - \widetilde{\xi}(\alpha)|^2 \, d\alpha.$$
(5.9)

If $\xi(\alpha)$ and $\dot{\xi}(\alpha)$ are represented according to eq. (5.6) by corresponding coefficient vectors $c, \tilde{c} \in (\mathbb{R}^6)^{d+1}$, then the last equation reduces to

$$d(\xi, \widetilde{\xi})^2 = \sum_{k=0}^{d} |c_k - \widetilde{c_k}|^2.$$
(5.10)

This follows from the orthogonality of the Legendre polynomials exhibited in eq. (5.7).

A collection of motion sequences can be compared based on this measure of similarity by employing classical multidimensional scaling approaches [55], reducing the dimensionality of the space from $(\mathbb{R}^6)^{d+1}$ to two dimensions [153]. For the transformation of those data into a spatial presentation being graphically intuitively accessible (i.e. InfoVis, c.f. Sec. 2.1.3.2), a classical MDS approach is employed [68] (Fig. 5.15, note that the measurement is dimensionless) which was also used in Reuter et al. [181] with a similar aim.



Figure 5.15: Scheme of the proposed overall similarity visualization (see Fig. 5.21 for details).

5.6 MULTI-SCALE EXPLORATION OF THE KNEE JOINT DATA

As described in Sec. 2.3.2, a complete visualization of multi-scale data such as those obtained from the knee joint articulation needs a visualization that satisfies the multimodal and multi-scale requirements. First, it requires data acquired from different acquisition modalities. In this application scenario, for now, CT images and kinematic data are employed in order to analyze the knee joint flexion motion. Moreover, finding the relevant factors for the characterization of potential musculoskeletal diseases requires data and knowledge from multiple spatial scales and other different medical specialties. For instance, for the study of the correlation between degeneration of the articular cartilage and medial deviation of mechanical axes, e.g. [117], the use of data coming from different fields such as biomechanical and tissue engineering becomes important.

The intra-scale visualizations described in this chapter (c.f. Sec. 5.5) have dealt with the multi-modal requirement, and have been focused only on the behavioral scale. Both the anatomical and similarity visualizations of helical axis data constitute enhanced intra-scale visualizations, as proposed in the methodology of this work (c.f. Sec. 3.5). In the following, it is proposed to extend the role of such visualizations to a multi–scale scenario, where those methods can be used together with other related data sets distributed accross multiple spatial scales for a global investigation of knee joint data. To this aim, the aforementioned intra-scale visualizations are proposed to be integrated in the multi-scale visualization environment (Fig. 5.16), as described in more detail in Chapter 4.

The multi-scale visualization environment effectively supports the exploration of biomedical knowledge coming from different spatial scales and the known relationships between them. The system addresses portability and scalability requirements, being able to deal effectively with the visualization of massive data sets. Its flexible object oriented structure allows previously developed viewers to be re–used and easily extended as rendering workers within the exploratory environment (c.f. Sec. 4.5).

The environment makes use of a multilayered visualization (c.f. Sec. 3.2), employing a flexible combination of SciVis and InfoVis views (c.f. Sec. 3.3). Data sets are distributed over several layers, distinguished by the depth, the nearest being the most important for the user. SciVis views, such as the three– dimensional visualization of helical axes, and InfoVis ones, such as the view of similarity among helical axis sequences, are displayed independently and consistently in different nodes. These nodes are connected through visual links, representing semantic relations, which are obtained with information extracted from the multi-scale ontology. This ontology encompasses the multi-scale biomedical knowledge and the information for obtaining all necessary visualization parameters (c.f. Sec. 3.4).



Figure 5.16: Multi-scale visualization environment for exploration of knee joint related data and the intra-scale visualizations for the analysis of helical axis data.

5.7 RESULTS

This section presents the results obtained in the application scenario by using kinematical data from experimental sequences as well as knee joint related data of multi-scale nature, exemplarily demonstrating the utility of the proposed visualization techniques.

Regarding the kinematical data, the techniques have processed experimental data gathered in the data collection, as described in Sec. 5.4.5. The performed data collection has provided several motion sequences, being each sequence the result of a tracking measurement. The collection has included specimens of left and right legs prior to and after surgery of total knee replacement. For the surgery, two different techniques have been applied: measured resection and patella in place gap balancing [71]. Repeated measurements have been performed on each individual case to obtain a representative amount of kinematical data. Regarding the knee joint related data of multi-scale nature, data sets described in Table A.1 have been employed, as previously used in Chapter 4.

The following subsections demonstrate the description of the IHA in terms of Lie algebra, the anatomical and similarity intra-scale visualizations of helical axis data as well as the visualization of helical axes data in a multi-scale scenario.

Instantaneous helical axes in terms of Lie algebra

In the following, motion sequences are discussed in the Lie group of rigid body motions. Its associated Lie algebra is used to i) parametrize the rigid body motions, ii) perform the polynomial fitting of motion sequences and iii) compute subsequently instantaneous helical axes.

Initially, the processing methodology is exemplified focusing first on an individual motion sequence, coming from a left leg of a healthy specimen. Figure 5.17 illustrates the use of Lie algebra as a space to describe rigid body motions. Concretely, it depicts individual samples representing the rigid body motions relating the anatomical femur coordinate system and the anatomical tibia coordinate system in terms of twists, as discussed in Sec. 5.4.6. The two plots show the individual components ω_x , ω_y , ω_z and v_x , v_y , v_z of twists $\xi = (\omega, v)$ parametrized by the flexion angle α . The range encompasses from $\alpha_0 = 5^\circ$ to $\alpha_n = 115^\circ$.

The measured samples are smoothly approximated by a low order polynomial $\xi(\alpha)$, as discussed in Sec. 5.4.6. In the case of the obtained motion sequences, a third–order approximation suffices for a high degree of accuracy while avoiding oscillatory behavior. In addition, the polynomial fitting effectively allows to deal with the non–uniform spacing and potentially different numbers of data samples present in the motion sequences.

The lack of oscillations is extremely important for ensuring a stable derivative which is essential for computing the instantaneous helical axis using eq. (5.8). Figure 5.18 compares the individual components of the helical axes ω_x , ω_y , ω_z by using the proposed approach and the approach



Figure 5.17: Representation of a sampled motion sequence within the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{se}(3)$ with a third order polynomial approximation. The points indicate the individual samples representing rigid body motion from the established approach. The polynomial fitting within the Lie algebra performed in the proposed approach allows the obtaining of valid and smooth helical axes for further steps on visualization.

based on van den Bogert et al. [218], with some adaptations of the algorithm presented in Spoor et al. [202] and accuracy improvements proposed in Metzger et. al [148]. Despite of those adaptations, the established approach are still sensitive to noise. The proposed approach provides a smooth and valid sequence of helical axes, as it assures the sequence to be in the Lie group of rigid body motions.



Figure 5.18: Instantaneous helical axes obtained with the proposed method (continuous curves) and based on van den Bogert et al. [218] (samples). The established approach obtains finite helical axes, which are sensitive to noise. The proposed method obtains smooth and valid helical axes.

Anatomical visualization of helical axis data

Following up the intermediate results indicated in previous figures, results of the corresponding anatomical visualization of the motion sequence are shown in Figs. 5.19, 5.20.

In Fig. 5.19, the panel on the right side provides a three–dimensional view of the fully segmented knee joint including a depiction of the helical axis in terms of the point of rotation p_{α} and the direction vector ω_{α} , for a chosen



Figure 5.19: Anatomical visualization of helical axis data.

flexion angle α . The motion of the knee joint can be studied interactively by smoothly varying α within the available bounds and selecting individual positions or ranges for inspection using the available tools (e.g. showing the trajectory of p_{α} on the sagittal plane). The left panel presents a transversal two–dimensional cross section of the knee joint assisting the user to take advantage of the several segmentation tools also available in the extension of YaDiV [82].

Figure 5.20 shows the trajectory of p_{α} on the sagittal plane within the developed viewer as obtained by (a) using the proposed method and (b) the approach described in van den Bogert et al. [218], demonstrating again the smoothness of the results with the proposed approach.



Figure 5.20: Anatomical visualization of the helical axis data, (a) with the proposed method and (b) based on van den Bogert et al. [218].

Overall similarity visualization for comparison of helical axis data

Apart from the analysis and visualization of an individual sequence, another intra-scale visualization allows for comparing several motion sequences chosen by the user within the exploratory environment. An example is depicted in Fig. 5.21, where three sequences from a subject after a patella in place gap balancing (denoted by P) surgery are compared with sequences corresponding to the pre–operative native state (denoted by N).

Figure 5.21 shows a qualitative measurement of similarity, proposed in Sec. 5.5.2, based on the eq. (5.9) and the PCA approach (note that this measurement is dimensionless). Each point represents a twist trajectory, as shown in the Fig. 5.17. Therefore, the proposed approach is adequate as a visual aid for discriminating between overall sequences. In addition, the resultant clustering confirms the stability of the results with the proposed methodology. The Euclidean distance between centroids of the cluster comparing pre- and postoperative sequences over the same knee constitutes a method for comparing motion sequences.



Figure 5.21: Overall similarity visualization for comparison of helical axis data on a subject with motion sequences in a pre– (denoted by N) and post–operative state (P).

Multi-scale exploration of the knee joint data

Finally, the developed intra-scale visualizations for kinematical analysis can be incorporated into the multi-scale visualization environment (c.f. Sec. 5.6 and Chapter 4 in detail), which constitutes a higher level framework for the study of knee joint data. A larger framework of information available to a range of specialists with more accurate and detailed analysis presents the ability to observe variances of the knee state and causal output. In particular, the analysis of musculoskeletal diseases, such as osteoarthritis, requires the kinematic behavior to be explored together with data sets from the organic and cellular scales (c.f. Sec. 5.2.3).

Figure 5.22 exemplarily depicts the exploration of patient–specific knee joint related data with the help of the multi–scale visualization environment. Intra-scale visualizations of helical axis data (behavioral scale) are explored together with other related data sets for a complete analysis of knee joint diseases with a multi–scale nature. In the example, it incorporates views of the cartilage (organ scale), including a femoral cartilage thickness map and a 3D reconstruction of a micro–CT scan from a cartilage sample, with some structural characteristics represented by an InfoVis visualization placed in the neighborhood of the latter, and histological images of cross sections (cellular scale).

The proposed environment (c.f. Sec. 4.3) can combine the visualizations provided by different rendering worker entities (c.f. Sec. 4.5), allowing for a global overview and interpretation of all the involved data sets, spatially emphasizing the relationships among them. For instance, the arrow between the nodes containing the thickness and the cartilage structure in Fig. 5.22 could imply that there is a potential disease feature which relates both of them, in this specific example indicating that a progressive loss of cartilage can be foreseen in structural properties of cartilage samples. Such domain



Figure 5.22: Proposal of exploration of patient–specific knee joint related data with the help of the multi–scale visualization environment including the intra-scale visualizations for the analysis of helical axis data. In the image, the user is exploring the anatomical visualization of helical axes in the focus layer.

knowledge is provided by medical experts and can be encoded in the multiscale ontology (c.f. Sec. 4.4) [13]. Therefore, the proposed presentation also allows the knowledge of kinematical analysis based on helical axes to be shared in the context of multidisciplinary work involving other experts.

5.8 **DISCUSSION**

This chapter presents a set of visualization methods for inspecting knee joint articulation data (Table 5.4). The initial description of helical axes based on concepts of Lie group leads to accurate and intuitive intra-scale visualizations for the analysis of kinematical data. Together with the multiscale visualization environment, they allow a flexible exploration of the discussed data sets and of related data, thereby supporting the clinical workflow during the analysis of the knee joint articulation.

The *description of the knee joint motion* based on helical axes presented in this work (c.f. Sec. 5.4) considers both the FHA describing a rigid body transformation relating two different configurations of the knee joint as well as the IHA of a smooth rigid body motion. Both descriptions based on helical axes are naturally discussed in the context of the Lie group SE(3) of rigid body motions and its associated Lie algebra $\mathfrak{se}(3)$, which generalizes the description of rigid body motions made with Euler or Cardan angles in 3D. Approximating a sequence of rigid body transformations by

Aspect	Proposed approach
Description of motion based on helical axes	Method of IHA in terms of Lie algebra: Valid and smooth helical axes
Visualization of helical axes	3D and patient-specific anatomical intra-scale visualization: Intuitive presentation of helical axis data
Comparison of helical axis data	Overall similarity visualization: Stable and InfoVis analysis among motion sequences
Analysis of knee joint functional articulation and related musculoskeletal diseases	Multi-scale visualization environment including the previous intra-scale visualizations

Table 5.4: Summary of properties of the proposed approach for helical axis data visualization and analysis.

a smooth trajectory is conveniently done within $\mathfrak{se}(3)$ and then mapped onto the Lie group SE(3) by the exponential map. This proposed method ensures the obtaining of only valid rigid body transformations without requiring artificial normalization or orthogonalization procedures, avoiding common singularities associated with Euler or Cardan angles. By analytically differentiating the smooth trajectories, this method effectively allows the calculation of *smooth and valid helical axes*. Figures 5.17, 5.18 show that this proposed method allows for obtaining stable, valid and smooth helical axes, allowing for the development of intra-scale visualizations methods with practical impact.

The *visualization of helical axes* by means of a 3*D and patient-specific anatomical visualization* allows for an inspection that relates the processed kinematical data to the individual patient–specific anatomy, as presented in Sec. 5.5.1. The realistic visualization of bone motion incorporating helical axis data provides with respect to previous works (e.g. Fig. 5.3) an understandable and precise representation of the knee joint functional articulation. The proposed description enables a smooth interactive visualization of knee joint kinematics with several tools to interpret spatially the orientation, position and the temporal trajectory of the helical axes with respect to the knee joint anatomy. In clinical practice, the visualization (e.g. Fig. 5.19) can facilitate to distinguish variances of surgery and prosthetic wear. The development of aseptic loosening can also be easily visualized and better determine a stage of revision surgery.

The *comparison of helical axis data* also benefits from the aforementioned motion trajectory description, which naturally allows for a comparison among several motion sequences by means of the *overall similarity visu-alization*, as described in Sec. 5.5.2. A helpful overview for the study of similarities among a collection of experimental data improves previous visualizations focused on temporal variation of physical parameters, which have the disadvantage of being visually unclear when comparing a substantially large collection of data (e.g. Fig. 5.4). The proposed similarity visualization (Fig. 5.21) is potentially useful for epidemiological analysis of surgical techniques, best fit implant type, alignment type, as well as follow–up analysis.

Regarding the *analysis of knee joint articulation data*, the aforementioned intra-scale visualizations are proposed to be encompassed in the *multi-scale visualization environment* (c.f. Sec. 5.6). This allows sources of information with heterogeneous visual properties (e.g. InfoVis and SciVis) found across different spatial scales as well as their known relationships to be explored interactively as a whole. In the context of the study of musculoskeletal diseases, this environment contributes to the support of the visualization of causality across evidences existing within multi-scale biomedical data. Therefore, the multi-scale visualization environment (Fig. 5.16) potentially enables a complete exploration of the knee joint data (possibly in multiple states, e.g. comparing pre– and post–operative states) incorporating the developed intra-scale visualizations as well as views from other related non-kinematical data sets.

This work presents several processing methods in order to improve the visualization of multi-scale biomedical data, exemplified with knee joint articulation data as application scenario. The designed multi-scale visualization environment allows for the presentation of a complete set of multi-scale data with different visualization properties in a single view [150, 192]. In addition, the designed environment incorporates semantics for the enrichment of the multi-scale visualization [35], allowing scientists to amplify the cognition about the multi-scale data present in the visualization scene. In this context, the enhanced intra-scale visualizations are applicable to enrich the presentation and analysis of data within the considered scale. In this work, very relevant methods have been developed for the analysis of knee joint kinematics at the behavioral scale [151, 153].

The major contributions of this thesis can be summarized in the following aspects:

- Design and development of a multi-scale visualization environment for multi-scale medical data analysis: Integrated visualizations have been demanded by the biomedical community for a simultaneous presentation and exploration of data across multiples scales. However, recent works have not facilitated those tasks, and the community still make use of traditional isolated visualization systems, which allow only the exploration of features involving a concrete data type. In this work, the developed multi-scale visualization based on a 3D multilayered environment, visual links and a combination of SciVis and InfoVis techniques allows a consistent presentation and navigation of heterogeneous biomedical data. The approach of this environment encompasses data from different spatiotemporal ranges and levels of abstraction, and potentially supports the various medical domains involved in the analysis of the data.
- Support of multi-scale visualization based on knowledge formalization: The difficulty of exploring heterogeneous data sets increases if ways to understand the meaning of such data sets and their relations are not provided. In this work, the semantic organization provided by ontology is used in the multi-scale environment for extracting visual parameters and semantic information useful for the creation, customization and enrichment of the visualization scene. This approach allows for a meaningful presentation and navigation across the data sets of multi-scale nature.
- Analysis and visualization of kinematical data of the knee joint articulation: The computational methodology approach for the description of motion based on helical axes makes use of the Lie group

of rigid body motions and its Lie algebra for a natural representation of motion sequences. This approach allows for obtaining stable, valid and smooth helical axes from in-vitro kinematical measurements. The developed intra-scale anatomical and similarity visualizations, based on this computational methodology, improve the clinical workflow during the analysis of surgical techniques and implant types, as well as the evaluation of follow-up rehabilitation approaches.

The limited attention given to the potential users of visualization analyzing their demands and their underlying fields has been criticized in the literature [137, 221, 152]. In this work, visualization processing methods have been developed during an interplay of working with and for different experts in biomedicine, e.g. biologists, biomechanical engineers. This interaction framework, based on the analysis of scientists' needs and their underlying fields, has been essential in order that such visualization processing methods contribute to the improvement of the insight into biomedical phenomena and their medical applications.

In the following, the aforementioned aspects are detailed.

Design and development of a multi-scale visualization environment for multi-scale medical data analysis.

The interplay of domains of science across spatial scales is beneficial for a more complete analysis of biological phenomena. Resulting from a multidisciplinary conception among scientists and visualization researchers, the observation and quantification of natural processes occurring at multiple scales require a multi-scale framework. However, works until now (c.f. Chapter 2) have shown that no efforts have been made in terms of visualization in order to aid scientists in the multi-scale biomedical exploration. There had been a lack of visualization strategies able to deal with the complete range of biological data obtained with the large number of diverse acquisition modalities, as in recent works small scale data do not have visibility in large scale views. In addition, current multimodal frameworks had been insufficient for completely understanding biomedical phenomena, as they do not provide semantic means to visually understand internal relations between data sets. Integrated visualization environments desired by the biomedical community would allow a simultaneous presentation of and navigation across data from multiple spatial scales and modalities including visual links (Fig. 2.20).

The proposed exploratory environment (c.f. Chapter 4) supports effectively the analysis of multi-scale biomedical data which encompass diverse spatiotemporal ranges and levels of abstraction, such as osteoarthritis (c.f. Sec. 4.6, Fig. 4.26) [150, 192]. The proposed visualization (c.f. Sec. 4.3) allows for the presentation of a complete set of multi-scale data sets as individual nodes in a single view, visually indicating semantic connections between the nodes in order to understand relations of the contained data sets, e.g. the propagation of the cartilage degradation evidenced in each data set. In this context, the established differentiation between SciVis and InfoVis techniques was overcame in order to maximize the visualization capabilities for the exploration of biomedical data sets and their relations. Its architecture (c.f. Sec. 4.5) makes feasible the presentation of large data sets in a single view. This approach potentially facilitates the work of a multidisciplinary group of specialists collaboratelly working on the analysis of pathologies that involves multi-scale data, as they could still use their habitual visualizations in a wider and richer scenario. The environment allows an intuitive and fast observation of the relevant data sets, as well as a spatial observation of relationships among them.

Support of visualization based on knowledge formalization

A meaningful representation of data sets in a multi-scale scenario is required due to the difficulty of exploring heterogeneous and multidisciplinary data. First, the heterogeneity of data (regarding the spatial scale they belong to, the discipline which studies them, and the visualization techniques employed to represent them) requires semantic organization to understand the meaning of such data sets and their relations. Second, the need of semantic means gains even more importance in a multidisciplinary scenario, as scientists have depth expertise in one concrete specialty, but they lack the big picture.

The multi-scale visualization environment proposes the semantic organization provided by an application ontology in order to extract visual parameters and semantic information useful for the creation, customization and enrichment of the visualization scene (c.f. Sec. 4.4) [35]. As example of application, it makes use of knowledge of the involved domains stored by means of the application ontology namely the multi-scale ontology [13]. The visualization is supported through ontology by providing semantic means to carry out several tasks for the presentation of data within the exploratory system for the user, such as customization of the visualization scene and extraction of semantic links among multi-scale data sets. The combination of the multi-scale ontology with the multi-scale visualization environment provides a cognitively rich and realistic presentation and exploration of the data sets, integrating visualization at the conceptual level with visualization of patient data [150]. This combination also overcomes the traditional ontology visualization tools, based on only InfoVis techniques without realistic representations, which would hinder the use of formalized semantic description.

Analysis and visualization of kinematical data of the knee joint articulation

A very relevant contribution has been performed at the behavioral scale of the study of human joint articulation. Enhanced intra-scale visualizations have been developed for accurately characterizing and interpreting kinematical data of flexion-extension motion of the knee joint in terms of helical axes. The methods based on the helical axis concept have the potential to significantly contribute in clinical practice, e.g. the analysis of surgical techniques and implant types as well as the evaluation of follow-up rehabilitation approaches. However, tools found in the literature were insufficient for these applications as they were lacking in terms of robust analysis capabilities and intuitive visualization.

In this work it has been described how the use of the Lie group of rigid body motions, particularly its Lie algebra and the exponential map relating those supply a smooth description of a given discrete knee motion sequence, obtaining computationally stable and valid instantaneous helical axes. This computational methodology leads to a set of intra-scale visualizations with practical impact. First, the designed patient-specific three-dimensional visualization of the instantaneous helical axes provides an intuitive interpretation of the axes and their geometrical relation with respect to the knee joint anatomy. Second, the similarity visualization compares across several motion sequences allows to efficiently differentiate among several cases and states of knee joint in the course of medical analysis and surgery. The aforementioned visualizations are proposed in the framework of the multi-scale environment, allowing also for a global analysis of knee joint related data, including data sets acquired from different modalities and spatial scales [153].

This set of visualization methods improves the clinical workflow for the analysis of the knee joint articulation (c.f. Chapter 5). First, the anatomical visualization provides to the clinicians a more direct and specific representation to observe the true motion of the bones with respect to a graph indicating the flexion-extension axes [151]. This method facilitates to distinguish variances of surgery, prosthetic wear and states. For instance, the development and resultance of aseptic loosening can be easily visualized and better determine a stage for revision surgery. Second, the similarity visualization improves previous visualizations focused on temporal variation of physical parameters, which were visually unclear when comparing a considerable large data collection. This method is useful for epidemiological analysis of surgical techniques, best fit implant type, alignment type, as well as follow-up analysis. Finally, the multi-scale visualization environment is proposed as a framework in order to support the aforementioned tasks for a global exploration of the knee joint related data (possibly in multiple states, e.g. comparing pre- and post-operative states) incorporating the developed kinematical methods and other related non-kinematical data sets.

Design and development of scientist-centered visualizations

All the developed visualization methods have been performed following a design based on a scientist-centered approach. Sometimes it is forgotten that the user is the indispensable main actor of the visualization process and "responsible" for getting insight from the phenomena under analysis, in the same way as the user sometimes underestimates the importance of aspects such as software architecture required in order to obtain a visualization. At the beginning of a collaboration for designing a visualization tool, a bridge of expectations between the scientist (future visualization user) and the visualization researcher (creator of the visualization) is usually formed. This fact is due to the lack of an alliance between visualization researchers and the fields of application of visualization, which has been required in the literature [137, 221] as well as during recent visualization conferences.

In this work, the designed visualization methods have been developed in the context of a methodology (c.f. Chapter 3) which analyzes scientists' needs and their underlying fields, including different aspects, such as: initial specification of data, objective, context of application, common understandable representation and continuous evaluation. Different experts in biomedicine – biomechanical engineers, radiologists, biologists under the MultiScaleHuman Project [15] – have collaborated in order to reciprocally be helped: to facilitate them to amplify their cognition about physiological human articulation. Only after this kind of sinergies can visualization improve through the means of new and novel methods the biomedical data exploration and their further interpretation by biomedical experts.

FUTURE WORK

There are several ways of applying and expanding the visualization methods proposed in this work. Some of the more promising possibilities are:

Applicability of the exploratory environment in other fields and scales

The application scenario (c.f. Chapter 5) described in this work for the analysis of knee joint articulation can be considered to be applicable for any other scientific field where specialists are working on the exploration of multimodal or multi-scale biomedical data. One example is the exploration of dynamic images for functional evaluation and modeling of muscular activity [216] (c.f. Sec. 4.8).

Following up with the application scenario, similar investigations as the ones performed in this work at the behavioral scale can be performed at other scales, contributing with new enhanced intra-scale visualizations for improving the understanding of data attached to those concrete scale. All intra-scale visualizations and new improvements can be encompassed in the multi-scale visualization environment. The scalability of its software architecture allows that every new visualization can be represented in a node, including new information for the multi-scale ontology. Together with experts in the field, the knowledge is augmented with their findings, discussing their conclusions and continuing the discovery by using the visualization environment. In this context, the next step could be the development of a rendering worker which includes all the features of YaDiV.

Adaptiveness of the multi-scale visualization environment

In this work, semantics is incorporated in a multi-scale visualization environment to provide visual means to identify relevant items for a didactical presentation to the user. The introduction of semantics in this context opens new roads for further integration between visualization and knowledge formalization.

An interesting example is a further support of collaborative diagnosis, introduced in [150]. Consider a scenario where different medical specialists could work together in the same environment, share experiences with each other and formulate conjectures, e.g. involving the exploration of past studies. This scenario requires a dynamic use of the visualization and semantics, where both are adapted during the workflow of the specialists. Thus, the visualization composition should be dynamically performed according to the knowledge, which should vary according to the inclusion of the formulated conjectures. In this case, the user interface should be extended in order to receive and process such hypotheses. Initial ideas in this direction are the integration of scoring techniques on the knowledge base level, influence positioning of nodes based on user interests, as well as the incorporation of a voice recognition system.

The integration of customized visualizations with semantics can also improve the medical support based on artificial intelligence and the experts' workflow for interpreting medical data. Currently, systems as PACS (Picture Archiving and Communication System) or RIS (Radiology Information System) allow only to centralize data, where experts from different specialties can obtain medical information from a centralized repository. Idealistically, the integration of systems as PACS within the proposed methodology would provide experts not only organized data, but also related knowledge among these data (metadata) as well as a global visualization framework and a customized set of visualization tools according to the scientist's field and interests for supporting knowledge discovery.

Improvements on the visualization and analysis of the knee joint articulation at the behavioral scale

The performed intra-scale visualizations described in the application scenario have also several interesting future steps to investigate.

Regarding the anatomical visualization (c.f. Sec. 5.5.1), establishing an automated mapping between the anatomical landmarks detected in the visualization tool and in the experiments is desirable, as it is currently based on the expertise of surgeons and biomechanical engineers. An alternative is the combination of automatic landmark detection with 3D printing technologies in order to produce patient–specific bone templates for a guided determination of the landmarks prior to the data collection. This improvement would facilitate the translation of this visualization method to the clinical practice in surgical operations, as the optical tracking technique employed in the data collection is also used during total knee replacement surgeries. Thus, surgeons could potentially make use of this tool to evaluate during operations the behavior of the helical axes. Regarding the similarity visualization (c.f. Sec. 5.5.2), extended kinematical studies yielding a large collection of motion sequences could lead to better models of healthy vs. pathological knee joint functionality.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] Biodigital human. https://www.biodigitalhuman.com/.
- [2] Chromium. http://www.chromium.org/.
- [3] CTAn. Bruker. http://bruker-microct.com/next/CTAn02.pdf.
- [4] Gene Ontology Project. http://www.geneontology.org.
- [5] Google Earth. http://www.google.com/earth.
- [6] Hyunday 3D monitor model W240. http://www.vidimensio.eu/ downloads/HYUNDAY_3D_W220S_W240S.pdf.
- [7] Inca 6D. Haption. http://www.haption.com/site/pdf/Datasheet_ Inca.pdf.
- [8] Java3D. https://java3d.java.net/.
- [9] Leap Motion device, Leap Motion Inc. https://www.leapmotion. com/.
- [10] MacBook. Apple. http://www.apple.com/es/macbook/.
- [11] MeshLab. http://meshlab.sourceforge.net/.
- [12] Miracube. http://www.miracube.net/.
- [13] MSD Ontology, MultiScaleHuman Project. National Council of Research - IMATI, Genova, Italy. http://multiscalehuman.miralab. ch/repository/Public_download/D8.2_MSD-Ontology/.
- [14] Multiscale Spatiotemporal Visualisation Project. http://www. msv-project.eu/.
- [15] MultiScaleHuman Project. http://multiscalehuman.miralab.ch/.
- [16] Polaris Optical Tracking System. Northern Digital Inc., Waterloo, Canada. http://www.ndigital.com/medical/products/ polaris-family/.
- [17] H₃D API. SenseGraphics AB. http://www.h3dapi.org/.
- [18] Phantom Premium 1.5 haptic device. SensAble. http://www. dentsable.com/phantom-premium-1-5.htm.
- [19] SkyScan. Bruker. http://bruker-microct.com/home.htm.
- [20] STL File Format. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/STL_(file_ format).

- [21] The Universe Map. National Geographic. http://maps. nationalgeographic.com/maps/print-collection/universe.html.
- [22] Virtual Physiological Human Network of Excellence. http://www. vph-noe.eu/.
- [23] Visualization toolkit. http://www.vtk.org/.
- [24] VTK File Formats. http://www.vtk.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/ 04/file-formats.pdf.
- [25] W₃C semantic web. http://www.w3.org/2001/sw/.
- [26] XCode. Apple. https://developer.apple.com/xcode/.
- [27] Zygote body. http://www.zygotebody.com/.
- [28] Digital imaging and communications in medicine (DICOM). National Electrical Manufacturers Association, 1998.
- [29] Commission Staff Working Document on an Action Plan for the EU Health Workforce, 2012. http://ec.europa.eu/health/workforce/ docs/staff_working_doc_healthcare_workforce_en.pdf.
- [30] Fit for work Europe: The EU reflection process on chronic diseases: Supporting national plans on musculoskeletal disorders, 2012. http://www.fitforworkeurope.eu/FfW_Chronic% 20Conditions%20Position%20Paper_Circulation_Final_v10.pdf.
- [31] RFID tags track possible outbreak pathways in the hospital, 2012. http://www.scientificamerican.com/article/graphic-sciencerfids-tags-track-possible-outbreak-pathways-in-hospital/.
- [32] White paper: VPH, molecular systems biology (MSB), and their ITFoM, 2012. http://www.itfom.eu/images/article_PDFs/white_ paper_vph_msb_itfom_2012.pdf.
- [33] Agibetov, A. *Essence of JSON: Static Analysis for JSON*. Lambert Academic Publishing, 2013.
- [34] Agibetov, A. *Multi-scale biological knowledge formalization: definition, properties, and applications.* PhD thesis, University of Genova, in preparation.
- [35] Agibetov, A., Millán Vaquero, R. M., Friese, K.-I., Patane, G., Spagnuolo, M., and Wolter, F.-E. Integrated visualization and analysis of a multi-scale biomedical knowledge space. In *EuroVis Workshop* on Visual Analytics, pages 25–29, Swansea, UK, 2014. Eurographics Association.
- [36] Argyros, A. A. and Lourakis, M. I. Vision-based interpretation of hand gestures for remote control of a computer mouse. In *Computer Vision in Human-Computer Interaction*, pages 40–51. Springer, 2006.

- [37] Ashburner, M., Ball, C. A., Blake, J. A., Botstein, D., Butler, H., Cherry, J. M., Davis, A. P., Dolinski, K., Dwight, S. S., Eppig, J. T., Harris, M. A., Hill, D. P., Issel-Tarver, L., Kasarskis, A., Lewis, S., Matese, J. C., Richardson, J. E., Ringwald, M., Rubin, G. M., and Sherlock, G. Gene ontology: tool for the unification of biology. *Nature genetics*, 25(1):25–29, May 2000.
- [38] Astephen, J. L., Deluzio, K. J., Caldwell, G. E., Dunbar, M. J., and Hubley-Kozey, C. L. Gait and neuromuscular pattern changes are associated with differences in knee osteoarthritis severity levels. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 41(4):868–876, 2008.
- [39] Auer, M., Peng, H., and Singh, A. Development of multiscale biological image data analysis. *BMC Cell Biology*, 8(Suppl 1):S1, 2007.
- [40] Baader, F., Calvanese, D., McGuinness, D. L., Nardi, D., and Patel-Schneider, P. F. *The Description Logic Handbook: Theory, Implementation and Applications*. Cambridge University Press, New York, NY, USA, 2nd edition, 2010.
- [41] Baehrecke, E. H., Dang, N., Babaria, K., and Shneiderman, B. Visualization and analysis of microarray and gene ontology data with treemaps. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 5(1):84, June 2004.
- [42] Bajaj, C., Yu, Z., and Auer, M. Volumetric feature extraction and visualization of tomographic molecular imaging. *Journal of Structural Biology*, 144(1):132–143, 2003.
- [43] Balabanian, J.-P., Viola, I., and Gröller, E. Interactive illustrative visualization of hierarchical volume data. In *Proceedings of Graphics Interface* 2010, pages 137–144. Canadian Information Processing Society, 2010.
- [44] Banerjee, I., Catalano, C., Robbiano, F., and Spagnuolo, M. Accessing and Representing Knowledge in the Medical Field: Visual and Lexical Modalities. In Magnenat-Thalmann, N., Ratib, O., and Choi, H. F., editors, 3D Multiscale Physiological Human, pages 297–316. Springer London, 2014.
- [45] Bao, J., Kendall, E. F., McGuinness, D. L., and Patel-Schneider, P. F. OWL 2 web ontology language: W3C quick reference.
- [46] Bastian, M., Heymann, S., and Jacomy, M. Gephi: an open source software for exploring and manipulating networks. *International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media*, 8:361–362, 2009.
- [47] Belta, C. and Kumar, V. Euclidean metrics for motion generation on SE(3). In *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part C*, volume 216, pages 47–60. SAGE Publications, 2002.
- [48] Bennett, I. M., Babu, B. R., Morkhandikar, K., and Gururaj, P. Distributed realtime speech recognition system, October 14 2003. US Patent 6,633,846.

- [49] Besier, T. F., Sturnieks, D. L., Alderson, J. A., and Lloyd, D. G. Repeatability of gait data using a functional hip joint centre and a mean helical knee axis. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 36(8):1159–1168, August 2003.
- [50] Bettadapura, V. Face expression recognition and analysis: The state of the art. *Tech Report, April, arXiv:* 1203.6722, 2012.
- [51] Birkeland, A., Turkay, C., and Viola, I. Perceptually uniform motion space. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 20(11):1542–1554, 2014.
- [52] Birrell, A. D. and Nelson, B. J. Implementing remote procedure calls. *ACM Transactions on Computer Systems*, 2(1):39–59, 1984.
- [53] Blankevoort, L., Huiskes, R., and Lange, A. D. Helical axes of passive knee joint motions. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 23(12):1219–1229, 1990.
- [54] Blascheck, T., Kurzhals, K., Raschke, M., Burch, M., Weiskopf, D., and Ertl, T. State-of-the-art of visualization for eye tracking data. *EuroVis State of the Art Reports*, 2014.
- [55] Borg, I. and Groenen, P. J. *Modern multidimensional scaling: Theory and applications*. Springer, 2005.
- [56] Brodlie, K. W., Carpenter, L., Earnshaw, R., Gallop, J., Hubbold, R., Mumford, A., Osland, C., and Quarendon, P. *Scientific visualization: techniques and applications*. Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [57] Burch, M. and Weiskopf, D. On the benefits and drawbacks of radial diagrams. In Huang, W., editor, *Handbook of Human Centric Visualization*, pages 429–451. Springer New York, 2014.
- [58] Caban, J. J., Joshi, A., and Nagy, P. Rapid development of medical imaging tools with open-source libraries. *Journal of Digital Imaging*, 20(Suppl 1):83–93, November 2007.
- [59] Card, S. K., Mackinlay, J. D., and Shneiderman, B. *Readings in Information Visualization: Using Vision to Think*. Morgan Kaufmann, January 1999.
- [60] Carmigniani, J., Furht, B., Anisetti, M., Ceravolo, P., Damiani, E., and Ivkovic, M. Augmented reality technologies, systems and applications. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 51(1):341–377, 2011.
- [61] Catalano, C. Ontologies and semantic annotation in medicine, 2013. FP7 ITN MultiScaleHuman Summer School.
- [62] Chan, W. W.-Y. A survey on multivariate data visualization. 2006. Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.

- [63] Chasles, M. Note sur les propriétés générales du système de deux corps semblables entr'eux et placés d'une manière quelconque dans l'espace; et sur le déplacement fini ou infiniment petit d'un corps solide libre. Bulletin des Sciences Mathématiques, Férussac, 14:321–26, 1830.
- [64] Chen, J., Dougherty, E., Demir, S., Friedman, C., Li, C.-S., and Wong, S. Grand challenges for multimodal bio-medical systems. *IEEE Circuits* and Systems Magazine, 5(2):46–52, 2005.
- [65] Chi, E. H.-h. A framework for visualizing information, volume 1. Springer Science & Business Media, 2002.
- [66] Chiang, Y. J., El-Sana, J., Lindstrom, P., Pajarola, R., and Silva, C. T. Out-of-core algorithms for scientific visualization and computer graphics. In *IEEE Visualization*, 2003.
- [67] Choi, H., Chincisan, A., and Magnenat-Thalmann, N. A collective approach for reconstructing 3d fiber arrangements in virtual musculoskeletal soft tissue models. In Doyle, B., Miller, K., Wittek, A., and Nielsen, P. M., editors, *Computational Biomechanics for Medicine*, pages 117–128. Springer International Publishing, 2015.
- [68] Cox, T. F. and Cox, M. A. Multidimensional scaling. CRC Press, 2010.
- [69] Cutrell, E. and Tan, D. BCI for passive input in HCI. In *Proceedings of CHI*, volume 8, 2008.
- [70] Damle, A. Explain me visually: exploring information design through multimedia. In Sixth International Conference on Information Visualisation, pages 265–267, 2002.
- [71] Dennis, D. A., Komistek, R. D., Kim, R. H., and Sharma, A. Gap balancing versus measured resection technique for total knee arthroplasty. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*, 468(1):102–107, 2010.
- [72] Diehl, S. Software visualization: visualizing the structure, behaviour, and evolution of software. Springer Science & Business Media, 2007.
- [73] Dix, A. Human-computer interaction. Springer, 2004.
- [74] Dmitrieva, J. and Verbeek, F. J. Node-link and containment methods in ontology visualization. CEUR Workshop Proceedings. Vol. 529, 2008.
- [75] Eckhoff, D. G., Dwyer, T. F., Bach, J. M., Spitzer, V. M., and Reinig, K. D. Three-dimensional morphology of the distal part of the femur viewed in virtual reality. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume*, 83(2):43–50, 2001.
- [76] Elshehaly, M., Gracanin, D., Gad, M., Elmongui, H. G., and Matkovic, K. Interactive fusion and tracking for multi-modal spatial data visualization. *Computer Graphics Forum*, 2015.

- [77] Evanko, D. Supplement on visualizing biological data. Nature Methods, 7:S1–S1, 2010.
- [78] Fekete, J.-D. The infovis toolkit. In *Proceedings of the IEEE symposium* on information visualization (InfoVis), pages 167–174. IEEE Computer Soc., 2004.
- [79] Fensel, D. Ontologies: A silver bullet for Knowledge Management and Electronic-Commerce. Springer-Verlag, 2000.
- [80] Fishman, E. K. and Kuszyk, B. 3D imaging: musculoskeletal applications. *Critical reviews in diagnostic imaging*, 42(1):59–100, February 2001.
- [81] Friese, K.-I. Entwicklung einer Plattform zur 3D-Visualisierung und -Segmentierung medizinischer Daten. PhD thesis, Leibniz Universität Hannover, 2009.
- [82] Friese, K.-I., Blanke, P., and Wolter, F.-E. YaDiV an open platform for 3D visualization and 3D segmentation of medical data. *Visual Computer*, 27(2):129–139, 2011.
- [83] Friese, K.-I., Cichy, S. B., Wolter, F.-E., and Botcharnikov, R. E. Analysis of tomographic mineralogical data using YaDiV–Overview and practical case study. *Computers & Geosciences*, 56:92–103, July 2013.
- [84] Gama, S. and Gonçalves, D. Studying the perception of color components' relative amounts in blended colors. In *Proceedings of the 8th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction: Fun, Fast, Foundational*, pages 1015–1018. ACM, 2014.
- [85] Gama, S. and Gonçalves, D. Studying color blending perception for data visualization. In Elmqvist, N., Hlawitschka, M., and Kennedy, J., editors, *EuroVis - Short Papers*. The Eurographics Association, 2014.
- [86] Gehlenborg, N., O'Donoghue, S. I., Baliga, N. S., Goesmann, A., Hibbs, M. A., Kitano, H., Kohlbacher, O., Neuweger, H., Schneider, R., Tenenbaum, D., and Gavin, A.-C. Visualization of omics data for systems biology. *Nature methods*, 7:S56–S68, 2010.
- [87] Glueck, M., Hamilton, P., Chevalier, F., Breslav, S., Khan, A., Wigdor, D., and Brudno, M. Phenoblocks: Phenotype comparison visualizations. *IEEE Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 2015.
- [88] Goldring, M. B. Articular cartilage degradation in osteoarthritis. *HSS Journal*, 8(1):7–9, February 2012.
- [89] Goodman, A. A. Principles of high-dimensional data visualization in astronomy. Astronomische Nachrichten, 333(5-6):505–514, 2012.
- [90] Grassia, F. S. Practical parameterization of rotations using the exponential map. *Journal of graphics tools*, 3(3):29–48, 1998.

- [91] Grenon, P., Smith, B., and Goldberg, L. Biodynamic ontology: applying BFO in the biomedical domain. *Studies in health technology and informatics*, 102:20–38, 2004.
- [92] Gruber, T. R. A translation approach to portable ontology specifications. *Knowledge acquisition*, 5(2):199–220, 1993.
- [93] Gruber, T. Ontology. In *Encyclopedia of database systems*, pages 1963–1965. Springer US, 2009.
- [94] Gutschke, M., Vais, A., and Wolter, F.-E. Differential geometric methods for examining the dynamics of slow-fast vector fields. *Visual Computer*, 31(2):169–186, 2015.
- [95] Hadlak, S., Schumann, H., and Schulz, H.-J. A survey of multi-faceted graph visualization. *Eurographics Conference on Visualization (EuroVis) STARs*, pages 1–20, 2015.
- [96] Hagen, H., Al-Zokari, Y. I., Khan, T., Schneider, D., Zeckzer, D., Auer, C., Sreevalsan-Nair, J., Zobel, V., Hotz, I., and Balabanian, J.-P. *Scientific Visualization: Interactions, Features, Metaphors*. Dagstuhl Publishing, 2011.
- [97] Han, L., Grodzinsky, A. J., and Ortiz, C. Nanomechanics of the cartilage extracellular matrix. *Annual review of materials research*, 41:133, 2011.
- [98] Hansen, C. D. and Johnson, C. R. *Visualization Handbook*. Academic Press, 2005.
- [99] Hanson, A., Fu, C.-W., and Wernert, E. Very large scale visualization methods for astrophysical data. In de Leeuw, W. and van Liere, R., editors, *Data Visualization 2000*, Eurographics, pages 115–124. Springer Vienna, 2000.
- [100] Hart, R., Mote, C., and Skinner, H. A finite helical axis as a landmark for kinematic reference of the knee. *Journal of Biomechanics Engineering*, 113(2):215–222, 1991.
- [101] Hauser, H. Toward new grounds in visualization. *SIGGRAPH Computer Graphics*, 39(2):5–8, May 2005.
- [102] Hauser, H. Generalizing Focus+Context visualization. In Bonneau, G.-P., Ertl, T., and Nielson, G. M., editors, *Scientific Visualization: The Visual Extraction of Knowledge from Data*, Mathematics and Visualization, pages 305–327. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, January 2006.
- [103] Healey, C. G. and Enns, J. T. On the use of perceptual cues & data mining for effective visualization of scientific datasets. In *Graphics Interface*, pages 177–184, 1998.
- [104] Higgins, T. Unity 3D game engine. http://unity3d.com/.

- [105] Hollister, A. M., Jatana, S., Singh, A. K., Sullivan, W. W., and Lupichuk, A. G. The axes of rotation of the knee. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*, 290:259–268, 1993.
- [106] Holmqvist, K., Nyström, M., Andersson, R., Dewhurst, R., Jarodzka, H., and Van de Weijer, J. Eye tracking: A comprehensive guide to methods and measures. Oxford University Press, 2011.
- [107] Houard, X., Goldring, M. B., and Berenbaum, F. Homeostatic mechanisms in articular cartilage and role of inflammation in osteoarthritis. *Current Rheumatology Reports*, 15(11):1–10, 2013.
- [108] Hunter, P., Coveney, P. V., Bono, B. d., Diaz, V., Fenner, J., Frangi, A. F., Harris, P., Hose, R., Kohl, P., Lawford, P., McCormack, K., Mendes, M., Omholt, S., Quarteroni, A., Skår, J., Tegner, J., Thomas, S. R., Tollis, I., Tsamardinos, I., Beek, J. H. G. M. v., and Viceconti, M. A vision and strategy for the virtual physiological human in 2010 and beyond. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, 368(1920):2595–2614, June 2010.
- [109] Ibrahim, N. and Noor, N. F. M. Navigation technique in 3D information visualisation. In TENCON 2004 IEEE Region 10 Conference, pages 379–382, 2004.
- [110] Ishihara, S. Test for Colour-Blindness. Kanehara Shuppan, 1917.
- [111] Ishii, H. The tangible user interface and its evolution. *Communications of the ACM*, 51(6):32–36, 2008.
- [112] Jaimes, A. and Sebe, N. Multimodal human–computer interaction: A survey. Computer vision and image understanding, 108(1):116–134, 2007.
- [113] Jang, S., Elmqvist, N., and Ramani, K. Motionflow: Visual abstraction and aggregation of sequential patterns in human motion tracking data. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 22(1):21–30, 2015.
- [114] Jänicke, S., Franzini, G., Cheema, M. F., and Scheuermann, G. On close and distant reading in digital humanities: A survey and future challenges. *Eurographics Conference on Visualization (EuroVis) - STARs*, 2015.
- [115] Johansson, J. and Forsell, C. Evaluation of parallel coordinates: Overview, categorization and guidelines for future research. *IEEE Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 2015.
- [116] Johnson, C. Top scientific visualization research problems. *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications*, 24(4):13 17, August 2004.
- [117] Kanamiya, T., Naito, M., Hara, M., and Yoshimura, I. The influences of biomechanical factors on cartilage regeneration after high tibial osteotomy for knees with medial compartment osteoarthritis. *Arthroscopy*, 18(7):725–729, 2002.

- [118] Karray, F., Alemzadeh, M., Saleh, J. A., and Arab, M. N. Humancomputer interaction: Overview on state of the art. *International Journal on Smart Sensing and Intelligent Systems*, 1(1):137–159, March 2008.
- [119] Katifori, A., Halatsis, C., Lepouras, G., Vassilakis, C., and Giannopoulou, E. Ontology visualization methods- A survey. ACM *Computing Surveys*, 39(4), 2007.
- [120] Khan, M. and Khan, S. S. Data and information visualization methods, and interactive mechanisms: A survey. *International Journal of Computer Applications*, 34(1):1–14, 2011.
- [121] Kirk, A. Data Visualization: a successful design process. Packt Publishing, 2012.
- [122] Kleemann, R., Krocker, D., Cedraro, A., Tuischer, J., and Duda, G. Altered cartilage mechanics and histology in knee osteoarthritis: relation to clinical assessment (ICRS grade). Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 13(11):958 – 963, 2005.
- [123] Kleinsmith, A. and Bianchi-Berthouze, N. Affective body expression perception and recognition: A survey. *IEEE Transactions on Affective Computing*, 4(1):15–33, 2013.
- [124] Kolsch, M. Vision based hand gesture interfaces for wearable computing and virtual environments. University of California, Santa Barbara, 2004.
- [125] Kosara, R., Healey, C. G., Interrante, V., Laidlaw, D. H., and Ware, C. Thoughts on user studies: Why, how, and when. *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications*, 23(4):20–25, 2003.
- [126] Kosara, R. Semantic Depth of Field-Using Blur for Focus+ Context Visualization. PhD thesis, Vienna University of Technology, 2001.
- [127] Kwon, Y.-H. Helical (screw) axis, 1998. http://www.kwon3d.com/ theory/jkinem/helical.html.
- [128] Lamparter, S., Ehrig, M., and Tempich, C. Knowledge extraction from classification schemas. In Meersman, R. and Tari, Z., editors, On the Move to Meaningful Internet Systems 2004: CoopIS, DOA, and ODBASE, volume 3290 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 618–636. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2004.
- [129] Langlotz, C. P. RadLex: a new method for indexing online educational materials. *Radiographics*, 26(6):1595–1597, December 2006.
- [130] Leardini, A., Astolfi, L., Fantozzi, S., Viceconti, M., Benedetti, M. G., and Catani, F. Advanced multimodal visualisation of clinical gait and fluoroscopy analyses in the assessment of total knee replacement. *Computer methods and programs in biomedicine*, 79(3):227–240, 2005.
- [131] Lee, J. M. Introduction to Smooth Manifolds. Springer, 2003.

- [132] Levenson, R. M. and Mansfield, J. R. Multispectral imaging in biology and medicine: Slices of life. *Cytometry Part A*, 69A(8):748–758, August 2006.
- [133] Liu, S., Cui, W., Wu, Y., and Liu, M. A survey on information visualization: recent advances and challenges. *The Visual Computer*, 30(12):1373–1393, 2014.
- [134] Liu, S., Maljovec, D., Wang, B., Bremer, P.-T., and Pascucci, V. Visualizing high-dimensional data: Advances in the past decade. *Eurographics Conference on Visualization (EuroVis) - STARs*, 2015.
- [135] Liu, W. K., Liu, Y., Farrell, D., Zhang, L., Wang, X. S., Fukui, Y., Patankar, N., Zhang, Y., Bajaj, C., Lee, J., Hong, J., Chen, X., and Hsu, H. Immersed finite element method and its applications to biological systems. *Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering*, 195(13–16):1722–1749, February 2006.
- [136] Loeuille, D., Chary-Valckenaere, I., Champigneulle, J., Rat, A.-C., Toussaint, F., Pinzano-Watrin, A., Goebel, J. C., Mainard, D., Blum, A., Pourel, J., Netter, P., and Gillet, P. Macroscopic and microscopic features of synovial membrane inflammation in the osteoarthritic knee: Correlating magnetic resonance imaging findings with disease severity. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 52(11):3492–3501, 2005.
- [137] Lorensen, B. On the death of visualization. In Position Papers NIH/NSF Proc. Fall 2004 Workshop Visualization Research Challenges, volume 1, 2004.
- [138] Luebke, D., Reddy, M., Cohen, J. D., Varshney, A., Watson, B., and Huebner, R. Level of Detail for 3D Graphics. Morgan Kaufmann, July 2002.
- [139] Lupu, R. G., F., U., and V., S. Eye tracking mouse for human computer interaction. In E-Health and Bioengineering Conference 2013, pages 1–4, 2013.
- [140] Manal, K., McClay, I., Stanhope, S., Richards, J., and Galinat, B. Comparison of surface mounted markers and attachment methods in estimating tibial rotations during walking: an in vivo study. *Gait Posture*, 11(1):38–45, 2000.
- [141] Martel-Pelletier, J., Tardif, G., Fernandes, J., and Pelletier, J.-P. Metalloproteases and their modulation as treatment in osteoarthritis. In *Principles of Molecular Rheumatology*, pages 499–513. Springer, 2000.
- [142] McCormick, B. H., DeFanti, T. A., and Brown, M. D. Visualization in scientific computing, 1987.
- [143] McCrae, J., Mordatch, I., Glueck, M., and Khan, A. Multiscale 3D navigation. In Proceedings of the 2009 symposium on Interactive 3D graphics and games, page 714, 2009.

- [144] McFarlane, N. J. B., Clapworthy, G. J., Agrawal, A., Viceconti, M., Taddei, F., Schileo, E., and Baruffaldi, F. 3D multiscale visualisation for medical datasets. In 2008 International Conference on Information Visualisation - MediVis, pages 47–52, 2008.
- [145] McFarlane, N. J. B., Ma, X., Clapworthy, G. J., Bessis, N., and Testi, D. A survey and classification of visualisation in multiscale biomedical applications. In 16th International Conference on Information Visualisation, pages 561–566, 2012.
- [146] McFarlane, N., Ma, X., Clapworthy, G., Bessis, N., and Testi, D. Report on best practice, Multiscale Spatio-temporal Visualisation Project, 2012.
- [147] McNamara, N. and Kirakowski, J. Functionality, usability, and user experience: three areas of concern. *Interactions*, 13(6):26–28, November 2006.
- [148] Metzger, M., Senan, N. F., O'Reilly, O., and Lotz, J. Minimizing errors associated with calculating the location of the helical axis for spinal motions. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 43(14):2822–2829, 2010.
- [149] Millán Vaquero, R. M., Agibetov, A., Patanè, G., Friese, K.-I., Wolter, F.-E., and Spagnuolo, M. InfoVis and SciVis as means of visualization and analysis of a multi-scale biomedical knowledge space. *Presented at 4th Workshop on 3D Physiological Human*, 2013.
- [150] Millán Vaquero, R. M., Agibetov, A., Rzepecki, J., Ondrésik, M., Vais, A., Oliveira, J. M., Patanè, G., Friese, K.-I., Reis, R. L., Spagnuolo, M., and Wolter, F.-E. A semantically adaptable integrated visualization and natural exploration of multi-scale biomedical data. In 2015 19th International Conference on Information Visualisation - MediVis, 2015.
- [151] Millán Vaquero, R. M., Lynch, S. D., Fleischer, B., Rzepecki, J., Friese, K.-I., Hurschler, C., and Wolter, F.-E. Enhanced visualization of the knee joint functional articulation based on helical axis method. In *Bildverarbeitung für die Medizin 2015*, Informatik aktuell, pages 449–454. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2015.
- [152] Millán Vaquero, R. M., Rzepecki, J., Friese, K.-I., and Wolter, F.-E. Visualization and user interaction methods for multiscale biomedical data. In Magnenat-Thalmann, N., Ratib, O., and Choi, H. F., editors, 3D Multiscale Physiological Human, pages 107–133. Springer London, January 2014.
- [153] Millán Vaquero, R. M., Vais, A., Lynch, S. D., Rzepecki, J., Friese, K.-I., Hurschler, C., and Wolter, F.-E. Helical axis data visualization and analysis of the knee joint articulation. *Journal of Biomechanical Engineering. ASME*, 2016. DOI:10.1115/1.4034005. http://biomechanical.asmedigitalcollection.asme.org/article. aspx?articleid=2532294. Also invited as a lecture presentation in

29th International Congress and Exhibition of Computer Assisted Radiology and Surgery (CARS 2015).

- [154] Milton, N. *Knowledge technologies*, volume 3. Polimetrica, 2008.
- [155] Milton, N., Shadbolt, N., Cottam, H., and Hammersley, M. Towards a knowledge technology for knowledge management. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 51(3):615–641, September 1999.
- [156] Motta, E., Mulholland, P., Peroni, S., d'Aquin, M., Gomez-Perez, J. M., Mendez, V., and Zablith, F. A novel approach to visualizing and navigating ontologies. In Aroyo, L., Welty, C., Alani, H., Taylor, J., Bernstein, A., Kagal, L., Noy, N., and Blomqvist, E., editors, *The Semantic Web - ISWC 2011*, number 7031 in Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 470–486. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, January 2011.
- [157] Munn, K. and Smith, B., editors. Applied ontology: An introduction, volume 9. Ontos Verlag, 2008.
- [158] Murray, R. M., Li, Z., Sastry, S. S., and Sastry, S. S. A mathematical introduction to robotic manipulation. CRC press, 1994.
- [159] Myers, B. A. A brief history of human-computer interaction technology. *Interactions*, 5(2):44–54, March 1998.
- [160] Nackenhorst, U., Kardas, D., Helmich, T., Lenz, C., and Shan, W. Computational techniques for multiscale analysis of materials and interfaces. In Stephan, E. and Wriggers, P., editors, *Modelling, Simulation* and Software Concepts for Scientific-Technological Problems, volume 57 of Lecture Notes in Applied and Computational Mechanics, pages 133–167. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2011.
- [161] Nicholas, M., Archambault, D., and Laramee, R. S. Interactive Visualisation of Automotive Warranty Data Using Novel Extensions of Chord Diagrams. In Elmqvist, N., Hlawitschka, M., and Kennedy, J., editors, *EuroVis - Short Papers*. The Eurographics Association, 2014.
- [162] Nielsen, C. B., Cantor, M., Dubchak, I., Gordon, D., and Wang, T. Visualizing genomes: techniques and challenges. *Nature methods*, 7:S5–S15, 2010.
- [163] Oden, J., Belytschko, T., Fish, J., Hughes, T., Johnson, C., Keyes, D., Laub, A., Petzold, L., Srolovitz, D., and Yip, A. Simulation-based engineering science: Revolutionizing engineering science through simulation, 2006. http://www.nsf.gov/pubs/reports/sbes_final_ report.pdf.
- [164] O'Donoghue, S. I., Gavin, A. C., Gehlenborg, N., Goodsell, D. S., Hériché, J. K., Nielsen, C. B., North, C., Olson, A. J., Procter, J. B., and Shattuck, D. W. Visualizing biological data-now and in the future. *Nature methods*, 7:S2–S4, 2010.
- [165] O'Donoghue, S. I., Goodsell, D. S., Frangakis, A. S., Jossinet, F., Laskowski, R. A., Nilges, M., Saibil, H. R., Schafferhans, A., Wade, R. C., and Westhof, E. Visualization of macromolecular structures. *Nature methods*, 7:S42–S55, 2010.
- [166] Okamura, A. M. Haptic feedback in robot-assisted minimally invasive surgery. *Current opinion in urology*, 19(1):102, 2009.
- [167] Olender, G., Hurschler, C., Fleischer, B., Friese, K.-I., Sukau, A., Gutberlet, M., and Becher, C. Validation of an anatomical coordinate system for clinical evaluation of the knee joint in upright and closed MRI. *Annals of Biomedical Engineering*, 42(5):1133–1142, 2014.
- [168] Ondrésik, M., Correia, C., Sousa, R., Oliveira, J., and Reis, R. Understanding cellular behaviour in early and late stage of MSD. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 8:412–412, 2014.
- [169] Ostermeier, S., Hurschler, C., and Stukenborg-Colsman, C. Quadriceps function after TKA - an in vitro study in a knee kinematic simulator. *Clinical Biomechanics (Bristol, Avon)*, 19(3):270–276, 2004.
- [170] Pandey, A. V., Manivannan, A., Nov, O., Satterthwaite, M., and Bertini,
 E. The persuasive power of data visualization. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 20(12):2211–2220, 2014.
- [171] Peng, H. Bioimage informatics: a new area of engineering biology. *Bioinformatics*, 24(17):1827–1836, 2008.
- [172] Pérez, J., Arenas, M., and Gutierrez, C. Semantics and complexity of SPARQL. ACM Trans. Database Syst., 34(3):16:1–16:45, September 2009.
- [173] Pharr, M. and Humphreys, G. *Physically based rendering: From theory to implementation*. Morgan Kaufmann, 2004.
- [174] Picard, R. W. Affective computing for HCI. In Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction): Ergonomics and User Interfaces, volume 1, pages 829–833, 1999.
- [175] Pinter, C. C. A book of abstract algebra. Courier Corporation, 2012.
- [176] Pitikakis, M., Chincisan, A., Magnenat-Thalmann, N., Cesario, L., Parascandolo, P., Vosilla, L., and Viano, G. Automatic measurement and visualization of focal femoral cartilage thickness in stress-based regions of interest using three-dimensional knee models. *International journal of computer assisted radiology and surgery (online)*, 2015.
- [177] Preim, B. and Botha, C. P. Visual Computing for Medicine: Theory, Algorithms, and Applications. Morgan Kaufmann, 2013.
- [178] Raidou, R., Eisemann, M., Breeuwer, M., Eisemann, E., and Vilanova, A. Orientation-enhanced parallel coordinate plots. *IEEE Visualization* and Computer Graphics, 2015.

- [179] Rautaray, S. S. and Agrawal, A. Vision based hand gesture recognition for human computer interaction: a survey. *Artificial Intelligence Review*, 43(1):1–54, 2015.
- [180] Rensink, R. A. On the prospects for a science of visualization. In Huang, W., editor, *Handbook of Human Centric Visualization*, pages 147–175. Springer New York, 2014.
- [181] Reuter, M., Wolter, F.-E., and Peinecke, N. Laplace–beltrami spectra as Shape-DNA of surfaces and solids. *Computer-Aided Design*, 38(4):342– 366, 2006.
- [182] Rhyne, T. M. Does the difference between information and scientific visualization really matter? *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications*, 23(3):6 – 8, June 2003.
- [183] Rhyne, T. M., Tory, M., Munzner, T., Ward, M., Johnson, C., and Laidlaw, D. H. Information and scientific visualization: Separate but equal or happy together at last. In *Proceedings of the 14th IEEE Visualization*, page 115, 2003.
- [184] Robertson, G., Caldwell, G., Hamill, J., Kamen, G., and Whittlesey, S. *Research methods in biomechanics*, *2E*. Human Kinetics, 2013.
- [185] Robinson, P. N., Köhler, S., Bauer, S., Seelow, D., Horn, D., and Mundlos, S. The human phenotype ontology: a tool for annotating and analyzing human hereditary disease. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 83(5):610–615, 2008.
- [186] Rodrigues, O. Des lois géometriques qui regissent les déplacements d' un système solide dans l' espace, et de la variation des coordonnées provenant de ces déplacement considerées indépendent des causes qui peuvent les produire. *Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées*, 5:380–400, 1840.
- [187] Rosse, C. and Mejino, Jr., J. L. V. A reference ontology for biomedical informatics: the foundational model of anatomy. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, 36(6):478–500, December 2003.
- [188] Rosset, A., Spadola, L., and Ratib, O. OsiriX: An Open-Source Software for Navigating in Multidimensional DICOM Images. *Journal of Digital Imaging*, 17(3):205–216, 2004.
- [189] Rossman, W. Lie groups: an introduction through linear groups. Oxford University Press, 2002.
- [190] Rubin, D. L., Noy, N. F., and Musen, M. A. Protégé: A tool for managing and using terminology in radiology applications. *Journal of Digital Imaging*, 20(S1):34–46, August 2007.
- [191] Rzepecki, J. Multimodal interaction with an integrated visualization system for the analysis of multiscale biomedical data. PhD thesis, Leibniz Universität Hannover, in preparation.

- [192] Rzepecki, J., Millán Vaquero, R. M., Vais, A., Friese, K.-I., and Wolter, F.-E. Multimodal approach for natural biomedical multi-scale exploration. In *Advances in Visual Computing*, pages 620–631. Springer, 2014.
- [193] Schulz, S., Seddig-Raufie, D., Grewe, N., Röhl, J., Schober, D., Boeker, M., and Jansen, L. Guideline on developing good ontologies in the biomedical domain with description logics. 2012. University Medical Center Freiburg, University of Rostock and University of Graz.
- [194] Seaborne, A. and Prud'hommeaux, E. SPARQL query language for RDF. W3C recommendation, W3C, January 2008. http://www.w3. org/TR/2008/REC-rdf-sparql-query-20080115/.
- [195] Serra, J. Image Analysis and Mathematical Morphology. Academic Press, 1984. http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=1098652.
- [196] Shneiderman, B. Tree visualization with tree-maps: 2-d space-filling approach. *ACM Transactions on Graphics*, 11(1):92–99, January 1992.
- [197] Shneiderman, B. Dynamic queries for visual information seeking. Software, IEEE, 11(6):70–77, 1994.
- [198] Singh, J. P., Gupta, A., and Levoy, M. Parallel visualization algorithms: Performance and architectural implications. *Computer*, 27(7):45–55, 1994.
- [199] Sonka, M., Hlavac, V., and Boyle, R. *Image processing, analysis, and machine vision. Fourth Edition.* Cengage Learning, 2015.
- [200] Sowa, J. E. and Shapiro, S. C. Knowledge Representation: Logical, Philosophical, and Computational Foundations Computational Foundations. Springer-Verlag, 2006.
- [201] Spackman, K. A., Campbell, K. E., and Côté, R. A. SNOMED RT: a reference terminology for health care. *Proceedings of the AMIA Annual Fall Symposium*, pages 640–644, 1997.
- [202] Spoor, C. and Veldpaus, F. Rigid body motion calculated from spatial co-ordinates of markers. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 13(4):391–393, 1980.
- [203] Springmeyer, R. R., Blattner, M. M., and Max, N. L. A characterization of the scientific data analysis process. In *Proceedings of the 3rd conference* on Visualization, pages 235–242, 1992.
- [204] St Amant, R. and Riedl, M. O. A perception/action substrate for cognitive modeling in HCI. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 55(1):15–39, July 2001.
- [205] Steinberger, M., Waldner, M., Streit, M., Lex, A., and Schmalstieg, D. Context-preserving visual links. *IEEE Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 17(12):2249–2258, 2011.

- [206] Steinhauser, M. O. Computational Multiscale Modeling of Fluids and Solids. Springer, 2008.
- [207] Studer, R., Benjamins, V., and Fensel, D. Knowledge engineering: Principles and methods. *Data & Knowledge Engineering*, 25(1-2):161– 197, March 1998.
- [208] Swartout, B., Patil, R., Knight, K., and Russ, T. Toward distributed use of large-scale ontologies. In *Proceedings of the 10th Workshop* on Knowledge Acquisition for Knowledge-Based Systems, pages 138–148, 1996.
- [209] Tan, C. M., Chen, E. Y., Dannenfelser, R., Clark, N. R., and Maayan, A. Network2canvas: network visualization on a canvas with enrichment analysis. *Bioinformatics*, 2013.
- [210] Telea, A. C. Data visualization: principles and practice. CRC Press, 2014.
- [211] Tennekes, M. and de Jonge, E. Tree colors: Color schemes for treestructured data. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 20(12):2072–2081, 2014.
- [212] Testi, D., Giunchi, D., Clapworthy, G., Aylward, S., Planes, X., and Christie, R. New interactive visualisation of multiscale biomedical data. In ACM SIGGRAPH 2012 Posters, pages 76:1–76:1. ACM, 2012.
- [213] Tominski, C., Gladisch, S., Kister, U., Dachselt, R., and Schumann, H. A survey on interactive lenses in visualization. *EuroVis State of the Art Reports*, pages 43–62, 2014.
- [214] Tory, M. and Möller, T. A model-based visualization taxonomy. *School of computing science, Simon Fraser University, Canada,* 2002.
- [215] Tory, M. and Möller, T. Human factors in visualization research. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 10(1):72–84, 2004.
- [216] Trombella, S., García, D., Colin, D., Germain, S., Seimbille, Y., and Ratib, O. ¹¹C acetate and PET/CT assessment of muscle activation in rat studies. *International Journal of Computer Assisted Radiology and Surgery (online)*, 2015.
- [217] Turk, M. Multimodal interaction: A review. Pattern Recognition Letters, 36:189–195, 2014.
- [218] van den Bogert, A. J., Reinschmidt, C., and Lundberg, A. Helical axes of skeletal knee joint motion during running. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 41(8):1632–1638, 2008.
- [219] Van Sint Jan, S., Salvia, P., Hilal, I., Sholukha, V., Rooze, M., and Clapworthy, G. Registration of 6-DOFs electrogoniometry and CT medical imaging for 3D joint modeling. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 35(11):1475– 1484, 2002.

- [220] Van Sint Jan, S. L., Clapworthy, G. J., and Rooze, M. Visualization of combined motions in human joints. *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications*, 18(6):10–14, 1998.
- [221] Van Wijk, J. J. The value of visualization. In *IEEE Visualization*, pages 79–86, 2005.
- [222] Viceconti, M., Clapworthy, G., Testi, D., Taddei, F., and McFarlane, N. Multimodal fusion of biomedical data at different temporal and dimensional scales. *Computer methods and programs in biomedicine*, 102(3):227–237, 2011.
- [223] Viceconti, M., Taddei, F., Montanari, L., Testi, D., Leardini, A., Clapworthy, G., and Van Sint Jan, S. Multimod data manager: A tool for data fusion. *Computer methods and programs in biomedicine*, 87(2):148– 159, 2007.
- [224] Victor, J. Rotational alignment of the distal femur: A literature review. Orthopaedics & Traumatology: Surgery & Research, 96(5):365–372, 2009.
- [225] Visser, M., Stramigioli, S., and Heemskerk, C. Cayley-hamilton for roboticists. In *IEEE International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems*, pages 4187–4192, 2006.
- [226] Vlasov, R., Friese, K.-I., and Wolter, F.-E. Haptic rendering of volume data with collision determination guarantee using ray casting and implicit surface representation. In 2012 International Conference on Cyberworlds (CW), pages 91–98, 2012.
- [227] Vlasov, R. Literature overview. Design and Development of a VR System for an Exploration of Medical Data Using Haptic Rendering and High Quality Visualization. PhD thesis, Leibniz Universität Hannover, in preparation.
- [228] Vlasov, R., Friese, K.-I., and Wolter, F.-E. Ray casting for collision detection in haptic rendering of volume data. In *Proceedings of the* ACM SIGGRAPH Symposium on Interactive 3D Graphics and Games, pages 215–215. ACM, 2012.
- [229] Vlasov, R., Friese, K.-I., and Wolter, F.-E. Haptic rendering of volume data with collision detection guarantee using path finding. In *Transactions on Computational Science XVIII*, number 7848 in Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 212–231. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013.
- [230] Vogt, T., André, E., and Bee, N. Emovoice a framework for online recognition of emotions from voice. In *Perception in multimodal dialogue systems*, pages 188–199. Springer, 2008.
- [231] Wachs, J., Stern, H., Edan, Y., Gillam, M., Feied, C., Smith, M., and Handler, J. A real-time hand gesture interface for medical visualization applications. In *Applications of Soft Computing*, pages 153–162. Springer, 2006.

- [232] Walenstein, A. Cognitive Support in Software Engineering Tools: A Distribute Cognition Framework. PhD thesis, Simon Fraser University, 2002.
- [233] Walter, T., Shattuck, D. W., Baldock, R., Bastin, M. E., Carpenter, A. E., Duce, S., Ellenberg, J., Fraser, A., Hamilton, N., and Pieper, S. Visualization of image data from cells to organisms. *Nature methods*, 7:S26–S41, 2010.
- [234] Wang, S., Mao, Z., Zeng, C., Gong, H., Li, S., and Chen, B. A new method of virtual reality based on Unity3D. In 18th International Conference on Geoinformatics, pages 1–5. IEEE, 2010.
- [235] Ware, C. Information Visualization: Perception for Design. Interactive Technologies. Morgan Kaufmann, 2013.
- [236] Weichert, F., Bachmann, D., Rudak, B., and Fisseler, D. Analysis of the accuracy and robustness of the Leap Motion controller. *Sensors*, 13(5):6380–6393, 2013.
- [237] Wilhelm, B. G., Mandad, S., Truckenbrodt, S., Kröhnert, K., Schäfer, C., Rammner, B., Koo, S. J., Claßen, G. A., Krauss, M., Haucke, V., Urlaub, H., and Rizzoli, S. Composition of isolated synaptic boutons reveals the amounts of vesicle trafficking proteins. *Science*, 344(6187):1023– 1028, 2014.
- [238] Williams, J., Sochats, K., and Morse, E. Visualization. Annual review of information science and technology, 30:161–207, 1995.
- [239] Wolter, F.-E. Computations in Riemannian space involving geodesics with their singularities and computing and visualizing singularities of dynamical systems using numerical methods based on differential geometry, 2016. Seminar at MIT and University of Michigan http: //data.welfenlab.de/online/mit_seminar_2016.pdf.
- [240] Woltring, H., De Lange, A., Kauer, J., and Huiskes, R. Instantaneous helical axis estimation via natural, cross-validated splines. In *Biomechanics: basic and applied research*, pages 121–128. Springer, 1987.
- [241] Woltring, H., Huiskes, R., De Lange, A., and Veldpaus, F. Finite centroid and helical axis estimation from noisy landmark measurements in the study of human joint kinematics. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 18(5):379–389, 1985.
- [242] Wu, G., Siegler, S., Allard, P., Kirtley, C., Leardini, A., Rosenbaum, D., et al. ISB recommendation on definitions of joint coordinate system of various joints for the reporting of human joint motion-part I: ankle, hip, and spine. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 35(4):543–548, 2002.
- [243] Wu, W.-L., Su, F.-C., Cheng, Y.-M., Huang, P.-J., Chou, Y.-L., and Chou, C.-K. Gait analysis after ankle arthrodesis. *Gait Posture*, 11(1):54–61, 2000.

- [244] Yu, Z. and Bajaj, C. A fast and adaptive method for image contrast enhancement. In *2004 International Conference on Image Processing*, volume 2, pages 1001–1004, 2004.
- [245] Zhao, Q. A survey on virtual reality. *Science in China Series F: Information Sciences*, 52(3):348–400, 2009.
- [246] Zwyssig, E., Renals, S., and Lincoln, M. Determining the number of speakers in a meeting using microphone array features. In 2012 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing, pages 4765–4768, 2012.



Table A.1 lists the data sets used in the proposed multi-scale visualization environment, including the following features: visualization properties, technique, degradation process feature, source of evidence, user profile and spatial scale (c.f. Chapter 4). Note that those data sets do not correspond to the same patient, therefore they might be affected with different grades or states of diseases. However, in terms of visualization, they serve for illustration purposes when describing the multi-scale visualization environment.

Data set	Description	Visualization properties	Technique	Degradation process feature	Source of Evidence	User profile	Spatial scale
Histology- AlcianBlue	Articular cartilage slices by using Alcian blue for the staining method	Set of images	Alcian blue histology	Cellular change	Cell dediffer- entiation, hypertrophy	Molecular biologist, Tissue engineer	Micro
Histology- SafraninO	Articular cartilage slices by using Safranin O for the staining method	Set of images	Safranin O histology	Loss of biome- chanical funcion	Disruption of the macro- molecule content	Molecular biologist, Tissue engineer	Micro
Cartilage- Structure	3D reconstruction of volume of interest (VOI) from micro-CT scans of cartilage	Volume	Micro-CT	Loss of biome- chanical function	Swelling, Hy- perhydration, Tissue softening	Molecular biologist, Tissue engineer	Micro
Porosity- Variability	Variation of the fraction of the volume of voids over the total volume along the different layers of the VOI of cartilage	Bar chart	Micro-CT	Loss of biome- chanical function	Swelling, Hy- perhydration, Tissue softening	Molecular biologist, Tissue engineer	Micro
PoreSize- Distribution	Measure of the range of pores in the VOI of cartilage	Bar chart	Micro-CT	Loss of biome- chanical function	Swelling, Hy- perhydration, Tissue softening	Molecular biologist, Tissue engineer	Micro
Nano- indentation- Cartilage	Mechanical properties of cartilage by using the nanoindentation technique	Bar chart	Nano- indentation	Loss of biome- chanical function	Swelling, Hy- perhydration, Tissue softening	Molecular biologist, Tissue engineer	Micro
Cell Viability- Rate	Proportion of damaged cells in the cartilage sample obtained from Live/Dead assays	Pie chart	Live/Dead cell analysis	Cellular change	Cell viability	Molecular biologist, Tissue engineer	Micro
LiveDead- Assay	Images from Live/Dead assays illustrating the cell viability	Raster images	Live/Dead cell analysis	Cellular change	Cell viability	Molecular biologist, Tissue engineer	Micro
PCR	Graph for the analysis of disease development in osteoarthritis research by means of PCR (Polymerase chain reaction) analysis on cartilage	Bar chart	PCR analysis	Cellular change	Anabolic/ Catabolic reactivation	Molecular biologist, Tissue engineer	Micro
Cartilage- Thickness	Femoral cartilage thickness by means of colormaps on the volumetric visualization	Manifold surface mesh with colormap	MRI	MRI evidence	Cartilage thinning, fissure	Radiologist	Medium
MRI	Volumetric visualization of knee joint from MRI scans	Volume	MRI	MRI evidence	Cartilage thinning, fissure	Radiologist	Medium
Knee- Angles	Angles of the knee joint during gait pattern analysis	Line chart	Gait analysis	Alteration in gait pattern	Joint use range of motion	Biomechanical engineer	Macro
Knee- Moments	Moments of the knee joint during gait pattern analysis	Line chart	Gait analysis	Alteration in gait pattern	Joint use range of motion	Biomechanical engineer	Macro
EMG	Electromyography of knee joint related muscles during gait pattern analysis	Line chart	EMG	Alteration in gait pattern	Joint stiffness	Biomechanical engineer	Macro
Helical- Axes	Volumetric visualization of knee joint motion combining kinematical data processed after in vitro studies (c.f. Sec. 5,4,5) and their corresponding CT scans	Video	In vitro knee simulator	Alteration in gait pattern	Joint use range of motion	Biomechanical engineer	Macro
Motion- Similarity	Similarity of knee joint motion sequences after processing the data from in vitro studies (c.f. Sec. 5.4.5)	Scatter plot	In vitro knee simulator	Alteration in gait pattern	Joint use range of motion	Biomechanical engineer	Macro
Gait- Motion	Motion capture video obtained from a 3D optical motion capture system	Video	Gait analysis	Alteration in gait pattern	Joint use range of motion	Biomechanical engineer	Macro

Table A.1: Multi-scale data sets

B

The author of this thesis has been co-author of the following publications, listed in chronological order. This annex is intended to summarize the contributions of the author in those scientific works.

• Millán Vaquero R., Rzepecki J., Friese K.-I., Wolter F.-E. Visualization and User Interaction Methods for Multiscale Biomedical Data. In: 3D Multiscale Physiological Human. pp. 107-133. Springer. 2014 [152].

This work describes visualization and interaction approaches for the exploration of multi-scale biomedical data. The increasing amounts of data at different scales has the potential to explore complex phenomena in human physiology which spread amongst multiple scales, therefore requiring an analysis of current multi-scale visualization and interaction methods. In this publication, the author of this thesis focuses on the visualization part. The author discusses the current complexity of representing biomedical data, and describes current techniques and proposes alternatives for multi-scale visualization.

• Agibetov, A., Millán Vaquero R., Friese, K.-I., Patanè, G., Spagnuolo, M., Wolter, F.-E. Integrated Visualization and Analysis of a Multiscale Biomedical Knowledge Space. In EuroVis Workshop on Visual Analytics pp. 25-29. The Eurographics Association. 2014 [35].

This work proposes a visualization prototype to integrate a multiscale biomedical data set into the same view, taking advantage of the biomedical knowledge about the data and their connections formalized in an ontology. In this publication, the author of this thesis focuses on the design of a specific integrated multi-scale visualization approach. The author identifies properties for the classification of multi-scale biomedical data, to be encoded into the ontology. This information allows for obtaining visual parameters and semantic means to configure by the author the visualization environment, as exemplified within a scenario dealing with the exploration of musculoskeletal diseases.

• Rzepecki J., Millán Vaquero R., Vais A., Friese K.-I., Wolter F.-E. Multimodal Approach for Natural Biomedical Multi-scale Exploration. In Advances in Visual Computing: 10th International Symposium on Visual Computing. pp. 620-631. Springer. 2014. [192].

This paper presents an approach for the exploration of multi-scale biomedical data, combining the proposed visualization with hand and haptic interaction. In this publication, the author of this thesis focuses on the concrete realization of the visualization environment, based on a multilayered workspace and a flexible combination of scientific and information visualization, including an evaluation yielding a preliminary analysis of the introduced features.

Millán Vaquero R., Agibetov A., Rzepecki J., Ondrésik M., Vais A. Oliveira, J.M., Patanè G., Friese K.-I., Reis R.L., Spagnuolo M., Wolter F.-E. A semantically adaptable integrated visualization and natural exploration of multi-scale biomedical data, 12th International Conference BioMedical Visualization MediVis 2015. pp. 543-552. IEEE. 2015 [150].

This paper is a summary of the common efforts from visualization, interaction and knowledge formalization in order to improve the exploration of multi-scale biomedical data. In this publication, the author of this thesis focuses on the visualization part, analyzing the use of the visualization environment within an application scenario of a biologist investigating a pathology that requires the analysis of knee joint data from multiples scales. In particular the author compares the traditional way of visualizing data related to the degradation of articular cartilage during osteoarthritis with the one deduced from the proposed methodology.

• Millán Vaquero R., Lynch S., Fleischer B., Rzepecki J., Friese K.-I., Hurschler C., Wolter F.-E. Enhanced visualization of knee joint functional articulation based on helical axis method. Proceedings Bildverarbeitung für die Medizin 2015. pp. 449-454. IEEE. 2015 [151].

This work focuses on the visualization of knee joint data at behavioral scale, concretely on the visualization of knee joint motion described in terms of helical axes. In this publication, the author of this thesis provides an enhanced intra-scale visualization for a realistic motion representation of the knee joint functional articulation. Basing on finite helical axis data obtained from biomechanical experiments, the visualization has been developed in order to especially facilitate the location of functional flexion axes in terms of anatomical bone motion.

 Millán Vaquero R., Vais A., Lynch S., Rzepecki J., Friese K.-I., Hurschler C., Wolter F.-E. Helical axis data visualization and analysis of the knee joint articulation. Journal of Biomechanical Engineering. ASME. DOI:10.1115/1.4034005. 2016 [153].

Following up on the previous publication, this paper provides an extended analysis of helical axis data and several visualization methods for investigating the knee joint articulation. In this publication, the author of this thesis starts with the analysis of kinematical data of flexion-extension motion of the knee joint provided from biomechanical engineers. Processing methods relying on Lie group theory lead to a smooth description of motion sequences, which allow the calculation of instantaneous helical axes for a more accurate data evaluation. The described visualization methods, which include intrascale visualizations and the multi-scale environment, are proposed to

support the analysis of motion sequences of knee joint articulations and their related data.

C

- Name: Ricardo Manuel Millán Vaquero
- Geburtsdatum: 23. Oktober 1986
- **Geburtsort:** Vigo (Galicien, Spanien)
- Staatsangehörigkeit: spanisch

BILDUNGSGANG:

2004 - Abitur am Colegio Salesianos María Auxiliadora Vigo (Spanien)

2007 - BSc. (Ing.Tecn.) Ingenieurwissenschaften für Telekommunikation mit Studienrichtung Bild- und Tonverarbeitung an der Universität Vigo (Spanien)

2011 - MSc. (Ing.) Ingenieurwissenschaften für Telekommunikation mit Studienrichtung Kommunikationstechnik an der Universität Vigo (Spanien)

BERUFLICHER WERDEGANG:

2008-2010 - Wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter, Universität Vigo (Spanien) Nationales Projekt CENIT BAIP2020

2010-2011 - Aufenthalt an der Universität Siena (Italien) Masterarbeit am Dipartimento di Ingegneria dell'Informazione

2012 - Wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter, Universität Vigo (Spanien) Spin-off HCTECH

2012-2016 - Wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter und Doktorand, Leibniz Universität Hannover (Deutschland) *EU Projekt MultiScaleHuman*

PREISE:

2008 - Preis der Universität Vigo als bester Absolvent in BSc. Ingenieurwissenschaften für Telekommunikation

2008 - Spezialpreis des spanischen Bildungsministeriums für die akademische Leistung

2012 - Preis der Region Galicien als bester Absolvent in MSc. Ingenieurwissenschaften für Telekommunikation